

## Long-Term Ecological Research at the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest (LTER7)

proposal to the National Science Foundation March 2014















### **Table of Contents**

Project Summary	
1.0 Results from Prior Support	1
2.0 Proposed research	5
2.1 LTER7 Goals	7
2.2 General Approach	10
2.3 Long-Term Studies: Measurements, Experiments, Models, and Analyses	10
Climate	10
Hydrology	11
Natural disturbance	12
Vegetation dynamics	12
Streams	13
Biodiversity, phenology, and trophic networks	13
Carbon and nutrient dynamics	14
2.4 New empirical studies, analyses, and short-term mechanistic experiments	14
Airshed:Exchange of heat and carbon in mountainous terrain	14
Soil-Water Vegetation: The role of sub-watershed scale topography and hydrologic connectivity	15
Trophic dynamics in relation to climate and land-use in a mountain ecosystem	16
Trophic and Ecosystem Responses to Contractions of Stream Networks	18
Social Science: Forest governance, social networks, and landscape dynamics in the Western Cascades	19
Conservation Ethics: Ecology, forestry, and argument analysis in the Pacific Northwest	t20
2.5 Cross-Site Collaborations	21
2.6 Synthesis	22
3.0 Related Research Projects	23
4.0 Education and Outreach Activities	24
Schoolyard LTER (sLTER)	24
LTER Schoolyard Series Book	24
Research Experience for Undergraduates (REU)	24
Graduate Students	25
Public Outreach	25
Tours and site programs	25

Media interactions	25
Arts and Humanities	25
Citizen Science and Extension	25
Applications to policy and management	25
Figures and Tables	27
5.0 Facilities, Equipment, and Other Resources for the Andrews Forest LTER	
Research Area	34
Partnerships and Support	34
Facilities	35
The Andrews Forest Headquarters Facilities	35
Laboratories	35
Information Acquisition and Management	
Other Resources	37
Instrumented Sites and Long-Term Study Plots	
Additional Research that leverages LTER Funding	
6.0 Data Management Plan	40
Introduction	40
Objectives	40
Information Management System	40
Cyberinfrastructure:	41
Integration of Information Management with Site Science:	42
Data Access Policy:	42
Downloads:	43
Information Management Resources	43
LTER Network-Level Participation:	44
Milestones and deliverable products for LTER 7:	44
7.0 Project Management Plan	45
Institutional Partnership	45
Research Community	45
Management Philosophy	45
Program Administration	45
Funding and Research Decisions	45
Advisory Groups	46
Communications	46
Integrating Non-LTER Scientists into Research Activities	46

Recruitment of New Scientists to the Project	46
Efforts to Increase Diversity Among Site Participants	46
Continuity of Leadership and Succession Planning	47
References Cited	48
Personnel	66
Signatory PIs	66
Senior Personnel	66
Supplementary Documentation: Publications from LTER6	69
Supplementary Documentation: Data Sets Table	66

#### **PROJECT SUMMARY**

<u>Overview.</u> The Andrews Forest LTER program integrates research, outreach and education, and research-management partnerships to investigate forest and stream ecosystems in the Pacific Northwest. Climate change forecasts in the Pacific Northwest region portend drought, decreased snow packs, and increased wildfire. Observed rates of climate change in the Pacific Northwest, however, vary with season and location, posing major challenges for predicting ecosystem response. Land-use change, dictated by forest governance systems under pressure to provide timber, restore ecological processes, maintain biodiversity, and facilitate adaptation of forests to climate change, is an additional variable complicating efforts to understand ecosystem dynamics. The overall goal of Andrews Forest LTER7 (2014-2020) is to apply our strengths in long-term research, outreach and education, and research-management partnerships to characterize the mechanisms that determine how forested mountain ecosystems respond to changes in climate, land-use, and their interactions.

<u>Intellectual Merit.</u> In LTER7 we re-examine our guiding central question and conceptual framework using the lens of "connectivity," focusing on how intermittent, spatially variable flows of air, water, nutrients, organisms, and information may mitigate or accentuate the expression of regional and global climate change and land-use in mountain ecosystems. We will link new studies and modeling efforts to long-term measurements, spanning processes ranging from individual organisms and diel cycles to regional, multi-decadal dynamics of climate, hydrology, and vegetation in the temperate conifer forest biome. We will also continue leadership of cross-site synthesis work, especially in areas of climate, hydrology, stream chemistry, vegetation, arts and humanities, and LTER Network level information management.

In LTER7 we focus on the central question: **How do climate, natural disturbance, and land use as controlled by forest governance interact with biodiversity, hydrology, and carbon and nutrient dynamics**? Consideration of forest governance is essential for the understanding of long-term ecosystem dynamics, because we recognize that a truly mechanistic understanding of land use and its impacts on the ecosystem, and how those impacts feedback into the decision-making process, is not possible without a better understanding of how humans and institutions make decisions affecting forest governance. Synthesis efforts in LTER7 include analysis of the Andrews Forest LTER as part of a social-ecological system, mapping changes in science-policy-management networks, and conservation ethics-based analyses of arguments about forest policy premised on Andrews Forest science.

Broader impacts. Many aspects of LTER7 will have broader social impacts. We will continue the strong tradition of fostering public engagement with science and technology through our research-management partnership with regional and national forest policymakers. We will continue to produce policy-relevant information about the role of science in society by engaging the public, resource managers, and policymakers in studies of changing social networks influencing forest landscapes and conservation ethics analyses of arguments used in forest governance. Our arts and humanities program aims to enhance public literacy about science, to interpret and convey the value of long-term ecological research, and to share the beauty and magnificence of our ecosystem with a wider audience to inspire awe, wonder, and action to improve the well being of individuals in society. We will continue education and outreach and STEM development for K-12, undergraduate, and graduate students and teachers as well as the public, with explicit emphasis on enhancing participation of women, people with disabilities, and under-represented minorities to be trained as part of a globally competitive STEM workforce. We will continue to develop and enhance the infrastructure for science and education, especially efforts to increase digital and virtual access to the Andrews Forest through continued information management, a cyber-networked forest, and social media outlets. We will continue to lead partnerships and cross-site efforts within and beyond the LTER Network that interpret, synthesize, and disseminate the findings of long-term ecological research to help the public and policymakers understand how the ecosystems on which humans depend are functioning at broad temporal and spatial scales.

#### **1.0 RESULTS FROM PRIOR SUPPORT**

The Andrews Forest LTER program is a center for mountain forest and stream ecosystem research in the Pacific Northwest. We collaborate with dozens of university and federal scientists, students, and managers to support ecosystem science, education, natural resource management, and the arts and humanities. The program has its roots in the establishment of the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest (Fig. 1) (hereafter referred to as the Andrews Forest) in 1948 by the US Forest Service. In the early decades, Forest Service researchers focused on timber and watershed management. Beginning in 1969, university scientists became active at the site and research began to focus on forest ecosystems, especially old-growth forests and streams. The Andrews Forest became a charter member of the LTER program in 1980, and long-term measurement programs continued on experimental sites and watersheds with a focus on questions about climate, streamflow, water quality, vegetation succession, biogeochemical cycling, and effects of forest management (Fig. 2). For over 65 years the Andrews Forest has served as a major source of discovery about the pattern, dynamics, and functions of mountain forest and stream ecosystems (Fig. 3).

Our understanding of the ecosystem is the product of six LTER cycles. **LTER1–2** focused on establishing long-term measurements and understanding fundamental ecosystem structure and processes related to old-growth forests, streams, and effects of logging on watersheds. Since LTER3, research has been guided by a central question: *How do land-use, natural disturbances, and climate change affect three key ecosystem properties: carbon and nutrient dynamics, biodiversity, and hydrology?* Subsequent LTER cycles have continued to examine this question and have adopted specific scientific themes: **LTER3**— process-based understanding of landscape dynamics; **LTER4**—effects of early succession on ecosystem dynamics and the impact of species attributes on ecosystem dynamics; and **LTER5**—synchronous temporal behaviors and drivers of biogeochemical cycling in small watersheds.

LTER6 focused on the theme of complex topography and its influence on interactions between drivers and ecosystem responders. Major findings include: 1) flows of air and water are episodically coupled to, and decoupled from, regional patterns; 2) ecosystem processes and biodiversity in upper elevations were expected to be most sensitive to climate change, but interactions of topography and atmospheric dynamics limit generalizations about elevational effects; 3) tree mortality in mature and old-growth forests is increasing, possibly as a result of climate change, but the mechanisms are not well understood; 4) leaf and insect emergence varied by >40 days between years and from low to high elevation within a year, and birds seek sites of low temperature variability; 5) recent policy and land-use change may be leading to decreases in biodiversity associated with meadows and early successional habitats; 6) disturbance and land-use history have a lasting imprint on carbon and hydrology that may be overriding climate change and topographic controls; 7) social forces have strongly limited use of ecologically-based forest practices, and a decision point for determining the future of forestry on federal lands appears imminent, setting the stage for new applications of Andrews Forest ecological and social science. Here we briefly describe the key findings of component studies and their links to LTER7 plans. Our 10 most significant products are listed once in **bold**.

**CLIMATE**. In LTER6 we hypothesized that systematic cold-air pooling would dampen or obscure the expression of regional climate change in mountain landscapes. Topographic position (e.g., sheltered valley, exposed ridge) can be as important as elevation in determining local climate variability, because cold-air pools forming in small valleys and depressions can effectively decouple microclimates from the free atmosphere for prolonged periods during some portions of the year, and projected future changes in regional circulation patterns could increase the frequency of conditions promoting cold-air pooling (**Daly et al. 2010**). Changes in the elevation of the rain/snow threshold would further increase sensitivity of high-elevation ridges to future climate change. Contrary to our hypothesis we found that valleys experiencing transient cold-air pools, and transient cold-air pools near the rain/snow threshold, may be particularly sensitive to future climate change (Pepin et al. 2011, Daly et al. 2012). The effectiveness of valleys in containing cold-air drainage and pools likely varies with season and time of day (Daly et al. 2012). For example, the Lookout Creek drainage experienced a coherent spring warming signal and earlier springs from 1958 to 2009 in the valley, consistent with the expected behavior of transient spring compared to persistent winter cold-air pools (**Jones et al. 2012**), but the signals are variable throughout other parts of the forest and the exact mechanisms remain unknown. To better understand these results, in LTER7 we

will examine flows of air and moisture governing spatial and temporal patterns of air temperature and their sensitivity to climate change.

**DISTURBANCE AND LAND-USE**. The Cascade Mountains have high spatial variation in microclimate and fuel moisture, leading to variable fire regimes and multiple pathways of forest development strongly influenced by topography (Tepley 2010). Multiple successional pathways can lead to the development of old-growth (**Tepley et al. 2013**), a finding that has major implications for current stand-development models, and conservation and restoration of old-growth, previously based on a single-pathway model. Current forest harvest practices and plans will result in decreasing area of early successional forest (Spies and Duncan 2009). Land-use, such as clear-cut harvesting, has multi-decade influences on hydrology (Jones et al. 2009, Creed et al. 2011): including increased magnitude of rain-on-snow flooding (Perkins and Jones 2008, Jones and Perkins 2010), on stream habitat by reducing stocks and inputs of large wood in streams (Czarnomski et al. 2008), and on forest understory diversity and structure (Dovčiak and Halpern 2010, **Halpern and Lutz 2013**). In LTER7 we will explore how land-use may override or obscure influences of climate on ecosystem processes and biodiversity.

**HyDROLOGY.** Using continuous discharge data from 1952 to present, we showed that spring streamflow in old-growth reference watersheds at the Andrews Forest has declined, especially at high elevation where seasonal snowpacks contribute to spring runoff (Moore 2010, Jones et al. 2012), although the magnitude and directionality of trends can depend on record length (Argerich et al. 2013). Models predict that snowpack between the elevations of 1000 and 1800 m (mid- to upper-elevations) is most sensitive to climate warming (Mazurkiewicz et al. 2008, Nolin 2012, **Sproles et al. 2013**), and seasonal snowpack above 1000 m has declined by 30 to 50% since 1950 (Fig. 2). Studies of hydrologic connectivity between hillslopes, vegetation, and streams demonstrated ephemeral links between soil moisture and transpiration (Moore et al. 2011b, 2011a). An innovative summer-long sprinkling experiment using isotopic tracers showed that water used by plants in the summer is decoupled from water that drains to streams (Barnard 2009, Barnard et al. 2010, **Brooks et al. 2010**), and deep seepage in permeable bedrock influences the precipitation-runoff threshold (Graham et al. 2010a, 2010b, Graham and McDonnell 2010). These findings motivate us to measure and model soil-water balances in small watersheds in LTER7.

**VEGETATION DYNAMICS.** Climate change may be contributing to increased tree mortality as shown by a two-fold increase in the proportion of stems dying annually in old-growth forests across the western US (**van Mantgem et al. 2009**). The mechanisms responsible for this increased mortality are not understood. Analysis of long-term data revealed that individual tree growth continuously increased with tree size (Stephenson et al. 2014), contradicting the long-held theory that the rate of individual tree biomass accumulation decreases with age. Studies of succession in forest plantations indicate that, contrary to successional theory, canopy closure exerted weak influences on understory dynamics (Halpern and Lutz 2013), and canopy gaps had long lasting influences on forest growth and mortality (Seidl et al. 2012a, Gray et al. 2012). Mountain ecosystems have high variation in carbon stocks, which is only partially controlled by topography (Seidl et al. 2012a) and soil characteristics (Griffiths et al. 2009). These findings provide further evidence that responses to climate and land-use are variable in space and time, often not predictable from current theories, and require a deeper understanding of interactions between biophysical processes, land-use, and mountainous terrain.

**CARBON AND NUTRIENT DYNAMICS.** We used an interdisciplinary approach in a small watershed (WS1) to quantify carbon stocks and fluxes in air, vegetation, soils, and streams. We developed a mass balance approach to measure net ecosystem exchange of carbon (NEE), respiration, and evapotranspiration (ET) at the scale of the WS1 basin at an hourly resolution (Thomas et al. in review) (Fig. 4) and showed that disturbance, soils, and topography had cascading influences on primary productivity (Peterson 2012). We quantified aquatic carbon stocks and the proportion of the fluxes derived from terrestrial vs. in-stream production (Argerich et al. in review). Carbon flux towers that extend above the forest canopy allowed us to examine airflows and carbon exchanges in the airshed. Carbon isotopes were used to quantify soil respiration rates (Phillips et al. 2010, Kayler et al. 2010), watershed scale transpiration (Pypker et al. 2009), and sediment export (Smith 2013). Long-term trends in precipitation chemistry showed declining inputs throughout the US and Europe—even at the Andrews Forest, where inputs of nutrients via precipitation are orders of magnitude lower than sites in the eastern US or Europe (Lajtha and Jones 2013). Long-term trends in stream nitrate and ammonium generally declined at the Andrews Forest, while

at other sites (e.g., Hubbard Brook) trends varied from positive to negative depending on the period (Argerich et al. 2013). In LTER7 we plan additional cross-site analyses to examine whether stream chemistry responses have similar magnitude and duration to natural versus anthropogenic disturbances.

**STREAM ECOLOGY.** Trends in stream temperature at the Andrews Forest and throughout the Pacific Northwest were mixed from the 1950s, and flat since the 1990s (Arismendi et al. 2012, 2013a, 2013b); contrary to expectations that regional warming of air temperature would consistently increase stream temperature. Longer water flow paths and residence times diminish stream temperature diurnal fluctuations in small watersheds (Roth 2010) and increase respiration (González-Pinzón et al. 2013). Tracer studies in nine Oregon streams showed unexpectedly high uptake of nitrate by fine benthic detritus and long transport distances for nitrate in forested streams (**Sobota et al. 2012**). Thirty years of data revealed that the abundance of young-of-the-year trout dramatically increased after major floods (**Dodds et al. 2012**), but not after moderate floods. Although prior forest harvest was shown to impact fish and salamander populations, differences were not detectable after 30 years. In LTER7 we will examine how year-to-year interactions of climate, land-use, and disturbance influence the distribution of vertebrates and food resources at the upper ends of stream networks (~80% of drainage length). We also expand research on the influence of water travel times on stream temperature to explore biogeochemical responses to changing water flow paths related to climate change and drought.

BIODIVERSITY. Biodiversity trends of populations and communities differed among taxa. Demographic studies of northern spotted owls by cooperators revealed continuing decline in populations despite cessation of clearcutting on USFS lands in 1990 (Forsman et al. 2011). Spatial patterns of owl prev require owls to occupy larger territories at higher elevations than at lower elevations (Smoluk 2011). Species diversity and biomass of nocturnal moths is related to both vegetation structure and composition (Highland 2011, Highland et al. 2013). Plant-pollinator network structure is nested and related to meadow size and connectivity (Pfeiffer 2012). Pre-logging vegetation influences forest plant diversity for at least 50 years after clearcutting and hot prescribed fire (Halpern and Lutz 2013). Facilitation among woody species promoted tree invasion causing rapid contraction in the size of montane meadows (Rice 2009, Halpern et al. 2010, Rice et al. 2012)-a process that is related to changing climate, land-use, and disturbance regimes (Zald et al. 2012). Five years of phenology studies from LTER6 (Fig. 5) revealed: 1) high plasticity in understory plant budbreak (>40 day range across years examined), 2) sensitivity of stream insect emergence to degree day accumulation of stream temperature (Li et al. 2011), and 3) migratory bird species selection of sites with stable temperature regimes during the breeding season (Fig. 6). During LTER7 phenology studies will focus on mechanisms that may explain varied responses across space, time, and taxa.

**EVALUATING FUTURE SCENARIOS.** We used three simulation models to evaluate potential effects of land use, natural disturbance, and climate change. LandCarb simulations demonstrated that reduced harvests are increasing forest carbon stores on federal lands (Krankina et al. 2012). LandCarb also revealed that initial conditions strongly influence whether biofuels harvests will be carbon positive, negative, or neutral (Mitchell et al. 2012). iLand simulations revealed that environmental factors explained roughly one-half of the spatial variation in forest carbon stores assessed from LiDAR—with the remaining variability attributable to stand dynamics and composition (Seidl et al. 2012b). VELMA, an ecohydrological model (Fig. 7) was developed, and simulations quantified streamflow response to varying harvest distance from the stream and forest growth response to harvest vs. fire (Abdelnour et al. 2011, 2013). In LTER7 we extend modeling to examine how forest harvest and climate change will influence future ecosystem processes.

**HUMAN SYSTEM.** Our longstanding interest in interactions between forest processes and policy makers, managers, and society has focused on how land use activities (e.g. forest management) and associated science are perceived. Evidence suggests that the public has limited understanding of natural disturbance regimes, and that the role of science in policy and management decisions is viewed differently by different stakeholder groups (Steel et al. 2009). There is limited public trust of managers to use scientific knowledge to implement new approaches to forest management (Olsen et al. 2012), which may constrain the use of climate change adaptation strategies on federal forests (Spies et al. 2010). In LTER7 we will build on science-society research by studying the role of governance networks in determining the variable roles that Andrews Forest ecological science has played in social, policy, and management processes

over the past half century—many of which have brought sweeping changes to federal forest land management (Spies and Duncan 2009) (Fig. 8).

**TECHNOLOGICAL INVESTMENTS ENABLING NEW RESEARCH.** We enhanced the sensor network by adding new capabilities (e.g., carbon isotope analyzers, sonic anemometers, net radiometers, acoustic profilers), expanded existing measurement networks (e.g., temperature), and developed a tower-based wireless communication infrastructure providing high-speed connectivity from the headquarters' cyber-infrastructure to ca. 80% of the Andrews Forest. This infrastructure enables near real-time streaming of large data volumes—critical to many of the results reported here and to the proposed work in LTER7. Through direct links to networked cameras and sensors, researchers have been able to remotely monitor environmental and biotic dynamics across the site year round, thereby improving the capacity to understand processes operating at multiple timescales. In the digital forest project we used LiDAR coverage for the entire Andrews Forest to develop bare-earth models at high spatial resolution (1 m), allowing us to characterize fine-scale topography and stream networks, and to observe previously undetected landslides. We also used LiDAR to develop high-resolution maps of vegetation structure and biomass, enabling us to quantify how biomass varies in relation to topography, disturbance history, and forest structure (Seidl et al. 2012b). These data improve our ability to perceive connections between vegetation, microclimate, and geomorphology.

**OUTREACH AND EDUCATION.** On average >1500 people participate annually in classes, research, tours, and conferences at the Andrews Forest. The Schoolyard LTER involved >60 K-12 teachers in phenology and carbon research who, in turn, reach over 6,000 K-12 students annually. The Canopy Connections program introduces underprivileged middle school students to forest ecology by exploring natural history lessons through tree climbing into the canopy of old-growth trees. We published a unique illustrated children's book about forest and stream phenology called *Ellie's Log: Exploring the Forest Where the Great Tree Fell* (Li 2013). This project included a Teacher's Guide and a website (*ellieslog.org*).

**ARTS AND HUMANITIES.** The Long-Term Ecological Reflections program hosted >50 authors and artists and established a website (*ecologicalreflections.com*) to profile arts-humanities-science collaborations at >20 sites, including many LTER sites. With BNZ, NTL, and HFR, we co-led four network workshops for arts and humanities, and organized art exhibits at ESA and NSF in 2012 and 2013. In LTER7 we will more formally assess the perceived value of, and challenges to, these efforts.

**CROSS-SITE SYNTHESIS.** Synthesis activities are diverse and include conceptual syntheses of topics with international importance, networking among networks (USFS, ILTER, Canadian, European), primary analysis of multisite experiments, and database development. We have authored or coauthored 10 major syntheses (3 in the 2012 LTER special issue of BioScience), including disturbance across sites (Peters et al. 2011), the roles of LTERs in informing policy and management (Driscoll et al. 2012), scenario analysis to promote synthesis and integration (Thompson et al. 2012), long-term intersite stream ecology (Dodds et al. 2012), climate change and hydrologic responses (Creed et al. in press, 2011, National Research Council 2008, Jones et al. 2009, 2012), causes and consequences of trends in atmospheric deposition at LTER and NADP sites and in Europe (Lajtha and Jones 2013), stream chemistry trends at nine Experimental Forests (Argerich et al. 2013), the intersite LIDET experiment (Harmon 2009), science of carbon and forests (Ryan et al. 2010), and high-profile discoveries about tree mortality and growth (van Mantgem et al. 2009, Stephenson et al. 2014). We also have participated in cross-site measurement programs, such as NutNet (Firn et al. 2011, Adler et al. 2011, Lind et al. 2013, O'Halloran et al. 2013, Hautier et al. 2014, Borer et al. 2014) and the Lotic Intersite Nitrogen Experiment (LINX) (Hall et al. 2009, Mulholland et al. 2009, Bernot et al. 2010). We have been a leader in database development, including the StreamChem database with extensive metadata, the LINX data and metadata archival project, and initial efforts to develop a cross-site vegetation database.

**SUMMARY OF LTER6.** In LTER6 we showed that ecosystem processes respond to flows of air, moisture, organisms, information, and nutrients that are transiently connected both within and beyond the boundaries of the Andrews Forest. Moreover, Andrews Forest science affects social processes and thus affects the ecosystems that we study. Hence, LTER7 focuses on how physical, biological, and social processes are connected, and how these connections change over multiples scales of space and time.

#### 2.0 PROPOSED RESEARCH

The overall goal of Andrews Forest LTER7 (2014-2020) is to apply our strengths in long-term research, outreach and education, and research-management partnerships to characterize the mechanisms that determine how forested mountain ecosystems respond to changes in climate, land-use, and their interactions.

The world's ecosystems are responding to a changing global climate in many ways: from global shifts in species distributions, to altered timing of critical spring phenological events in North America, to earlier snowmelt and increase in the number and severity of wildfires in the western United States (IPCC 2013). Climate change forecasts in the Pacific Northwest region are consistent with these trends (Mote and Salathé Jr. 2010, Rogers et al. 2011, Hamlet 2011), but observed rates of climate change vary with season and location within the region, especially in the mountains (Abatzoglou et al. 2013). Compounding the potential effects of a changing climate, forest governance systems in the Pacific Northwest are under growing pressure to balance demands to provide timber, restore ecological processes, maintain diversity, and facilitate adaptation of forests to climate change. Although recent regional forest management policies and plans were intended to be long-term and adaptive, it is not clear how successful they will be under climate change, or how adaptive they can be in a dynamic biophysical and social environment characterized by high levels of uncertainty and mistrust of public land managers by some segments of society (Spies et al. 2010).

These observations pose major challenges for understanding and predicting change in forested mountain landscapes (Dettinger 2014), which represent 23% of the Earth's forest cover (United Nations 2011). Long-term research at the Andrews Forest addresses these challenges, focusing on ecosystem responses to climate change and land use change, and factors that condition those responses. Given the long history of Andrews Forest science influencing forest managers' decision making, we also focus on the variable role of ecosystem science in forest governance.

The **conceptual framework** for LTER7 reflects these foci by incorporating more explicit and mechanistic links between mountain ecosystems and the human component of land-use in our system. We also use *connectivity* as a conceptual device to represent networks and predict processes in physical, biological, and social systems.

We employ a central question to guide our larger LTER research program, and in each LTER cycle we select a lens or theme to re-examine the central question and we frame research around a series of goals that respond to current ecological and societal needs (Fig. 9). In LTER7 we will adopt a more socialecological framing (sensu Walker et al. (2012), International Council for Science (2010), Committee on Sustainability (2013), National Research Council (2010), Long-Term Ecological Research Program (2007), and others), because we recognize that forest ecosystem processes are intimately connected to how and why humans, through governance networks, make decisions about land-use. Moreover, we adopt this social-ecological framing because we recognize that without a better understanding of how humans make decisions affecting forest governance, a truly mechanistic understanding of land use and its impacts, and how those impacts feedback into the decision-making process, is not possible. As a result, the central guestion for LTER7 is How do climate, natural disturbance, and land use as controlled by forest governance interact with biodiversity, hydrology, and carbon and nutrient dynamics? (Fig. 9). This is a slight rephrasing of the central question guiding our research since LTER3: How do land-use, natural disturbances, and climate change affect three key ecosystem properties: carbon and nutrient dynamics, biodiversity, and hydrology? As such, our conceptual framework has both continuity and flexibility.

In LTER7 our lens is the concept of connectivity: we aim to understand the causes and consequences of connectivity as they relate to ecosystem processes in forested mountain landscapes. Connectivity is a focus of landscape ecology (Bélisle 2005), stream ecology (Miller et al. 2011, Finn and Monroe 2013), climate science (Krinner et al. 2005), and a measure of landscape structure (Peters et al. 2008), specifically the degree to which the landscape facilitates or impedes movement among resource patches

(Taylor et al. 1993). Connectivity refers to the movement (or flow) of cohesive "units" (or "packets") from one place to another; these units can be in the form of matter and energy (e.g., organisms, nutrients, air, and water) or information (e.g., data sets, scientific facts and value statements). For us, connectivity is a way to represent networks and predict complex, adaptive behavior of linked physical, biological, and social systems. We conceptualize connectivity as flows: flows of matter, energy, and information within the system (Fig. 10). Connectivity allows us to conceptualize changes within the system due to exogenous forces such as a changing climate and land-use practices, and to understand how the system responds and might respond in the future.

We believe that understanding how connectivity changes in both space and time will lead to major advances in the ability to predict how the Andrews Forest (and other mountain systems) will respond to climate change and land-use at the exact time when demand for such research is high (Dettinger 2014). Previous research indicates that connections controlling system behavior and their strength vary in space and time, over multiple scales. Concurrent changes in the spatial and temporal scales at which processes in mountain landscapes facilitate or impede the exchange of organisms, energy, material, and information among landscape elements make it possible for systems to behave in seemingly erratic ways, which seems to match our observations. For example, measurement of carbon concentrations at flux towers appears connected to atmospheric inversions, which depend on local and regional air mass behavior, that in turn feed back to determine how net primary productivity (NPP) changes among trees of different ages, in different parts of the Andrews Forest mountain landscape, among years. Thus, forest NPP does not respond consistently to annual variations in climate (Woolley et al. in review): in most years there seems to be little common climate signal among the sites examined, while in other years there seems to be a common response.

Changing connectivity may provide explanations for other recent findings from long-term research in the steep slopes, tall, old forests, and clear streams of the Andrews Forest landscape. Airflows (e.g., cold-air pooling) episodically decouple portions of mountain landscapes from the free atmosphere, producing temperature anomalies (Daly et al. 2010, Pepin et al. 2011), and possibly contributing to microtopographic climate refuges. These processes may explain the surprising lack of consistent increase in air temperature we have observed under old-growth forest canopies over the past thirty years, and the seasonal and spatial variability in climate and streamflow trends (Jones et al. 2012, Abatzoglou et al. 2013). Changes in connectivity to Pacific Ocean air masses that bring precipitation to the region may also contribute an unanticipated twist to climate dynamics at our site (Luce et al. 2013). Progressive loss of connectivity among montane meadows, which harbor unique plant and animal species in the Central Cascades, jeopardizes plant-pollinator networks and may produce nonlinear responses of biodiversity to incremental landscape change (Halpern et al. 2010, Pfeiffer 2012). The shift from a top-down network of decision-making in federal forest management to a dispersed network of environmental groups (Spies and Duncan 2009) is fundamentally altering how federal forests are managed.

Long-term research at the Andrews Forest addresses these challenges, focusing on climate change and ecosystem responses in mountain landscapes, and the role of ecosystem science in forest governance. Continued long-term climate research will help Andrews Forest scientists and the larger climate community to disentangle several causes of long-term temporal variability in climate and their consequences for hydrology, ecosystem processes, and biotic communities. A major novel hypothesis for climate change in the region asserts that increasing high-pressure systems have exacerbated late summer drought by reducing orographic enhancement of precipitation and winter snowpack, but this signal (a 15% decrease in precipitation over 50 years) has been missed by the observational network in the Pacific Northwest, where high-elevation long-term measurements of climate and streamflow are rare (Luce et al. 2013, Dettinger 2014). By continuing our analysis of the Andrews Forest's long-term, mountain-based networks of climate and streamflow, which were not included in these published studies, we are uniquely poised to test these and other competing hypothesized mechanisms for regional climate change. Other work suggests that fine-grained thermal variability in mountain ecosystems may contribute to "spatial buffering" of species response to climate change (Lenoir et al. 2013). Long-term studies of plants, insects, fish, birds, and other species at the Andrews Forest, combined with understanding of spatially variable phenology, are crucial for testing the hypothesis that mountain ecosystems are "buffered" (i.e., disconnected) from climate change.

The Andrews Forest is a 64 km<sup>2</sup> area and fifth-order drainage basin spanning 400 to over 1600 m elevation on the west slope of the Cascade Range. Oregon. The Andrews Forest is contained within the Willamette National Forest, and its stream, Lookout Creek, drains to the Willamette River basin. The site lies within the temperate wet forest biome, and is dominated by old-growth Douglas fir and western hemlock forests (Fig. 1). The Andrews Forest program has a 65-year history of research in a continually evolving context of changes in the environment, in science, and in society (Fig. 3). Basic science on oldgrowth forests in the 1970s and 1980s set the stage for a 1990s shift in federal forest policy from conversion to conservation of old-growth forests, and Andrews Forest research continues to guide restoration efforts and assessment of effects of environmental change. Research on the northern spotted owl in the Andrews Forest in the mid-1970s, led to the discovery of owl avoidance of clear-cuts, contributed to the concept of forest fragmentation and the emerging field of landscape ecology, and laid the groundwork for the cessation of old-growth logging on federal lands. Research on forest-stream interactions since the 1970s has contributed a series of key discoveries-role of large wood input. nitrogen movement between streams and forests, hyporheic influences on stream temperature and nutrients—leading to riparian management guidelines and regional aguatic strategies. Fundamental research starting in the 1970s demonstrated roles of large wood in forests and streams for ecosystem processes and community structure and was adopted to guide wildlife and fisheries management and policy. This work continues in the current context of carbon sequestration and net primary productivity response to climate variability. Work starting in the 1960s revealed influences of forest harvest and roads on landslides, debris flows, and flooding; and has continued to examine implications for disturbance cascades and invasion of non-native plants along roads and stream networks, contributing to federal roadless area policy and court battles about road runoff to streams.

Our long-term studies function as threads upon which we can string the beads of a succession of ideas and shorter-term studies (Fig. 3). In each successive LTER cycle, science questions emerge from longterm experiments and measurements as we evaluate them in a changing context, leading us to ask new questions, which in turn lead to new science discoveries. LTER7 continues this fundamental approach. Consistent with current major challenges in science and society, in LTER7 we will use a social-ecological conceptual framework and the concept of connectivity to describe and quantify mechanisms that determine how forested mountain ecosystems respond to changes in climate and land-use and how those responses shape the future. We organize LTER7 research around the following goals:

#### 2.1 LTER7 Goals

### Goal I: To understand the patterns, driving processes, and dynamics of atmospheric and hydrologic connectivity in mountainous ecosystems.

The role of dynamic atmospheric and hydrological processes within the heterogeneous topography of mountainous landscapes is gaining increased attention. The movement of air and water in heterogeneous mountain systems follows topographic networks, but may involve lags, thresholds, and nonlinear behavior contributing to ecological surprises. Airflows (e.g., cold-air pooling) episodically decouple portions of mountain landscapes from the free atmosphere, producing temperature anomalies (Daly et al. 2010, Pepin et al. 2011), and possibly contributing to microtopographic climate refuges. To predict how species and ecosystems respond to climate change in mountainous landscapes we must first investigate the fundamental patterns and drivers of flows of air and water.

Long-term studies at the Andrews Forest provide strong evidence for topographic controls on airflow and temperature. However, we have found limited evidence that recent regional warming patterns in the NW US (Abatzoglou et al. 2013) have translated into temperature increases at our site. Only some metrics, for some periods of record, some seasons of the year, on some portions of the landscape show statistically significant trends. What explains this? Are airflows across the mountainous landscape obscuring the expression of regional temperature signals? Projected changes in regional air circulation patterns may increase the importance of cold-air pooling in small sheltered valleys at some times of year, potentially buffering these sites from some effects of warming (Pepin et al. 2011). Yet climate records indicate that larger valleys are experiencing earlier springs now than in previous decades. In LTER7 we will characterize airflow connectivity and its effects on air temperature patterns in this mountain landscape.

Soil moisture is a critical constraint on forest productivity, but dendrochronology studies indicate variable response to moisture indices (Tepley 2010). Future climate models predict a lengthening summer drought in the western US (Dai 2011), yet headwater streamflow at the Andrews Forest and across North America has not responded as predicted to increased atmospheric input of heat (Creed et al. in press, Moore 2010, Jones et al. 2012). One explanation is that plant water use in late summer (drought period) may be decoupled from prior winter precipitation (Brooks et al. 2010) or from soil moisture (Moore et al. 2011b). However, many flow paths and residence times contribute to the "plumbing" of small watersheds (Bond et al. 2002, McGuire et al. 2005, 2007, Wondzell et al. 2007), which may result in substantial small-scale spatial variability in soil moisture conditions during the dry season. In LTER7 we explore water flow connectivity and its effects on soil moisture in this mountain landscape.

### Goal II: To understand the consequences of the patterns, driving processes, and dynamics of biophysical connectivity for ecosystem processes and biotic communities.

Multiple forms of biophysical networks and connectivity in mountain landscapes may diminish or accentuate system response to change. Trophic mismatches may occur when plant phenology responds to climate differently than do consumers, such as insects or birds (Both et al. 2006), or during seasonal extension and contraction of stream networks. Similar decoupling has been found to occur in mutualistic networks—particularly between pollinators and plants (McKinney et al. 2012). In both instances, there is strong potential for phenological mismatches to be exacerbated by landscape fragmentation; restricted movement of higher trophic levels may prevent behavioral adaptations for predators or pollinators to "keep up" with changing plant or insect phenology. For instance, fragmentation of networks of non-forest openings may decouple plants from pollinators (Fig. 10) (Hadley et al. 2014).

Climate change has been linked to drought across the western US, and drought has been linked to increased wildfire (Westerling et al. 2006), decreased net primary production (Zhao and Running 2010), and increased mortality in forests (van Mantgem et al. 2009, Allen et al. 2010). In mountain landscapes, such as the Andrews Forest, topographic shading may decouple water use from carbon fixation (Moore et al. 2011a). The temporal and spatial variability in microclimate that results from the combined effects of dynamic atmospheric processes and subsurface flow paths may result in unexpected patterns of drought and primary productivity response to climate change across mountain landscapes. In LTER7 we will test how topographic position and water availability influence forest productivity.

Climate change is expected to affect the extension and contraction of the stream networks and influence connectivity of habitat for aquatic species at the tips of the network. These hydrologic changes are predicted to reduce the viability of trout populations in headwater streams (Wenger et al. 2011, Penaluna 2013). We are interested in whether the loss of trout, which function as top instream predators in these small streams, will affect headwater ecosystems and food webs (Fig. 11). In LTER7 we test how the presence or absence of fish predators influence trophic dynamics and ecosystem processes.

Species in mountain landscapes display differential phenological sensitivity to environmental variability: some (e.g., plants) are highly sensitive, whereas others (e.g., migratory birds) appear to be less sensitive. Variable phenological responses to climate change could lead to local mismatches between plants (producers) and insects or birds (consumers) (Both et al. 2006), but heterogeneity in mountain landscapes could mitigate this effect (Dobrowski 2011). Forest policies to suppress fire and eliminate clearcutting on federal lands may be leading to declines in biodiversity associated with early successional habitats. Montane meadows have declined drastically in the past half-century. Species dependent on open meadow and early successional habitats, such as rufous hummingbirds, are exhibiting regional population declines (Betts et al. 2010, 2013). Loss of connectivity in networks of non-forest vegetation may alter key trophic interactions, such as pollination. In LTER7 we will examine the implications of timing of trophic connections and landscape connectivity for community structure and function.

## Goal III: To understand connections between forest governance and landscape pattern and process, and the ways in which public perceptions and valuations of federal forest landscapes and LTER science influence those connections.

Since 1948, research at the Andrews Forest has focused on the influence of forest management and other types of land-use on forest landscape pattern and process. In the past, we have largely considered the forest policies that influence land management to be outside our biophysical system of study. Social science research has assessed the roles of scientists as advocates (Lach et al. 2003, Steel et al. 2004, 2006, 2009) and social acceptability of federal forest management in and near the Andrews Forest (Brunson 1993, Ribe 1999, 2005, Ribe and Matteson 2002, Shindler et al. 2002, Mallon 2006, Shindler and Mallon 2011). In LTER7 we synthesize and build on these lines of research by analyzing the role that scientists, managers, policymakers and the public collectively play in larger environmental governance structures, which have strong bearing on landscape outcomes. We define environmental governance as "the set of regulatory processes, mechanisms and organizations through which political actors influence environmental actions and outcomes" as well as "interventions aimed at changing environment-related incentives, knowledge, institutions, decision making and behaviors" (Lemos and Agrawal 2006). We will examine how perceptions of the landscape influence societal expectations, social networks, and even social movements, catalyzing institutional change related to law, policy, management, and science. We will also examine the relationship between the arguments underpinning forest policy (some based on Andrews Forest science) and the validity and soundness of those arguments.

To understand long-term social-ecological change and transition, we will analyze the 65-year history of Andrews Forest research in the light of three distinct "eras" corresponding with US Forest Service management objectives and ideologies about the role of forests in society (Fig. 8): the "stewardship era" ending in 1945, the "timber era" ending in 1990, and the "biodiversity conservation era" which is ongoing. Andrews Forest research has three periods: 1) The 1950s-60s, when the Andrews Forest team conducted research on methods and impacts of production forestry, including logging old-growth and effects on watersheds, (Hays 1999); 2) The 1970s-80s, when basic Andrews Forest studies of old-growth forests, the northern spotted owl, and watershed processes, together with changing public values and attitudes, set the stage for subsequent and dramatic policy reversal in the early 90s (Forsman et al. 1993, Duncan 1999, Hays 1999, 2007, Manfredo et al. 2009) (Fig. 8); and 3) mid-90s to present, when scientists are exploring the ecological implications of recent landscape change (e.g., decline in biologically-rich early successional conditions), and the potential for alternative forest practices ("ecological forestry") to enhance ecological resilience to disturbances and climate change, while providing timber flow to local communities (Spies et al. 2010, Franklin and Johnson 2012). Legislation implementing these practices to increase logging and thus support the economic base of formerly timberdependent communities is currently under review in the US Congress (Fig. 8). We expect that LTER7 research on the changing history of relations between Andrews Forest science, federal forest policymaking, and federal forest management along with the implications of that change for ecosystem function will contribute to theories regarding the role of social networks in governance and landscape transformation, and the functioning of social-ecological systems more broadly.

The Andrews Forest LTER program has long been committed to doing science that is relevant to society: an expression of a moral imperative to engage in ecosystem science linked to challenges in the real world. In LTER7 we think of the connection between our science and society in three ways. First, we strive to understand how the factual foundations we provide through our science have interacted with changing forest policies and change on the ground. Second, we evaluate arguments that utilize our science in policies. Third, we generate stories of connections, wonder, and awe that feed directly into both information about, and a positive valuation of, the world (Nelson and Vucetich in press, Nelson et al. in press).

As we initiate LTER7, the Pacific Northwest region faces future possible drought, declining snow packs, and increased wildfire, as well as changes in forest management on federal lands. All of these are tied to human values, decisions, and actions—and they are all potentially informed by the ecosystem science emerging from the Andrews Forest LTER program.

#### 2.2 General Approach

We will employ a variety of approaches to accomplish our LTER7 goals, combining continued long-term measurements, experiments, and analyses with new empirical studies and short-term mechanistic experiments. We use long-term experiments and measurements (Section 2.3) to generate mechanistic hypotheses that we examine in more detail in short-term studies (Section 2.4). We explore interrelationships among system components through experimentation and analysis of long-term records (e.g., Fig. 2) to gain a holistic understanding of whole-ecosystem and landscape function. We employ the concept of connectivity (Fig. 10) to explain patterns of ecosystem behavior that emerge from long-term records. These efforts will be guided by our proposed central question: How do climate, natural disturbance, and land use as controlled by forest governance interact with biodiversity, hydrology, and carbon and nutrient dynamics? (Fig. 9).

**MODELING AND UNCERTAINTY.** In LTER7 we will use a wide range of models including conceptual, simulation, statistical, and machine learning models, with a principal approach of exploring multiple alternative forms of modeling to estimate model structural uncertainty (e.g., Tepley and Thomann 2012). We also use a variety of approaches including non-parametric models (Elith et al. 2008), dynamic occupancy models (MacKenzie et al. 2002, Kéry 2011), individual based models (Railsback et al. 2009), multi-response permutation procedures (Mielke and Berry 2001), and generalized likelihood uncertainty estimation (Beven and Binley 1992, Beven and Freer 2001, Beven 2006) to test parameter uncertainty and model structure uncertainty.

#### 2.3 Long-Term Studies: Measurements, Experiments, Models, and Analyses

Our long-term studies span all core areas of the LTER program, address the Andrews Forest LTER central question, and provide multi-decade records to test theory and address new questions about ecosystem response to changing biophysical and social contexts. Maintaining long-term records enables discoveries that could not have been anticipated when the studies began, nor could be revealed by only new empirical studies, analyses, and short-term mechanistic experiments. In many cases our datasets are just beginning to be long enough to separate multi-decadal variability from long-term trends (Fig. 2). The Andrews Forest contains the only co-located, long-term observations of major ecosystem components in our region within a 1500-km radius, and we are a sentinel site for detecting environmental changes such as trends in air and stream water quality in national and international comparisons (e.g., Jones et al. 2012, Arismendi et al. 2012, Argerich et al. 2013, Lajtha and Jones 2013). LTER7 builds on our long-term studies, so we first present our long-term studies; we then present our new empirical studies, analyses, and short-term mechanistic experiments.

**CLIMATE.** Long-term climate research at the Andrews Forest is primed to contribute key insights about how processes and dynamics of mountainous topography and climate dynamics connect to regional and global climate. Continued long-term climate research will help Andrews Forest scientists and the larger climate community to disentangle several causes of temporal variability in climate at decadal time scales. Novel analyses of climate records may reveal important system properties, such as sudden increases in warming, or shifts in response to interdecadal or multi-decadal modes of climate variability. The regional climate science community is weighing alternative and complementary interpretations and phenomena (e.g., Mote 2006, Luce et al. 2013, Abatzoglou et al. 2013). Three principal drivers of Andrews Forest climate are central to these debates: 1) alternating cyclonic (low pressure) and anticyclonic (highpressure) conditions driven by upper-atmosphere winds; 2) orographically-enhanced precipitation, rain shadows, and seasonal drought; and 3) a rain-snow transition zone that shifts in elevation. Long-term measurements reveal many climate processes operating at multiple spatial and temporal scales at the Andrews Forest. In addition to long-term continuous measurements from six climate stations, we have an unusually rare 35-year record of air and soil temperature beneath the forest canopy (N=7 sites) (Fig. 2). Since the 1970s, land surface temperature has increased at 0.25±0.05°C per decade globally (IPCC 2013) and 0.2°C per decade in the Pacific Northwest (Abatzoglou et al. 2013), but air temperature beneath the canopy of the 100 m tall, 500-year-old forest has decreased at a rate of -0.06±0.04°C per decade. This discrepancy leads to the LTER7 long-term climate research question, "How are old-growth temperate forests in mountain landscapes connected to regional and global climate?"

In LTER7 we will test the hypothesis that increasing high-pressure systems associated with climate change have intensified cold-air drainage and mitigated the expression of a regional warming signal at some locations in the forest. A network of distributed temperature sensors at 182 locations initiated in LTER6 reveals dynamic spatial patterns of air temperature within the Andrews Forest (Wilson 2013) (Fig. 5), including periods of cold-air pooling (Daly et al. 2010, Pepin et al. 2011). We will examine highresolution temperature records to quantify the intensity and duration of nighttime cooling and map its extent in the mountain landscape. After sunset, a period of rapid nighttime cooling is followed by a period of much slower cooling; we interpret the rapid cooling as the sum of radiative, sensible and advective heat loss leading to nighttime cold-air drainage, and the onset of slow cooling as the cessation of cold-air drainage and the onset of cold-air pooling in depressions and valleys. Using functional data analysis (time series of first and second order derivatives) (Ramsay and Silverman 2005), we will quantify the onset, cessation, and intensity (rate of cooling) of cold-air drainage at each station (N=182) in the Andrews Forest. We will use results to create maps of cold-air drainage and pooling in the landscape for a range of seasons and weather conditions. We will extrapolate these patterns of cold-air drainage back to the 1950s using long-term records to assess how changes in seasonal duration and frequency of cold-air drainage may have affected air temperature trends over 65 years [Goal I]. We will examine how retrospectively mapped cold-air drainage patterns relate to mapped plant associations (Zobel et al. 1976), and test how rates of tree mortality (e.g., van Mantgem et al. 2009) differ within and outside of cold-air pools [Goal II].

In LTER7 we will also test the hypothesis that increasing high-pressure systems associated with climate change have exacerbated late summer drought by reducing orographic enhancement of precipitation and winter snowpack, or shifting snow to rain. Precipitation at the Andrews Forest is strongly affected by orographic enhancement and rain shadow effects, but climate change and increased frequency of high pressure over NW Canada is hypothesized to block moisture delivery to the region and weaken orographic enhancement of precipitation, reducing high-elevation rain and snow, and exacerbating summer drought (Luce et al. 2013). Winter snowpack and summer precipitation are also coupled to sea surface temperature in the northern Pacific at multi-decadal time scales (Fig. 2). Distributed temperature sensors reveal moderated late summer daytime temperature along N-facing topographic positions downslope of ridges receiving highest precipitation. We will estimate orographic enhancement from longterm precipitation records at multiple landscape positions and determine how orographic enhancement has changed over time in response to changes in air mass types and trajectories. We will apply functional data analysis to daytime high-resolution air temperature records to quantify the rate of heating on various topographic positions and aspects, and compare empirical findings with simple energy-balance models incorporating radiative, sensible, advective and latent heat fluxes. We will extrapolate these findings using long-term records to test how latent heat fluxes (associated with moisture) explain temporal patterns of daily maximum air temperature as well as soil moisture and stream network expansion and contraction over the past 65 years of our long-term records [Goal I]. (Pls: Chris Daly, Julia Jones, Christoph Thomas, Mark Schulze)

**HYDROLOGY.** And rews Forest long-term hydrology research is poised to make major contributions to theory and practice about how climate change and a growing population will affect future water for ecosystems and people. Extreme floods and seasonal drought characterize hydrology of the Andrews Forest, and past research has addressed logging and road impacts on floods (Fig. 3) using data from 10 instrumented watersheds (Fig. 1). In LTER7 we focus on drought, in response to widespread predictions of climate-change induced drought in the western US (e.g., Barnett et al. 2008) and evidence of a lengthened summer and earlier spring in the Pacific Northwest (Abatzoglou et al. 2013). Although streamflow in old-growth headwaters of the Andrews Forest shows small decreases in the spring snowmelt period over ~60 years, consistent with an earlier spring onset of transpiration, late summer flow has not changed over 50 years (Fig. 2) (Moore 2010, Jones et al. 2012). Increasing energy (heat) inputs would be expected to increase evapotranspiration, but water yield from headwater forest ecosystems did not respond as predicted, based on analysis of long-term records from LTER, USFS, and Canadian sites (Creed et al. in press). Water management in the Pacific Northwest has focused on flood control, but climate change is expected to intensify summer drought, sharpening tradeoffs in reservoir management for flood control versus summer water supply. However, a network of dams and reservoirs provide regional water supply systems with engineered resilience to climate change (Hatcher and Jones 2013).

Andrews Forest long-term streamflow records and paired watershed experiments provide a unique (in the Pacific Northwest) opportunity to determine how forested mountain ecosystems may mitigate or exacerbate water scarcity in a changing climate. LTER7 long-term hydrology research addresses the question, *"How does decoupling of forest transpiration from soil moisture regulate response to drought?"* 

In LTER7 we will test the prediction that seasonally dry coniferous forests respond to warming and drought by both an earlier onset and earlier shutdown of transpiration, with no change in seasonal evapotranspiration, and no exacerbation of seasonal drought. We will construct simple water balance models to estimate daily watershed-scale average soil moisture using long-term streamflow measurements at 9 small watersheds with continuous records dating to 1952. We will test how late summer soil moisture and the rate of drying are related to the magnitude, timing, and type of winter precipitation in old-growth forest watersheds. Using long-term paired watershed experiments, we expect to find that late summer streamflow is independent of winter precipitation, reflecting ecophysiological mechanisms to limit drought stress in old-growth conifers (Moore et al. 2004). However, we also expect to show that late summer streamflow in young conifer watersheds is sensitive to winter precipitation and warming, reflecting higher transpiration rates in young compared to old conifers (Jones and Post 2004, Moore et al. 2004, 2011b, 2011a). We anticipate finding that, at the watershed scale, old-growth forests are resilient to climate-induced drought stress, but young forests may be more vulnerable, and we will compare plot- and tree-level mortality in young and old forests [Goal II]. Building on the Willamette River Basin Future Scenarios project (Baker et al. 2004), agent-based modeling will explore consequences for water scarcity of alternative future climate change and land-use scenarios in the Willamette River Basin (ENVISION, Willamette 2100 project, (e.g., Guzy et al. 2008, Bone et al. 2013)), including flood scenario visualization, hydrologic modeling with HBV (i.e., Hydrologiska Byråns Vattenbalansavdelning (Seibert and McDonnell 2010)), and snow modeling validated with SnowModel (Sproles et al. 2013). We will also continue VELMA hydrologic modeling in the McKenzie River basin, into which the Andrews Forest drains (Abdelnour et al. 2011, 2013). (Pls: Julia Jones, Sherri Johnson, Steve Wondzell)

**NATURAL DISTURBANCE.** Andrews Forest research has shown how magnitude of disturbances in forested mountain landscapes depend on interaction of disturbance with the condition of the landscape at the time of disturbance, especially physical connectivity (edges, road and stream networks) and legacies of past disturbances, producing disturbance cascades—forms of connected disturbances that propagate through networks. Network connectivity and legacies provide a unifying framework for examining diverse disturbance types including wildfire (Fig. 2) (Tepley 2010, Tepley et al. 2013), floods (Johnson et al. 2000, Jones and Perkins 2010), landslides (Snyder 2000, Wemple et al. 2001), windthrow (Busby et al. 2006), insect outbreaks (Powers et al. 1999), and snow and ice damage ("snowdown") (Lutz and Halpern 2006). In LTER7 we ask, *"How do physical connectivity and biological legacies influence disturbance propagation in mountain ecosystems?"* We approach disturbance studies using 1) reconstruction (field survey, dendrochronology), 2) documentation and assessment of disturbances, and 3) model intercomparison (Tepley and Thomann 2012). In LTER7 we will continue opportunistic measurement as disturbances occur; in our budget we have set aside a special fund for rapid response research when a new disturbance occurs. (*Pls: Julia Jones, Fred Swanson*)

**VEGETATION DYNAMICS.** Long-term measurements and experiments on vegetation dynamics at the Andrews Forest are critical for testing theories about future ecosystem response to climate change, land-use, and natural disturbance. Past vegetation research has focused on characterizing old-growth forests, gap dynamics, disturbance/diversity relationships, tree growth, and mortality (Fig. 3). Vegetation in the Andrews Forest must cope with protracted seasonal (late summer) drought, and tree growth is weakly inversely related to warm Pacific sea surface temperature augmentation of summer precipitation (Fig. 2). Tree ring chronologies indicate that soil moisture limits tree growth at low elevation, while high snowpack limits growth at high elevation. In LTER6 climate change was implicated as a likely cause of increased tree mortality (van Mantgem et al. 2009)—reference stands from the Andrews Forest represented almost a third of this sample.

In LTER7 we will continue long-term measurements of live and dead vegetation to examine population, community, and ecosystem dynamics. Long-term vegetation measurements are collected in permanent plot systems in or near the Andrews Forest (Fig. 1) (Acker et al. 1998), some with 100 years of periodic measurements. In LTER7 we will continue measuring the Andrews Forest and regional permanent plots

on a 5- to 6-year rotation. We will also resample plots following disturbances, such as extreme drought or cold events, to understand the temporal scales at which vegetation dynamics respond to climate and disturbance [Goal II]. During LTER7 we will add new measurements: 1) heights will be determined for a subsample of trees to characterize vertical structure and aid future analyses of LiDAR and other remotely sensed data; 2) dead standing and downed trees will be re-inventoried to assess how these pools are changing to provide a more complete understanding of wood carbon dynamics; 3) soils will be sampled in pits to improve interpretations of differences in plot biomass and aboveground NPP in terms of water holding capacity and nutrient capital; and 4) dendrochronology will seek evidence of stress preceding mortality in selected individuals. A subset of vegetation plots such as those in WS1 will be used to examine the aboveground NPP consequences of water flow paths [Goal II]. USGS collaborators are using ecosystem models (e.g., LPJ-GUESS, (Smith et al. 2001, Rice 2009, Shafer et al. 2012)) to simulate species and ecosystem responses to climate change as represented by Coupled Model Intercomparison Project phase 5 (CMIP5) coupled atmosphere-ocean general circulation model climate simulations (Taylor et al. 2012). Mathematical modeling of wildfire effects on forest structure (Tepley and Thomann 2012) and individual-based models of forest succession (Seidl et al. 2012b) will be extended to test how drought-induced mortality influences past and future forest stand structure. (PIs: Mark Harmon. Tom Spies, Charlie Halpern)

STREAMS. Long-term measurements and experiments in streams at the Andrews Forest has revealed tight connections between forests and streams (Gregory et al. 1991, 2003) involving wood (Gregory et al. 2003, Meleason et al. 2003), nitrogen (Sobota et al. 2012), temperature (Johnson 2004, Arismendi et al. 2012, 2013b), fish population dynamics (Moore and Gregory 1988, Dodds et al. 2012), and flood response (Swanson et al. 1998, Johnson et al. 2000, Faustini and Jones 2003), leading to riparian management guidelines for Pacific Northwest forests (Gregory and Ashkenas 1990, Thomas et al. 1993, Gregory 1997). Fish populations increased the year after major floods (Fig. 2), highlighting that biotic responses to extreme events, such as floods and droughts, do not consistently conform to our expectations. Climate change may enhance summer drought and reduce forest-stream connectivity within the landscape. We will continue the existing long-term study of forest stream interactions in Mack Creek, including fish, amphibians, streamflow, aquatic insects, temperature, and wood in Mack Creek, and interpret these findings to inform short-term studies and experiments in headwater streams (see New Empirical Studies). Individual-based modeling (inSTREAM; (Railsback et al. 2009, Penaluna 2013)) will use long-term data on marked individuals to examine how changing flow, temperature, and food resources and the ordering of extreme events influence salamander and fish population responses to past extreme events and future climate. (Pls: Sherri Johnson, Stan Gregory, Ivan Arismendi, Brooke Penaluna)

**BIODIVERSITY, PHENOLOGY, AND TROPHIC NETWORKS.** Long-term measurements of insects and plants at the Andrews Forest provide an opportunity to test relationships among biodiversity, phenology, and trophic networks. In LTER6 we found that the connectivity among montane meadow fragments influences the size and diversity of plant-pollinator networks (Pfeiffer 2012, Highland et al. 2013). Insect and plant community diversity exhibit transient dynamics over many decades in response to vegetation change (Highland and Jones in press), and characteristics of previous vegetation determine temporal changes in understory plant diversity (Halpern and Lutz 2013). In LTER7 we address the question, *"How do climate, land-use, and disturbance influence connectivity among landscape elements, trophic structure, and biodiversity over multiple decades?"* 

In LTER7 we will continue research on long-term population dynamics and community structure of plant, insect, bird, salamander and fish species, which are sensitive to climate and disturbance. We will examine long-term records to quantify factors that influence phenology and relate these to trophic dynamics and biodiversity. Using long-term records, we will test how phenology and diversity of insects and plants have responded to temporal variation in soil water availability and temperature dynamics. We will extend species distribution modeling using multi-label machine learning and boosted regression trees to identify controls on changing bird and lepidoptera distributions (Wilkins 2010, Yu et al. 2011, Shirley et al. 2013). We will refine multi-instance, multi-label machine learning methods for classifying birdsong to relate bird occurrence to phenology (Briggs et al. 2009, 2012a, 2012b, 2013c, 2013a, 2013b, Neal et al. 2011). We will continue to develop interactive visual analytics to visualize long-term biodiversity, phenology, and plant-pollinator data (Pham et al. 2013). (*Pls: Matt Betts, Mark Schulze*)

**CARBON AND NUTRIENT DYNAMICS.** Long-term paired watershed and decomposition experiments at the Andrews Forest are positioned to contribute to theories about ecosystem regulation of nutrient cycling in response to changing climate and disturbance. High rates of carbon sequestration in very old trees (Stephenson et al. 2014) adds to ongoing work on ecosystem carbon storage (Harmon 2009, Ryan et al. 2010). Research has linked decomposition (Parton et al. 2007), soil respiration (Phillips et al. 2011, 2012), soil microbial activity (Yarwood et al. 2013), solute transport (van Verseveld et al. 2009, González-Pinzón et al. 2013), and nutrient export (Argerich et al. 2013). Synoptic sampling of stream chemistry has revealed high variability in nutrient concentrations among headwater streams. In LTER7 we ask, *"How do decomposition and nutrient export respond to soil moisture and temperature?"* 

The Andrews Forest has the longest continuous precipitation and streamwater chemistry records in the western US (Fig. 2) (Argerich et al. 2013, Lajtha and Jones 2013). In LTER7 we will continue long-term measurements of precipitation chemistry and stream chemistry, and examine how biogeochemical processes respond to climate, geology, disturbance, and land-use across headwater sites. We expect declining snowpack and shifts in timing of precipitation to exacerbate summer drought and ecosystem stress, with potential consequences for decomposition, nutrient processing, and transfer of nutrients from hillslopes to streams. We will examine long-term stream chemistry records during wet and dry seasons to test how connectivity between hillslopes and streams and within stream channels influences temporal dynamics of biogeochemistry of headwater streams [Goal I].

Three ongoing LTER-related experiments, established in 1985, have examined long-term dynamics of wood decomposition to determine the long-term pattern of mass loss, moisture change, and nutrient uptake/release as well as how these are controlled by species, size, and micro- and macro-climate. These include a 200-year terrestrial experiment examining 50 cm diameter logs; a 40-year upland-stream contrast examining 25 cm diameter logs; and a 30-year examination of branch wood ranging in diameter of 1 to 8 cm. The 30-year measurements of changes in mass, volume, and nutrient content are scheduled for 2015 (Harmon 1992, Harmon et al. 1994, 1999) and M. Harmon will analyze results as part of an OPUS funded synthesis. Biogeochemical modeling will test alternative hypotheses of vegetation and water flow path controls on stream chemistry using DAYCENT (Hartman et al. 2009) and VELMA (Abdelnour 2011, Abdelnour et al. 2011, 2013). We will continue modeling of ecosystem carbon storage responses to future climate, natural disturbance, and proposed forest management practices (LANDCARB (Mitchell et al. 2009, 2012, Harmon 2009, Campbell et al. 2011)). (*Pls: Mark Harmon, Sherri Johnson, Alba Argerich*)

#### 2.4 New empirical studies, analyses, and short-term mechanistic experiments

### AIRSHED: THE BREATHING OF THE ANDREWS FOREST: EXCHANGE OF HEAT AND CARBON IN MOUNTAINOUS TERRAIN

#### Pls: Christoph Thomas, Chris Daly

## General Question: How does systematic air exchange of heat, water, and carbon in small and large mountain watersheds affect ecosystem sensitivity to external climate forcings including extreme events such as drought?

**Rationale:** The atmosphere exhibits a strong forcing on primary productivity, respiration, and evapotranspiration; in turn, vegetation influences heat storage and redistribution, radiation balance, trace gases, CO<sub>2</sub> and water vapor, both below and above the canopy (Fig. 4). In mountainous ecosystems, the terrain (elevation, topographic position, and aspect) strongly modulates vegetation-atmosphere interaction by controlling spatially and temporally varying airflows and air temperatures (e.g., Pypker et al. 2007, Lundquist et al. 2008, Daly et al. 2010, Pepin et al. 2011, Walley 2013), moisture and transpiration (Thomas et al. in review, e.g., Ashcroft et al. 2009, Pypker et al. 2009), and carbon uptake (Thomas et al. in review, e.g., Pypker et al. 2008). In LTER7 we will characterize airflow connectivity and its effects on air temperature patterns [Goal I] and the effect of topographic shading on drought sensitivity of the forest ecosystem [Goal II] in the mountain landscape. This mechanistic experiment will provide a physical understanding of airflows needed to interpret climate change processes in mountains throughout the

Pacific Northwest and globally, and produce a short-term, continuous record of watershed-scale carbon and water fluxes for comparison with long-term analyses.

## **Hypothesis:** The degree of sensitivity of Andrews Forest valleys to the effects of climate change and connectivity to regional airflow patterns depend on the type (transient or persistent) of the cold-air drainage and pools.

Work in LTER6 has suggested that small, sheltered valleys can exhibit diminished responses to changes in upper airflow patterns (Daly et al. 2010), while at the same time the central valley of the Andrews Forest is experiencing markedly earlier springs (Jones et al. 2012). We propose that these apparent contradictions depend upon the contrasting behavior and effects of transient cold pools during seasonal transitions (spring and autumn) versus persistent, stable cold pools during winter. We expect to find that the interactions between solar energy input, topography, moisture, and forest canopy presence lead to identifiable spatiotemporal 'breathing patterns' determined by the direction, strength, and connectivity of the airflows (Fig. 10). In addition to the heat and wind microclimates, we will quantify the effects of the moisture microclimate in the soil and near-surface air, to estimate how latent heat exchange may diminish local climatic extremes. These relationships will be used to interpret temporal patterns of air temperature and hydrology from long-term records (Fig. 2).

**Approach:** We propose to continue the acoustic sounder measurements of height-dependent wind speeds and directions and vertical mixing at the mouth of the Lookout Creek watershed at Primet and in the center of the Andrews Forest. These unique measurements of wind and vertical mixing will provide mechanistic explanations for observed spatial and temporal patterns of temperature and humidity data at the benchmark sites, reference stands, and the distributed temperature sensor network (Fig. 1). They will also help to refine the physiographic climate-mapping algorithm PRISM (Daly et al. 2008).

**Hypothesis:** Topographic shading decreases water use efficiency of mountainous forests by increasing transpiration without significant photosynthesis and thus exacerbates drought stress and sensitivity during the late summer months.

Although it is well known that mountains can induce strong convective cells that affect the transfer of heat and water vapor from the surface into the atmosphere and thus induce precipitation (Prandtl 1952, Schumann 1990), the ecological implications of this mechanism at the ecosystem scale are not well understood. We expect to find that convective cells that form in a deeply incised valley such as WS1 by topographic shading and consequential differential heating and cooling of the south- and north-facing slopes, respectively, (e.g., Serafin and Zardi 2010), may enhance the evapotranspirative losses from vegetation and thus the forest's vulnerability to seasonal drought stress. We build upon existing work in WS1 (Thomas et al. in review) to compute ecologically meaningful estimates of carbon exchange, evapotranspiration, and sensible heat flux during day and night based on a modified mass balance approach (Thomas et al. 2008, 2013). Analysis and interpretation of fluxes will be linked to the spatial patterns in soil moisture and forest productivity of the soil-water-vegetation activity.

**Approach:** This study uses the existing eddy covariance tower at the mouth of WS1 (Fig. 1) equipped with 2 levels of eddy covariance flux observations, soil and air temperature and trace gas (<sup>12</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>, <sup>13</sup>CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>4</sub>) sampling profile systems, light measurements, and soil respiration chambers. These flux estimates will be combined with the three-dimensional distribution of leaf area and biomass from LTER6 LiDAR data (Fig. 10), as well as imagery acquired in the visible and thermal infrared spectral bands using a camera system mounted on the ridge opposite WS1. This instrumentation will allow us to identify periods of elevated plant drought stress in the late summer months.

### SOIL-WATER VEGETATION: THE ROLE OF SUB-WATERSHED SCALE TOPOGRAPHY AND HYDROLOGIC CONNECTIVITY

Pls: Steven Wondzell, Thomas Spies, Christoph Thomas, Thomas Hilker

### General Question: Does sub-watershed scale topography distribute soil moisture along hillslopes and thereby influence spatial patterns of forest productivity?

**Rationale:** Soil moisture availability controls forest productivity (Woolley et al. in review, Littell et al. 2008, Sierra et al. 2009), decomposition (Harmon 2009), and even tree mortality (van Mantgem et al. 2009).

Despite its importance, we have not yet examined the factors that drive spatial patterns in soil moisture availability at the Andrews Forest. However, the movement of water within watersheds is strongly controlled by sub-watershed scale topography in steep, highly-dissected terrain with shallow soils (Jencso et al. 2009). This movement and distribution of water on hillslopes creates and connects resource patches and also controls hillslope connectivity to stream and riparian ecosystems (Fig. 10b). In LTER7, we will test how topography influences hydrologic connectivity by influencing soil moisture distribution [Goal I], modulating forest ecosystem response to seasonal drought and inter-annual variation in climate, and ultimately, influencing long-term ecosystem vulnerability to climate change [Goal II].

**Hypothesis:** Movement and distribution of water on hillslopes produces detectable patterns in available soil moisture and primary productivity. Alternatively, movement and distribution of water may have little influence on growing season moisture availability because of the strong seasonality of precipitation or because soils may be too deep for water to be available to trees.

**Approach:** We will locate approximately 50 soil moisture monitoring sites in WS1. We will use the LiDARbased fine-scale DEM constructed in LTER6 (Fig. 10) to map the upslope accumulated area draining through any point in the landscape. Sites will be spatially nested in a design that stratifies for differences in elevation, slope position, aspect, and other terrain indices from which we can evaluate the relationship between upslope accumulated area and soil moisture as a function of season. We will use time domain reflectometry (following Gray and Spies (1995)) to monitor moisture at each site, installing 2 probes each in the shallow and deep rooting-zone and 2 below the rooting-zone probes to help resolve within-site variation. We will also measure soil depth at each site. Measurements will be made monthly, over two years. We expect to capture the majority of the potential temporal variability in two years because intraannual variability greatly exceeds inter-annual variability in discharge and, by implication, soil moisture. After two years of monitoring, we will identify a small subset of sites that can be maintained for long-term measurements.

We will relate stream discharge to observed spatial patterns of soil moisture and then use historical precipitation and stream discharge records (Fig. 2) as a proxy measure of soil moisture, integrated over the entire watershed, to reconstruct historical seasonal and inter-annual variations in soil-moisture patterns. We will test how modeled and measured soil moisture are related to tree growth and mortality using existing tree-ring records (Tepley 2010); LiDAR-based measurements of tree height, canopy diameter, and modeled biomass (Seidl et al. 2012b); and growth and mortality in 50-year permanent vegetation plots in WS1 (Lutz and Halpern 2006, Halpern and Lutz 2013). Ground-based multispectral and thermal-infrared remote sensing imagery will be collected from sampled areas to relate fine-grained soil moisture measurements to canopy attributes, providing a way to diagnose drought stress as a function of location and microclimate, and providing a method to transfer intensive, site-based measurements to larger areas.

A more extensive soil-moisture monitoring network of approximately 20 sites will be initiated in a subset of the existing long-term vegetation plots and phenology plots established in LTER6 (Fig. 1). The vegetation plots will allow us to test soil-moisture relationship to tree growth and mortality across a wider suite of environmental conditions than is present in WS1. Air temperature is already being monitored at phenology plots; however, soil moisture can mediate air temperatures via evaporation (Ashcroft and Gollan 2013), and moisture may mediate species response to temperature. The extensive monitoring network will explore the influence of moisture availability on ecosystem productivity and phenology at larger spatial scales and across larger environmental gradients at the Andrews Forest.

#### TROPHIC DYNAMICS IN RELATION TO CLIMATE AND LAND-USE IN A MOUNTAIN ECOSYSTEM

#### Pls: Matthew Betts, Mark Schulze, Judith Li

### General Question: How do patterns of microclimate and vegetation variability influence trophic dynamics among plants, insects, and birds, and thereby long-term population dynamics?

**Rationale:** Models used to project future climate impacts to biodiversity predict more extinction and less resilience than has been observed (Botkin et al. 2007, Moritz and Agudo 2013). In mountain ecosystems, species and trophic responses to climate change likely are mediated by topographic effects on moisture and atmospheric processes that vary on diel to interannual time scales, as well as land-use and

associated patterns of vegetation structure and composition (Fig. 6). Climate change-induced "phenological mismatches" and consequent long-term population declines have been reported in systems with relatively low vegetation species diversity and simple topography (e.g., Both et al. 2006). However, phenological mismatches may be less likely in mountain landscapes where vegetation diversity is high, insect herbivore and vegetation species richness are correlated, and insect taxa have varied phenology (e.g., Highland et al. 2013). Further, the capacity of organisms to capitalize on such phenologically heterogeneous sites should depend on their mobility, which is a function of landscape connectivity. In LTER7 we will undertake new measurements to determine how climate and landscape structure interact to drive population and community structure [Goal II].

# **Hypothesis:** Spatial patterns of microclimate that influence plant and animal phenology vary seasonally depending on stable (e.g., topographic shading, vegetation structure) and dynamic factors (e.g., air and water flows), and breeding birds track food resources (abundance, diversity) associated with seasonally stable microclimates.

Approach: We will continue measurements initiated (by S. Hadley, PhD candidate) in LTER6 on bird distributions and microclimate across gradients in elevation and successional stage, using an established network with 184 points (Fig. 1). At a subset of these points we will guantify insect food availability (N=40), vegetation phenology and soil moisture (see soil-water-vegetation, N=20). We will automate longterm data collection using bird songmeters (N=16) and time-lapse phenocams (N=55). We will use machine-learning algorithms to automate identification of bird song for 13 common species of the Andrews Forest and create high-resolution information on the timing of bird song as well as territory establishment (Briggs et al. 2012b). We will use phenocams to monitor phenological stages associated with initiation and duration of seasonal plant growth and to identify canopy metrics for scaling up phenology observations using remote sensing. Changes in bird distributions both within seasons and among years (e.g., Fig. 6) will be modeled using dynamic occupancy modeling, which incorporates variability in detection probability into spatial models of within-season distribution patterns (Betts et al. 2008). Distribution and apparent movement will be modeled as a function of both climate and vegetation variables (derived from LiDAR and on-site vegetation measurements). We will also sample bird diets to test the degree to which trophic networks vary spatially and temporally across gradients in microclimate. Pilot data suggest that the diversity of insect orders found in bird diets may be lower at sites that experience greater microclimate variability.

### **Hypothesis:** Landscape connectivity will mediate the degree to which organisms can exploit spatial heterogeneity to mitigate effects of climate variability or directional change.

Approach: The rufous hummingbird, a migratory species and generalist pollinator, may be vulnerable to combined effects of phenological mismatches from climate change and loss of pollination from meadow fragmentation. We will test how meadow loss and fragmentation interact with climate variability to affect the abundance and movement of this generalist pollinator and pollination success of montane meadow herb species. We will continue work in 16 study meadows at the Andrews Forest and surrounding landscape designed to represent a gradient in meadow patch size, connectivity and topography (Pfeiffer 2012). At each of these meadows, we will monitor the phenology of five dominant meadow herbs that are pollinated by hummingbirds. Concurrently, we will monitor snowpack, soil moisture, temperature regimes and green-up and dormancy of herbaceous communities by expanding existing networks of environmental sensors and time-lapse cameras to cover the 16 meadow transects. We will use two field experiments to study pollinator movement and pollination success: a) Capture and mark hummingbirds with Radio-frequency Identification Devices (RFIDs) that allow individuals to be recognized when they visit feeders distributed across gradients designed to test the independent effects of moisture versus fragmentation/connectivity. Feeders (programmed to deliver nectar at similar levels to naturally occurring flower species) will be distributed across the meadow complexes to enable us to determine movement patterns among the meadow fragments, b) Conduct a pollen limitation experiment for two focal plant species. We will statistically model movement (transitions from patch to patch) as a function of landscape-scale variables (patch size x isolation + flower resource availability).

#### **TROPHIC AND ECOSYSTEM RESPONSES TO CONTRACTIONS OF STREAM NETWORKS**

Pls: Sherri Johnson, Alba Argerich, Ivan Arismendi, Dana Warren, Brooke Penaluna, Judith Li, Stan Gregory

### General Question: Does reduced hydrologic connectivity and absence of fish alter the transfer of matter and energy among trophic levels within small streams?

Rationale: Stream networks expand and contract seasonally (Fig. 10); these changes in stream network connectivity affect transfer of matter and energy across trophic levels and between aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems (Ward 1989, Gregory et al. 1991). Although many organisms that live in the headwaters of the stream network are well adapted to seasonal low flows (Frady et al. 2007, Banks et al. 2007), some organisms (e.g., trout) may experience stress from reduced summer habitat and instream food, increased water temperature, and increased vulnerability to predators (Berger and Gresswell 2009), Climate change is expected to further contract summer stream networks and lead to reduced viability of trout populations in small streams (Wenger et al. 2011, Penaluna 2013) (Fig. 11). Long-term research at the Andrews Forest on two co-occurring aguatic vertebrate species, Mack Creek cutthroat trout, and Pacific giant salamander, has revealed complex population dynamics and variable responses to hydrologic variability, including immediate and lagged responses to droughts and floods (Dodds et al. 2012). Trout and salamanders might be expected to have very different responses to climate change and stream drying because of their habitat requirements and mobility-with salamanders able to inhabit smaller or more disconnected streams than trout. In LTER7 we will extend our study of these predators by examining how stream trophic structure and ecosystem processes differ across multiple headwaters in the stream network when one or both of these predators are present. This research will allow us to examine how varying instream and aquatic-terrestrial connectivity influences the ways in which instream predators, fish and salamanders, shape food webs and ecosystem dynamics. [Goal II].

**Hypothesis:** Small streams accessible by fish predators during low summer flows have distinct trophic dynamics and food web composition that result in measurable differences in ecosystem processes. Alternatively, absence of fish in headwater reaches may have minor effects on stream ecosystem processes, which may instead be regulated by nutrient cycling, availability and uptake controlled by instream hydrologic connectivity and inputs from groundwater and riparian forests.

Approach: The effects of fish as top predators on food web structure and ecosystem processes will be investigated across headwaters and during 6-week experimental exclusions. The limits of fish distributions and their consequences for food web structure and ecosystem processes in small streams (80% of stream length) have not been previously examined. Eight to ten small streams will be selected for study based on prior sampling of nutrients and biota, proximity to long-term stream gages, and the STREON experimental site. During summer lowflow period in each of four years, we will determine the upstream limit of cutthroat trout distribution (Fig. 11) by electro-shocking in each study stream. Above and below the upstream limit of fish distribution, we will measure length and mass of fish and salamanders and collect diet samples using gastric lavage (Romero et al. 2005). We expect salamanders to take better advantage of terrestrial resources and linkages and to have more terrestrial insects in their diets while trout are expected to feed selectively on the largest available benthic invertebrates. Therefore we will compare species diversity and abundance of large benthic invertebrates above and below the upstream limit of fish distribution. We will quantify nutrients and instream resources (chlorophyill a, fine benthic organic matter, and epilithon biomass) between sites with fish and salamanders and with only salamanders. We will measure stream temperature, habitat, hydraulics and streamflow to assess how thermal conditions and flows influence year-to-year variability in the distribution of these vertebrate predators. In year 4 we will test how experimental removal of fish or salamanders or both alters the transfer of matter and energy among trophic levels. We will use block nets to establish a series of randomized experimental reaches using a factorial design of fish and salamander removal in a subset of study streams. All fish and salamanders within the experimental reaches will be individually marked, measured and weighed at the beginning and end of the experiment. We expect that salamander diet will shift and growth will decrease when co-located with cutthroat trout. We also expect stream reaches without fish or salamanders will have larger insects and therefore more activity by grazing insects, and reduced instream primary productivity.

To assess ecosystem responses to distribution of instream predators, we will measure whole stream metabolism, to calculate primary productivity and respiration (Sobota et al. 2012), and nutrient spiraling, to determine the uptake rates and travel distances of available instream nutrients. We will use a combination of metabolic tracers (RAZ, (Argerich et al. 2011)) and nutrient additions injected above and below the termini of vertebrate distributions to assess respiration and nutrient spiraling. We will use conservative or hydraulic tracers to calculate travel times of water, as a metric of instream connectivity, and to quantify lateral or subsurface inputs of water, as a metric of forest-stream connectivity.

### SOCIAL SCIENCE: FOREST GOVERNANCE, SOCIAL NETWORKS, AND LANDSCAPE DYNAMICS IN THE WESTERN CASCADES

Pls: Hannah Gosnell, A. Paige Fischer, Cassandra Moseley, Troy Hall

### General Question: How do science-policy-management networks influence and respond to changing landscape dynamics; and how do they prohibit or encourage adaptive governance?

Rationale: Social science has sought to understand interactions between social systems and ecological systems through investigations of environmental governance: the set of formal and informal processes, mechanisms, and institutions through which actors influence environmental decision making and behavior (Ostrom 1990, Lemos and Agrawal 2006). Theory suggests that governance systems change over time in response to interacting social and ecological variables, and that social networks play an important role in triggering "thresholds" in certain key variables that can result in new forms of governance (Gunderson and Holling 2002, Christensen and Krogman 2012). Governance regimes have direct bearing on the resilience of social-ecological systems, and theory suggests that *adaptive* governance systems, characterized by (among other things) connectivity among actors across scales and sectors (government, local communities, civil society), provide advantages for the management of ecological systems by enabling social learning, experimentation, and flexibility under uncertainty (Walters 1997, 1998, Peterson et al. 1998, Folke et al. 2005, Huitema et al. 2009). However, empirical evidence to support these theories is limited, and it is unclear under what conditions and in what geographical contexts adaptive governance systems emerge. In LTER7 we will identify how scientific findings about landscape pattern and process influence patterns of social relations among actors, which in turn influence forest governance regimes and future stand management and landscape dynamics [Goal III]. Analysis of the tumultuous history and current politically charged status of federal forest management in the Pacific Northwest (Fig. 8) may yield important insights into the evolution of governance systems and the ways in which transformations in governance, manifested in changing science-policy-management networks, are linked to changing landscape dynamics. The research will also shed light on how flexible institutions and adaptive governance structures can be devised, so as to sustain and enhance the capacity of ecosystems to produce valuable ecosystem services and cope with uncertainty (Bodin and Prell 2011). This research builds on a rich and diverse body of science from the Andrews Forest that has strongly influenced public and policymaker perceptions of old-growth, watershed processes, road hydrology, and the role of dead wood in forests and streams (Fig. 3). These findings have been central players in the evolving issue environment that frames debate about federal forest policy. Lessons from this research will inform the Andrews Forest and other similar programs about how such sustained, place-based, highly interdisciplinary programs can more successfully serve society.

**Approach:** We will use social science methods to 1) identify social processes that explain the changing relationship of Andrews Forest science to federal forest policymaking; 2) reveal social mechanisms that decouple federal forest policy from actual management practices; and 3) evaluate the potential for the emergence of an adaptive governance system characterized by tight connections and feedbacks between scientific discovery and forest management. To accomplish these objectives we will analyze existing documents and other qualitative data (including transcripts from the Andrews Forest History Project) to construct a narrative chronology of federal forest governance in the Pacific Northwest that characterizes relationships between key actors (local, regional, national), institutions (including laws and policies), and resource users—and describes shifts in these relationships over time. We will confer with appropriate Andrews Forest scientists to identify trends in forest pattern and process related to changing management practices over the past 65 years, and consider methods for integrating research findings with spatial data depicting land cover change. Based on these preliminary analyses we will use social

network theory (Bodin and Prell 2011) to analyze the changing structure and function of social networks connecting biophysical scientists to land managers, the public, regulators, policymakers, and the media from the stewardship era through the timber harvest era and the biodiversity conservation era (Fig. 8). We will collect and analyze new qualitative and quantitative data regarding science-policy-management networks using semi-structured interviews, social network analysis (a quantitative approach to the study of social relations) (Wasserman and Faust 1994, Henry 2011) and institutional mapping (Stimie et al. 2001, Aligica 2006). These empirical analyses will yield visualizations of changing social network structure and will identify variables that explain changes in network structure over time, informing the development of theories about relationships between forest governance and landscape dynamics, an elusive goal in social-ecological systems research (Tompkins and Adger 2004, Bodin et al. 2006, Crona and Hubacek 2010). These findings will inform a collaborative analysis with landscape ecologists of connections between social and ecological thresholds and the identification of key variables along which thresholds have been crossed, along with important drivers of these regime shifts. Finally, we will use triangulation to synthesize data and identify pathways and barriers to a more adaptive federal forest governance system (Patton 2002, Stake 2010).

### CONSERVATION ETHICS: ECOLOGY, FORESTRY, AND ARGUMENT ANALYSIS IN THE PACIFIC NORTHWEST

#### PI: Michael P. Nelson, and Andrews Forest researchers in relevant subject areas

General Question: What is the relationship between the adoption of a forest policy and the soundness of the arguments underpinning that policy; including the truth or controversy of the scientific premises, and the types of values evoked to support those arguments?

**Rationale:** A key justification for NSF's LTER program is that wise environmental management depends on science (Callahan 1984). However, it is difficult for the LTER program to wholly demonstrate the truth of this statement because it lies in the realm of philosophy (ethics), as much as in ecological and social science. Ethical analysis involves the systematic and rigorous alignment and assessment of science with explicit notions of value (Nelson and Vucetich in press, 2009, 2012, Vucetich and Nelson 2007). For example, although the Andrews Forest LTER program has a long-standing commitment to informing natural resource decision-making in the Pacific Northwest, we have little systematic understanding of this process of transference; many other LTER sites share this dilemma. Consideration of ethics is an important but underused component of engaging in and understanding environmental decision-making (Minteer and Collins 2005, Doak et al. 2008, Ripple et al. 2014). Analysis of implicit and influential values guiding policymaking will complement social science analysis of why and how the influence of science on policy varies over time [Goal III].

**Hypothesis**: We will explore the null hypothesis that there is no discernible relationship between the soundness of an argument, the truth or controversy of premises, and the adoption of a given course of action. Alternatively, arguments premised on value statements involving intrinsic value (e.g., ecosystems are valued for themselves) have been judged as more persuasive than arguments based on instrumental values (ecosystems valued as means to some end). The intellectual merit of this effort includes at least two outcomes: evidence supporting the alternative hypothesis would 1) provide a broader approach to arguments than the current, perhaps limited, focus on ecosystem-services-type arguments prevalent in the LTER Network, and 2) suggest that LTER research can influence decision making by cultivating a sense of awe or wonder (intrinsic valuation) about the ecosystems we study.

**Approach:** In LTER7, building on expertise of the lead PI, we will use methods of ethical argument analysis—developed from formal tools in critical thinking (Copi et al. 2011)—to formally evaluate arguments about management involving Andrews Forest science and ecosystems (e.g., Nelson and Vucetich 2012) (Table 1). The first step in a conservation ethics approach is to identify pernicious and inherently interdisciplinary natural resource challenges, and to list reasons for and against a given policy direction. In the Pacific Northwest, current environmental changes (e.g., rising human population, changing land-use, and climate change and coupled strain on natural resources) appear to be intensifying pressure on natural resources such as forests (Hays 2007, Spies and Duncan 2009, Spies et al. 2010) (Fig. 8). At such times, policy prescriptions can become confused, even perverse, losing the connection

to thoughtful engagement. Key challenges facing federal lands in the Pacific Northwest-and closely connected to Andrews Forest science-include the prospect of increased logging to reduce fuels and increase wood production, jobs, and early successional habitat; and the killing of barred owls to increase numbers of spotted owls, which are listed under the Endangered Species Act. Arguments examined in this analysis will be selected based on historical and current material in paid advertisements, lawsuits, legislation, media coverage, publications, and other forms of public and private discourse archived by the Andrews Forest History Project. The second step is to turn each of these reasons into a formal argument for a given policy prescription (e.g., Table 1). Any proposed forestry practice, for example, is premised upon an argument or set of arguments meant to justify it. Such arguments, however, are almost never formally and systematically assessed or subjected to rigorous argument analysis. These arguments include premises, or claims, from many areas of expertise including ecological and social science and ethics (Table 1). The third step is to assess those arguments for their validity and soundness, to point out mistakes in both inferences and assertions made in the premises provided. We will draw on our scientific and ethical expertise to lay out arguments involving ecology, social science, and values, and evaluate their truth or appropriateness, as well as associated controversy. A fourth step would make the analysis available to decision makers and the public through publications, presentations, and workshops at the Andrews Forest involving various stakeholders in the process of argument creation and critique.

Conservation ethics analysis requires knowledge of ecology and social sciences, as well as ethical theory, environmental ethics, and formal critical thinking. The Andrews Forest LTER program (combining ecologists, social scientists, and ethicists) is uniquely positioned to accomplish this form of synthesis. This work is a logical extension of long-term ecological research at the Andrews Forest because the use of Andrews Forest science in forest management and policy changes the structure of the landscape and hence strongly influences drivers of change in forest ecosystems (Lade et al. 2013). This effort will draw on a variety of Andrews Forest long-term measurements because various arguments in favor of a given forestry policy, for example, will be premised, at least in part, upon claims about ecosystem functioning and impacts that Andrews Forest research is uniquely positioned to evaluate (Table 1, col. 3).

#### 2.5 Cross-Site Collaborations

Researchers at the Andrews Forest LTER have been catalysts and leaders of major cross-site synthesis activities involving climate, hydrology, biogeochemistry, future scenarios, vegetation, arts and humanities, and site program histories, at regional, national, and international scales (Fig. 12). In LTER7 we plan to continue promoting cross-site analysis to increase mechanistic understanding of biological responses to past and present environmental changes. We also will continue to explore social-ecological responses to environmental change at multi-decadal time scales.

The Andrews Forest is the only LTER site in the temperate conifer forest biome. We are a major node for regional observation systems, research activities, and science and social networks related to climate (the PNW Climate Impacts Research Consortium), water (Willamette Water 2100 project, Columbia River basin US-Canada treaty review process), vegetation (Forest Service Inventory plots and the network of long-term vegetation plots and experimental watersheds arrayed north-south along the Cascade Range), northern spotted owl demography, and ecological observatories (NEON, Streon). Cooperators in these efforts include the USFS, USGS, NEON Inc., and Oregon Climate Change Research Institute.

At the national scale, as part of the LTER Network, information managers and scientists at the Andrews Forest have led development of Clim/hydroDB, StreamchemDB, and are designing VegDB including software development, populating the databases, and conducting synthesis analyses. With regard to climate, we plan to continue to lead the LTER climate committee synthesis efforts and expand participation of sites in ClimDB and in the US historical climate data network. With regard to hydrology, we will continue cross-site efforts promoting analysis of streamflow trends related to climate change, disturbance and vegetation dynamics in headwater ecosystems (Creed et al. in press, Jones et al. 2012), and work with sites across LTER, USFS EFR, and Canadian networks to link their data using common HydroDB database. We recently started cross-site stream chemistry syntheses to examine long-term trends (Argerich et al. 2013) and standardized data into a common publically available database (StreamchemDB). In LTER7 we plan to extend these analyses to evaluate stream responses to

disturbances and behaviors of reference basins and expand participation (EarthCube, CUAHSI). We hope to build a cross-site VegDB, using a framework developed in several LTER cross-site workshops.

Andrews Forest researchers have been extremely active in developing arts-humanities-ecology collaborations within the LTER Network over the past few years, and now more than half of the LTER sites are engaged in these arts and humanities efforts. In LTER7 we will continue to provide leadership along with several other sites in the development of site-scale programs and network function and in seeking funding for network activities, sustaining the webpage for Ecological Reflections (*ecologicalreflections.com*), advancing the prototypic Andrews Forest program, and communicating broadly about the program. We will also lead an effort, funded by a network supplemental grant, to more formally assess the perceived values of, and challenges to, arts-humanities-ecology collaborations.

Led by a team of ecological historians, we are undertaking an Andrews Forest History Project, which is providing leadership for LTER Network-level efforts on history. In order to better understand the evolution of our program, research themes, and impacts on science, management, and policy, we have begun to inventory, archive, and conduct history scholarship on archival material collected since the early 1930s. Swanson and Guerrini have initiated discussions with other LTER sites (e.g., BNZ, HFR) about featuring the history of the LTER Network at the centennial meeting of ESA in 2015. We are also participating in LTER Network history work including Hauckens' (MCM) and Ramore's (CDR) book on LTER Network history, and a book led by Willig and Walker (under contract to Oxford University Press) on impacts of LTER on science. Three Andrews Forest PIs (Swanson, Johnson, Stafford) have been invited to contribute to this book. Building on a session at the 2012 ASM on science-society research and public engagement, Andrews Forest PI Gosnell, Nik Heynen (CWT), and Nathan Sayre (JRN) will seek supplemental funds to explore the potential for expanding the Coweeta Listening Project model to other sites.

Cross-site activities with Andrews Forest leadership have been funded through multiple mechanisms: 1) workshops at LTER All-Scientists Meetings; 2) LTER Network Office funding for working groups; 3) supplemental funding from NSF LTER directly to sites (e.g., LINX database development, arts and humanities, the Maps and Locals [MALs] Project); 4) Forest Service funding (HydroDB, StreamChemDB, LTEReflections), and 5) private foundation funding.

#### 2.6 Synthesis

For nearly 35 years, the Andrews Forest LTER program has been structured to promote synthesis. Our conceptual framework includes a stable, but evolving, central question; a unifying theme reflecting our developing ideas about the ecosystem; an ongoing commitment to maintaining and analyzing long-term measurements; and a set of integrated new analyses and experiments tied to long-term studies but attentive to current ecological theory and societal needs. Past examples of key Andrews Forest contributions to concepts, questions, and theories in ecology include the structure and function of old-growth forest ecosystems; the roles of dead wood in forests and streams; forest-stream interactions connecting communities and ecosystem processes; species and community responses to forest landscape fragmentation; and cascading effects of forest harvest and roads on hydrology, geomorphic processes, and species invasion (Fig. 3).

The seventh Andrews Forest LTER proposal (LTER7) continues this synthetic tradition. It provides a research plan focusing on major ecological questions that build upon our conceptual framework (Fig. 9). It proposes new work to explore evolving questions emerging from analyses of long-term measurement programs, while sustaining our long-term commitment to understanding dynamics of forested mountain ecosystems. We will re-examine our central question and conceptual framework (Fig. 9) using the lens of "connectivity," focusing on how intermittent, spatially variable flows of air, water, nutrients, information, and organisms (Fig. 10) may mitigate or accentuate the expression of regional and global climate change and land-use in mountain ecosystems. We will link new studies and modeling efforts to long-term measurements spanning processes ranging from individual organisms and diel cycles to regional, multi-decadal dynamics of climate, hydrology, and vegetation a forested mountain ecosystem. In LTER7 we also continue leadership of cross-site synthesis work, extending concepts, questions, and theories in climate, hydrology, stream chemistry, vegetation, and arts and humanities, as well as LTER Network level

information management, to the LTER Network and national and international networks of long-term ecological research sites.

Broader impacts. Many aspects of LTER7 benefit society and advance desired societal outcomes. We will continue our strong tradition of fostering public engagement with science and technology through our active research-management partnership with regional and national forest policymakers. Moreover, we seek to understand how our science may contribute to society by engaging the public, resource managers, and policymakers in explicit studies of changing social networks and conservation ethics analyses of arguments used in forest governance. Our arts and humanities program aims to enhance public literacy about science, to interpret and convey the value of long-term ecological research, and to share the beauty and magnificence of our ecosystem with a wider audience to inspire awe, wonder, and action, to improve the wellbeing of individuals in society. We will continue to lead partnerships and crosssite efforts within and beyond the LTER Network that interpret, synthesize, and disseminate the findings of long-term ecological research to help the public and policymakers understand how the ecosystems that humans depend on are functioning at broad temporal and spatial scales. We will continue education and outreach and STEM development for K-12, undergraduate, and graduate students and teachers as well as the public, with explicit emphasis on enhancing participation of women, people with disabilities, and under-represented minorities to be trained as part of a globally competitive STEM workforce. Similarly, we continue to engage an increasingly diverse team of researchers with respect to disciplinary background. age, gender, culture, and ethnicity. We will continue to develop and enhance the infrastructure for science and education, especially efforts to increase digital and virtual access to the Andrews Forest through continued information management, a cyber-networked forest, and social media.

#### 3.0 RELATED RESEARCH PROJECTS

Strong institutional support from our partnership between OSU, the USDA Forest Service Pacific Northwest Research Station (PNW), and the Willamette National Forest provides the foundation upon which LTER activities are built (Fig. 12). Details of this foundational partnership are described in section 5.0. In addition to fostering a strong foundational partnership, we actively seek ways to leverage LTER dollars. The Andrews Forest LTER leverages funding support from related research projects at a rate of about 1:4. Although many related research projects that contribute to the success of our LTER program, we describe only those efforts that are essential to address the questions posed in this renewal.

PNW has funded and staffed the Andrews Forest small watershed hydrology program since the 1950s. PNW also co-supports, with LTER, the Andrews Forest aquatic chemistry research and the forest vegetation measurements. The continuous records of streamflow, chemistry, sediment, and vegetation dynamics are crucial core data that are web-available in near-real time and used by researchers at the Andrews Forest and throughout the world. These data will be used in LTER7 to address questions related to effects of land-use and climate change on vegetation growth, biodiversity, and water availability; as baseline data for studies of connectivity in stream ecosystems and across hillslope and stream hydrological networks; and for extending the scope of inference to multi-decadal time scales from shortterm high spatial and temporal resolution observations of soil moisture and vegetation productivity patterns. PNW also co-supports, with LTER, the Andrews Forest information management program, through staffing of the lead Information Manager (Henshaw) and the spatial data manager and GIS analyst (Valentine). PNW is committed to continuing its essential collaborative role in LTER7.

OSU faculty provide essential contributions to Andrews Forest LTER through success at obtaining competitive grants. For example, a current Department of Defense award (C. Thomas) will increase our understanding of how weak-wind airflow patterns in mountain ecosystems directly and indirectly influence patterns of hydrological and biological connectivity in a variable and changing climate. Using this grant, Thomas has established two stations to monitor height dependent wind speeds and direction to better monitor and model airflow patterns within the Lookout Creek watershed. The PRISM Climate Group also supports enhancements of our climate data quality assurance systems and climate infrastructure.

#### 4.0 EDUCATION AND OUTREACH ACTIVITIES

SCHOOLYARD LTER (SLTER). The goal of the sLTER program is to increase K-12 teachers' understanding of environmental science research by involving them in LTER research projects, and to expand their capacity to involve their students in similar field-based science inquiry. During LTER7, sLTER will connect Oregon K-12 teachers with Andrews Forest research to expand teachers' capacity to lead students through field-based science inquiry inspired by Andrews Forest science, and to integrate reading and writing into their science teaching. And rews Forest sLTER continues to partner with the Oregon Natural Resources Education Program (ONREP), a state-wide program housed at OSU that prepares educators to engage students in relevant and inspiring classroom and outdoor learning experiences. Funding will be used to support a part-time position at ONREP held by Kari O'Connell to accomplish the following in LTER7: 1) Engage middle and high school teachers with Andrews Forest researchers in the Teachers as Researchers (TAR) professional development model. Through workshops, participants will explore elements of the scientific process, examine current research with Andrews Forest researchers (from graduate students to faculty), practice field investigations based on Andrews Forest research that can be used with students, and collaborate with fellow teachers; 2) Coordinate extended experiences for teachers who desire further training in field-based research through the Research Experience for Teachers (RET) program; 3) Provide follow-up communication, resource ideas, and further training to current and past participants in TAR and RET programs to support their classroom activities and field investigations; 4) Enhance grades 5-8 teacher understanding of forest ecosystems by hosting teacher workshops using Ellie's Log (Li 2013), our new children's book (described below) as a resource for integrating scientific observation, nature writing, journaling, and art; 5) Design and implement assessments to measure project outcomes and incorporate lessons learned, including workshop evaluations, teacher reflection papers, and homework assignments; 6) Report and share results of this work at education conferences and peer-reviewed journals, and submit teacher-developed student activities to the LTER digital library.

The sLTER activities will help Oregon teachers support students in attaining proficiency in the practice of science, in keeping with educational standards in Oregon and with national science standards (NGSS Lead States 2013), and in reading content-rich texts and evidence-based writing as key components of the adopted Common Core State Standards. We will recruit teacher participants, giving priority to those working with underserved audiences including Title I Schools and those with high populations of English Language learners, and from a mix of rural and urban districts.

**LTER SCHOOLYARD SERIES BOOK**. *Ellie's Log: Exploring the Forest Where the Great Tree Fell*, written by Judith Li and illustrated by M.L. Herring, is a richly illustrated, seven-chapter book aimed at 8–12 year olds. The descriptions in the book about biodiversity, decomposition, and seasonal change are based on decades of research at the Andrews Forest. Complementing the book is a website, *www.ellieslog.org*, sponsored by the Oregon State University Valley Library, and a Teacher's Guide (also available at ellieslog.org); both encourage children to investigate natural habitats where they live.

**RESEARCH EXPERIENCE FOR UNDERGRADUATES (REU)**. The REU program is one of the most valued educational and research components of our program. REU students provide meaningful contributions to projects while learning about scientific research. Our previous REUs have benefited from their experiences; many if not most go on to graduate school, and we frequently encounter them either as graduate students at OSU, at universities associated with other LTER sites, or working with advisors whom they met through some connection established during their REU experience. Many of our former REUs have gone on to become outstanding educators, researchers, and administrators. In LTER7 we will engage two REU students per year to conduct supervised research and, with faculty guidance, design and implement individual projects. We actively seek academically gualified, minority and underserved students for these positions. We advertise REU positions on our website and email list serves, as well as through announcements sent to colleges and universities across the country. Based on references and phone interviews with student applicants, we select finalists from the pool of applicants based on compatibility between project activities and student goals, academic success of the students, and the ability of students to work successfully in a field research environment. Each year, with support from other projects, the Andrews Forest hosts 15-20 REU students (including an Eco-Informatics Summer Institute REU program, 2006–2015) and we facilitate group-learning experiences to teach skills of working in

teams. Projects draw on ongoing Andrews Forest long-term research, including sampling and modeling plant-pollinator networks in montane meadows, and flow turbulence and fish habitat in wood jams.

**GRADUATE STUDENTS**. In LTER7 we remain committed to graduate student involvement, mentorship, training, and scholarship. The Andrews Forest Graduate Student Committee, chaired by two students, connects graduate students with Andrews Forest researchers and leadership. Graduate students are involved with planning and hosting symposia and field tours, helping cultivate their future science leadership skills. Graduate students share and present posters at the Andrews Forest symposium, held on the OSU campus, and they present their science at Andrews Forest monthly meetings. We also prioritize funding travel for graduate students to attend the LTER All-Scientists Meeting.

**PUBLIC OUTREACH**. We continue our commitment to engage the general public and increase public understanding of the value of long-term ecological research through tours and site programs, media interactions, and links with arts and humanities. We publish a semi-annual newsletter (*andrewsforest.oregonstate.edu/newsletter*) that is distributed widely and features highlights of Andrews Forest findings and activities. We employ our website (*andrewsforest.oregonstate.edu/*, Facebook (*facebook.com/AndrewsForest*), and Twitter to communicate with colleagues, the public, students, managers, and the broader research community. *The Hidden Forest* (2006) continues to connect readers to the Andrews Forest site and science.

**TOURS AND SITE PROGRAMS**. The Andrews Forest attracts ~1,500 visitors annually from around the region and world. Andrews Forest personnel give tours and field classes for U.S. and international university courses (~20 per year), resource managers (100–200) and the general public (100–200). An annual public field day draws between 120–140 people, with field presentations focused on themes of our research and afternoon field trips with interactive activities that provide a sense of discovery. During LTER7, we will continue to develop and assess learning opportunities using our new interpretive Discovery Trail. This trail is regularly used for public outreach, teacher training, and for the innovative Canopy Connections middle school education program, conducted in collaboration with the Environmental Leadership Program at University of Oregon and Pacific Tree Climbing Institute.

**MEDIA INTERACTIONS.** We actively engage with the media by serving as sources for regional media (e.g., newspaper articles and Public Broadcasting stories); providing Science Finding reports of the PNW Research Station (e.g., *fs.fed.us/pnw/publications/scifi.shtml*: Issues 115, 110, and 105); working with OSU's News and Research Communications; hosting field tours with media groups; and informing articles in the OSU research magazine and blog, *Terra* (Sherman 2010).

**ARTS AND HUMANITIES**. The Long-Term Ecological Reflections program is a partnership between the Andrews Forest program and the Spring Creek Project at OSU (Swanson et al. 2008). Co-funded by LTER and the Forest Service, the program has brought ~50 writers into one-week residencies at the Andrews Forest and has supported gatherings of writers and scientists to work on issues such as the meaning of watershed health and new metaphors for restoration. Our researchers will continue to lead the Ecological Reflections network of >20 science/arts/humanities programs, including most LTER sites. During LTER7 we will continue to lead the LTER arts and science efforts, formally assess those programs, and explore new and innovative linkages between science, the arts and humanities.

**CITIZEN SCIENCE AND EXTENSION**. A partnership between OSU Extension and the Andrews Forest, supported by the Renewable Resources Extension Program, is developing collaborative climate change-related research and educational activities within existing Extension networks (e.g., Master Woodland Managers, 4-H). The project will utilize two existing national citizen science programs: National Phenology Network (NPN)'s Nature's Notebook, *usanpn.org*; and Community Collaborative Rain Hail & Snow Network, *cocorahs.org*, to help train volunteers, manage data collection, and create an interface with researchers.

**APPLICATIONS TO POLICY AND MANAGEMENT**. Our relationship with policy and management will continue to build on the decades-old foundation of the research-management partnership between the Andrews Forest science community and the Willamette National Forest, organized formally under the Central Cascade Adaptive Management Partnership (CCAMP). Through CCAMP, researchers and managers collaborate to conduct applied studies and experiments involving forest management. These projects include demonstrations that serve as focal points for field discussions concerning the future of

forest ecosystems and management. CCAMP also organizes workshops and seminars engaging researchers and managers on current topics (e.g., the science of riparian management, early seral forest, landscape analysis, and how social science and ethics can inform public discussions of resource issues). Andrews Forest researchers play a critical role in these workshops. A longstanding emphasis on using understanding of historic disturbance regimes to guide future landscape management (e.g., Halpern and Spies 1995, Cissel et al. 1999) is of wide interest in the US and Canada, and is central to current discussion and proposed legislation concerning the future of forestry on public lands in Oregon. The Andrews Forest is a core site for northern spotted owl demographics studies, which are part of the Northwest Forest Plan Monitoring Program, funded by USFS Region 6, BLM, USGS, and other agencies. Other significant collaborative science-management efforts include restoration of montane meadows and riparian habitats, management of dead wood in terrestrial and aquatic systems, and carbon sequestration. We are often consulted about how this research-management partnership functions and have published a guide on these collaborations (Swanson et al. 2010). During LTER7 Andrews Forest researchers will explore more deeply the influence of science-policy-management networks on landscape pattern and process through an emerging social-ecological research program.



- Stream gages
- Small experimental watersheds
- Streams
- Mack Creek fish sampling
- Vegetation reference stands
- Cone counts
- Watershed vegetation transects
- Log decomposition study sites
- Core phenology
- Temperature sensors and bird phenology sites
- Andrews Headquarters
- --- Discovery Trail



**Figure 1**. The Andrews Forest LTER covers 6400 ha and is located in the western Cascade mountains of Oregon. The site ranges from 400 to over 1600 m in elevation. Vegetation is dominated by conifer forests. Climate measurements include 6 climate stations, long-term temperature measurements in reference stands, a distributed temperature sensor network including phenology and air drainage sites, acoustic wind profilers, and an eddy covariance tower. Hydrology and stream measurements include 10 gaged streams ranging from 9 to 6200 ha, 8 small gaged watersheds in three paired watershed experiments at low, intermediate, and high elevation; and long-term fish sampling. Vegetation measurements include a network of old-growth forest reference stands, permanent vegetation study plots, and log decomposition experimental plots.



**Figure 2.** Long-term records from the Andrews Forest cover all elements of our central question (Fig. 9), and span the major periods of forest governance on federal forest lands in the Pacific Northwest. (a) Forests at our site and our region regenerated after major wildfires in the early-1500s and mid-1800s; mean tree growth (n>4000 individuals) anomalies and their inconsistent relationship to PDO reflect both winter and summer moisture limitations on net primary productivity (Tepley 2010). (b) Spring snowpack is inversely related to PDO, a measure of warm sea surface temperature, with lower snowpack since 1976. (c) Mean daily temperature anomalies at our long-term climate station (cs2met) and under forest canopy at high (rs04) and low (rs02) elevation do not display long-term increasing trends at annual, monthly, or daily time scales. (d) Daily annual maximum, mean, and 7-day minimum streamflow under old-growth forest (WS2) since 1952 shows extreme floods (1964 and 1996), dry years (1977, 2001) and extreme summer lowflows (1967-68 and 1988) that are not associated with snowpack. (e) Watershed budgets show very low and declining N inputs and seasonal pulses of outputs associated with winter precipitation. (f) Cutthroat trout populations increased after flood disturbance in 1996. (g) Northern spotted owl populations continue to decline despite cessation of clearcutting in 1990 (Dugger et al. 2014). (h) The Andrews Forest (Lookout Creek basin) experienced early old-growth logging relative to other National Forests in the Pacific Northwest, making it an example of a regenerating landscape in our region.



**Figure 3**. History of the Andrews Forest program, showing major long-term measurement and analysis programs corresponding to components of the central question (horizontal colored bars), the administrative history of the program dating from 1948 and including six prior LTER cycles, the evolving questions examined in each successive LTER cycle (topics in horizontal bars), and the integrative themes in each LTER cycle.



**Figure 4**: a) Mean diurnal courses of net ecosystem exchange of  $CO_2$  (NEE), ecosystem respiration (RE), evapotranspiration (ET), and sensible heat (H) and standard error (vertical bars) for the dry summer period July 25–October 2, 2012 measured at the WS1 eddy covariance tower computed using the modified mass balance approach that accounts for advective losses of carbon dioxide in the carbon mass balance (Thomas et al., 2008; 2013; 2014, submitted) due to limited vertical mixing and the persistent cold-air drainage; b) The eddy covariance system at the top of the WS1 tower above the main forest canopy; c) View of the 38.5m tall ecosystem flux tower that features 8 levels of concentration measurements of  ${}^{13}CO_2$ ,  ${}^{12}CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$ ,  $H_2O$ , and air temperature in a vertical profile, and 2 eddy covariance systems (at 38.5m and 4m).



Figure 5. Air temperatures and bird abundance and microhabitat use during breeding season were sampled across a network of 182 sites (map). Plant phenology and insect sampling were co-located at 16 of these sites. Site locations are shown on a map of mean maximum daily temperature in June 2012 (Wilson 2013). Spatial patterns of microclimate varied by time of year and among years; in this example from June 2012, elevation and topographic shading strongly influenced mean maximum daily temperatures. Example time series (right) of plant phenophase, bird abundance and flying insect activity in 2012 at three of the phenology sites. Plant, insect and bird phenology had very different associations with local air temperature. Plant phenology was influenced by both winter and spring temperature. Activity of flying insects was highly variable across sites and not well correlated with air temperature. Breeding birds shifted occupancy among sites in response to temperature shifts during the breeding season.





elevation at early 0.0 date and shift in occupancy to high elevations by later



date. Dynamic occupancy model showing higher probability that a hermit warbler will vacate a site with a greater change in air temperature over duration of the breeding season (right).

Change in temperature (°C)

2.5



Figure 7. Soil moisture content by volume fraction simulated by VELMA (Abdelnour et al. 2012, 2013) for the steep forested slopes of Watershed 1 in the Andrews Forest. This visualization of model output shows the contraction of the stream network and associated area of moist soils in late summer (mid-August) and the expansion of the stream network and moist areas during the wet season (November to April). An extensive soil moisture monitoring network in LTER7 will provide data to test and refine models of spatiotemporal patterns of moisture and to relate small-scale moisture variability to plant productivity.



Figure 8. Social and ecological thresholds and abrupt changes in forest management in the Pacific Northwest. LTER7 Goal III examines how changing social networks influence abrupt transitions in federal forest land management in the Douglas-fir region of western Oregon and Washington. Key variables include cumulative increase in harvest (bbf- billion board feet) of old-growth forest after WWII, gradual decline of the northern spotted owl, changing public values, the accretion of federal legislation for managing public lands (NEPA-1969, ESA-1973, and NFMA-1976), legal decisions, mill closures, and media events. Andrews Forest science contributed through research on effects of forest harvest and roads on northern spotted owl, old-growth forest biodiversity, large wood, foreststream interactions, and hydrology and geomorphic processes. Andrews Forest scientists also contributed to FEMAT, a federal forest harvest plan. (Data on harvests from Spies & Duncan 2009).



**Figure 9**. Evolution of the central question (*top*) and the current conceptual framework for LTER7 (*right*). The central question of the Andrews Forest LTER is "How do climate, natural disturbance, and land use as controlled by forest governance interact with biodiversity, hydrology, and carbon and nutrient dynamics?" This broad question provides a conceptual framework for studying mountain ecosystems as a social-ecological system (biophysical processes, yellow boxes; social system, pink box), and for framing the system as a social-ecological system through links between values and perceptions, forest governance and land use (overlapping boxes). Long-term and new research in LTER7 continues to examine interactions among climate, natural disturbance, land-use, hydrology, carbon & nutrients, and biodiversity.

#### In LTER7 we have three goals:

**Goal I**: To understand the patterns, driving processes, and dynamics of atmospheric and hydrologic connectivity in mountainous ecosystems.

**Goal II**: To understand the consequences of the patterns, driving processes, and dynamics of biophysical connectivity for ecosystem processes and biotic communities.

**Goal III**: To understand connections between forest governance and landscape pattern and process, and the ways in which public perceptions and valuations of federal forest landscapes and LTER science influence those connections.

#### LTER7 (2014-2020)

Ecosystem

Services

Human

System




**Figure 10**. (a) Schematic diagram of forms of biophysical connectivity in the Andrews Forest landscape which we propose to study in LTER7, including airflows and air drainage in steep valleys and moisture flows and expanding and contracting stream networks (goal I); flows of organisms and nutrients in headwater streams, breeding bird movement among forest patches, and movement of pollinators among montane meadows (goal II). (b) Connectivity of flows of air, moisture, nutrients and organisms is influenced by spatial patchwork of vegetation as mapped from LiDAR in LTER6, including high biomass old-growth forests (blue), young forests (green), and very low biomass areas of early successional forest vegetation and montane meadows (yellow).



**Figure 11**. With changing climate, stream headwaters are expected to contract and lead to reduced connectivity of habitat for trout, which may then impact trophic connectivity through changes in food webs and instream productivity. Quantifying the tradeoffs and ecosystem impacts of shifts in top predators throughout large portions of the stream network is relevant for riparian forest harvest, which is determined by the presence or absence of fish.

**Table 1**. An argument includes a series of premises together with a conclusion (column 1): here using the example of biodiversity and early successional habitat. Analysis of an argument includes evaluating the inference (i.e., whether the conclusion follows logically from the set of premises, this argument is structured with appropriate inferences), and the truth of premises (evaluated by a community of relevant experts). Various kinds of premises (column 2) are required to make arguments about managing social-ecological systems. This particular argument includes ecological, and normative/ethical premises. Other arguments might include sociological, economic, historical, or other premises. The truth of a premise (column 3) is distinct from the controversy surrounding it (column 4).

1 - Argument	2 - Kind of Premise	3 - True/Appropriate?	4 - Controversial?
(P1) Adequate early successional habitat supports important biodiversity	Ecological	True	No
(P2) We ought to act to support important biodiversity	Ethical	Probably true in general	Not very
(C1) Therefore, we ought to maintain adequate early successional habitat			
(P3) We are currently lacking adequate early successional habitat	Ecological/ Normative	Supported by expert opinion, little empirical evidence	Unclear
(P4) Ecological forestry creates adequate early successional habitat	Ecological	Yes	Unclear
(C3) Therefore, we ought to engage in ecological forestry			



**Figure 12**. Examples of major elements of the larger Andrews Forest program linked with the Long-Term Ecological Research Program. Acronyms: OSU: Oregon State University; PNW: Pacific Northwest; USFS: US Forest Service; USGS: US Geological Survey; NASA: National Aeronautics and Space Administration; UNESCO: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; IGERT: NSF Integrative Graduate Education and Research Traineeship.

# 5.0 FACILITIES, EQUIPMENT, AND OTHER RESOURCES FOR THE ANDREWS FOREST LTER

# **RESEARCH AREA**

**HISTORICAL CONTEXT:** Since its establishment in 1948, the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest has been a site of major research contributions to the advancement of environmental science, management, policy, and education (Fig. 3). In 1980, the Andrews Forest became one of the first sites funded through NSF's Long-Term Ecological Research (LTER) Program. Today the Andrews Forest Program has grown into a multifaceted, interdisciplinary group of researchers from around the world with more than 85 research projects underway in any given year. LTER research continues to be the core of the Andrews Forest Program. Science and education activities at the forest are also funded by US Forest Service, NSF, NASA, EPA, US Geological Survey, and other agencies. Educational programs exist for all ages including K-12, undergraduate and graduate students, and continuing education for managers and public. Close working ties with US Forest Service natural resource managers enhance the science program, fuel numerous large-scale, applied studies, and facilitate application of research findings to natural resource management and policy.

UNIQUE ASPECTS OF THE ANDREWS FOREST SITE: Located at 44.2<sup>®</sup>N and 122.2<sup>°</sup>W, the Andrews Forest is in the western Cascade Range of Oregon (Fig. 1). The Andrews Forest is situated within the 6400 ha drainage basin of Lookout Creek, which drains to the McKenzie River. Elevation ranges from 410 m to 1630 m. Broadly representative of the rugged mountainous landscape of the Pacific Northwest, the Andrews Forest contains excellent examples of the region's conifer forests and associated wildlife and stream ecosystems. Lower elevation forests are dominated by Douglas-fir, western hemlock, and western red cedar. Upper elevation forests contain noble fir, Pacific silver fir, Douglas-fir, and western hemlock. Low- and mid-elevation forests in this area are among the tallest and most productive in the world. Cold, clear, fast flowing mountain streams are the primary type of aquatic ecosystem. When it was established in 1948, the Andrews Forest was covered with native conifer forest ranging in age from 120 to 450 years, as well as a network of small meadows and shrubfields at higher elevations. Since then, clearcutting and shelterwood cuttings over 30% of the Forest have created young conifer plantation forests varying in composition, stocking level, and age, Management experiments installed in and adjacent to the Andrews Forest over the last 15 years directly test the application of ecosystem and disturbance ecology to land management (see Other Resources-Ecosystem Management, below), and have created opportunities for LTER7 social science and landscape connectivity research. Old-growth forest stands with dominant trees over 500-year-old still cover about 40% of the area.

# PARTNERSHIPS AND SUPPORT

The Andrews Forest Program is managed cooperatively by Oregon State University (OSU), the Pacific Northwest Research Station (PNW) of the U.S. Forest Service, and the Willamette National Forest (Fig. 12), on which the Andrews Forest is located.

OSU and the College of Forestry (COF) leverage the LTER grant funding with support of two positions. The Forest Director (currently Mark Schulze, OSU) coordinates research at the site, leads tours and other educational activities, and supervises long-term environmental measurements and maintenance staff. The Forest Director oversees operation of the Forest and the facilities in collaboration with the PNW lead scientist for the Andrews Forest. COF also provides support for the LTER Program Coordinator (currently Lina DiGregorio, part-time OSU), who coordinates LTER program and grant activities. OSU provides support in terms of basic office facilities and grant oversight.

*The LTER grant*, managed through OSU, supports field technicians and information managers. A climate technician (currently John Moreau, LTER) is in charge of maintenance of climate equipment and related field data for the long-term climate program. A research assistant (currently Rob Pabst, funded through LTER and PNW) is in charge of the long-term vegetation study. A database and Information Manager (currently Suzanne Remillard, LTER) is housed at OSU and a data manager for streaming data (currently Adam Kennedy, LTER) is based on site at the Andrews Forest. The Schoolyard LTER coordinator (currently Kari O'Connell, part-time OSU position funded through LTER) oversees LTER Schoolyard activities and teacher programs including Research Experience for Teachers.

*The PNW* provides support for field technicians, information managers and a site manager. The Site Manager (currently Kathy Keable, PNW) is responsible for day-to-day operations of the Andrews Forest headquarters, for facilities reservations, for providing information to the many users of the headquarters, and serves as the safety officer on site. The maintenance staff on site (which includes a caretaker/maintenance worker, a custodian, and a summer maintenance assistant) is funded through a cost reimbursement agreement between the PNW and OSU. A hydrology technician (currently Greg Downing, PNW) manages the stream gaging and water chemistry program at the 10 experimental watersheds. Information management and technology activities are overseen by an Information Technology Specialist (currently Don Henshaw, PNW) and a Spatial Information Manager (currently Theresa Valentine, PNW). The PNW also funds the maintenance and improvements for the headquarters facilities at the Andrews Forest.

The Willamette National Forest (WNF) is primarily responsible for management of the forest property, including roads, trails, invasive species, and NEPA (National Environmental Policy Act) processes for research-related activities. A Science Liaison (currently Cheryl Friesen, WNF), works regularly with Andrews Forest Scientists to facilitate communication between managers and scientists, to find opportunities for scientists and managers to interact about new and emerging science issues, to plan regional workshops, to share applications of research findings to management strategies, and to plan joint experiments and demonstrations.

Management decisions concerning the Headquarters facilities as well as the Experimental Forest as a whole are made cooperatively by the Forest Director, the PNW Andrews Forest Scientist, the LTER Principal Investigator, and representatives from the WNF.

# **FACILITIES**

**THE ANDREWS FOREST HEADQUARTERS FACILITIES**: Headquarters facilities are used year-round for research, short courses, workshops, overnight field trips, retreats, etc. The facilities at the Headquarters comprise ~40,000 sq. ft. of offices, residences, conference hall, teaching lab, dining hall, storage facilities, shop, and other space. Wi-Fi is available throughout the Headquarters. The computer lab has eight workstations, internet access, printers, and direct LAN connections to OSU servers and networks. Five laboratories (watershed, vegetation, vertebrate, water chemistry, soils) are provided for scientist and student use in the office building. Each lab is equipped with basic equipment appropriate for the primary use, such as pH and conductivity meters, and fume hood in the watershed lab; microscopes, herbarium cabinet, and a refrigerator in the vegetation lab; a vacuum pump, bottles, graduated cylinders and fume hood in the water chemistry lab; and a muffle furnace, a drying oven, and a fume hood in the soils lab. A large laboratory-style classroom is equipped with microscopes, a TV/DVD, and a videoconferencing unit. The cafeteria has capacity for 80-plus users. Each year, average annual use of field station facilities is ~3500 user days plus more than 1500 students, researchers, managers and others who participate in tours, field classes, and meetings at the Andrews Forest.

Housing is available in 14 furnished apartments that range in size from 2-5 bedrooms. New in 2013, a NSF FSML-funded building, the GREENhouse, has three apartments that are available for long-term residents including sabbatical housing, visiting scholars, writers, and the Site Director. Total maximum overnight capacity at the Headquarters site is 80 people.

Field vehicles and machinery include a backhoe, pick-up trucks, snowcats, and snowmobiles. The staff operates a wood shop and small technology shop that serves as the center for equipment design and building maintenance.

#### LABORATORIES

*The Cooperative Chemical Analytical Laboratory (CCAL)* is a water chemistry laboratory operated by OOSU College of Forestry and the U.S. Forest Service PNW. CCAL was started in 1976 by Andrews Forest researchers to meet the need for a dedicated laboratory that would specialize in high quality, trace level analyses. CCAL provides precise and reliable analysis of aqueous constituents including ammonia, nitrate, nitrite, total nitrogen, orthophosphorus, total phosphorus, sulfate, chloride, organic carbon, inorganic carbon, pH, alkalinity, specific conductance, silica, sodium, potassium, calcium, magnesium, iron, silicon, manganese, dissolved solids, suspended sediment, and more. CCAL participates in Quality Assurance Programs in collaboration with USGS Standard Reference Water Survey Program, EPA

surface water chemistry criteria, and the National Water Research Institute's (NWRI) Environment Canada Proficiency Testing (PT) Program.

*NADP*. Andrews Forest has hosted a precipitation sampling station (OR10) for the National Atmospheric Deposition Program since 1980. Weekly wet deposition samples are collected and mailed to the NADP Central Analytical Laboratory housed at the Illinois State Water Survey for precipitation chemistry analysis. These data are publically available and used as baseline data for numerous biogeochemistry projects the Andrews Forest. The Andrews Forest has participated in the Mercury Deposition Network within NADP over the last 30 years, and has provided baseline information on concentrations over time. The NADP Central Laboratory reserves a portion of precipitation samples for future analysis, and occasionally conducts additional analyses, such as evaluating radioactive isotope deposition following the Fukushima disaster.

#### INFORMATION ACQUISITION AND MANAGEMENT

**Site communications equipment**: The computing facilities at the Andrews Forest headquarters consist of a local area network (LAN) with servers and workstations and wireless network. A T1 connection (1.5 Mbs) links the LAN with the internet and campus computer network through the OSU College of Forestry. The LAN includes a domain controller, application server, file server, web server, and backup server. Servers are mirrored onsite and to an OSU College of Forestry server on campus, with backups made daily to tape drives. Public workstations are located in the computer lab with additional computers available in offices. Computer software includes SAS, StatGraphics, S-Plus, and Microsoft Office. Full scanning, printing and plotting capabilities are available to lab users. The wireless network includes a series of access points and wireless bridges that allow connection through the headquarters compound including the classroom, conference room, office building, and apartment buildings. A high-precision GPS unit, laser range finder and rugged laptop are used extensively by researchers, students and staff to georeference research plots and archive locations of field sensors.

Automated data acquisition and wireless data transmission: Recent modernization of the wireless radio infrastructure (NSF FSML and LTER supplemental funding) has greatly increased the volume of data that can be transmitted from field to headquarters. This infrastructure has facilitated deployment of new ecological and meteorological sensors that generate large data files, such as phenocams, infrared cameras, and acoustic profilers.

Data from dataloggers are sent to headquarters hourly through a workstation equipped with Loggernet software and transferred to the OSU campus via T-1 line. Data are processed using Matlab GCE toolbox for initial QA/QC routines. Questionable data are flagged and metadata added, then uploaded to the Forest Sciences Databank for additional processing then published as provisional for 90 days. Provisional data and plots are uploaded hourly on the website to facilitate monitoring of stations and timely detection/prediction of significant or extreme hydrometeorological events. There has been significant investment in these automated QA procedures in recent years in order to provide high quality data as quickly as possible to researchers and the public.

**Data Management and Andrews Forest Data Archives**. Virtual servers for the website and associated databases (as well as shared disk space for Andrews Forest staff) are provided by the Computing Resources Group from the College of Forestry at OSU on the Corvallis campus. A full description of data management and archiving is detailed in the Data Management Plan.

**Digital Forest and GPS and Maps**. Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) flights of the Andrews Forest (2008) and upper Blue River (2011) watersheds have dramatically improved our geographical information system. The resulting products included bare earth and highest hit digital elevation models at one-meter resolution. These products were used to update the stream and road layers, slope and aspect grids, and provided vegetation height data. The raw LiDAR point cloud data was used to create biomass estimations (Fig. 10a), canopy point density metrics, and tree stem locations. In conjunction with the LiDAR processing we have undertaken extensive mapping of research sites using high-precision GPS units. LiDAR imagery and precise mapping of study sites have opened new opportunities for spatial analyses in a wide range of research areas including: geomorphology, landscape ecology and wildlife habitat characterization, carbon dynamics, ecosystem modeling, and atmospheric-topographic interactions. A new Andrews Forest research map was produced using the updated roads, streams, and administrative

features. The research map is available on-line and can be combined with other data to make customized field and project maps. The LiDAR data and associated products are available online.

## **OTHER RESOURCES**

#### INSTRUMENTED SITES AND LONG-TERM STUDY PLOTS

Data and metadata from climate stations, stream gages, long-term experiments and study plots are available online and to new and visiting scientists and students for use in research, novel collaborations, and education projects. These data and studies are a valuable resource to all researchers and public and we will present them in that light.

Climate Stations. The Andrews Forest Program operates one of the few climatic observing systems in the forests of the Pacific Northwest that has long periods of record (beginning 1956), high station density, and wide variations in topographic position and canopy cover. Four primary climate stations continuously measure air and soil temperature, precipitation, relative humidity, wind speed and direction, solar radiation, soil moisture, barometric pressure, snow depth, and snow water equivalence. Net radiometers, sonic anemometers, and snowmelt lysimeters are installed at a subset of the stations. Three secondary climate stations measure a smaller suite of parameters, including precipitation, and air temperature. In addition, 10 long-term (since 1970) sites for air and soil temperature are associated with long-term vegetation plots distributed throughout the Andrews Forest. Air temperature is also measured at the gages of each of the 10 experimental small watershed-gaging stations (described in next section). More recent research on cold-air drainage patterns and phenology have established more than 200 air temperature stations within Lookout Creek watershed, as well as 29 in the adjacent Blue River watershed. In addition to precipitation measured at all climate stations, precipitation is measured at two additional sites on the south-bounding ridge of the Andrews Forest and five in Blue River watershed. Precipitation is collected and chemistry analyzed at a low and medium elevation climate station. Climate data are collected year round at intervals of 5 to 60 minutes, depending on the sensor. Primary climate stations provide data in near real-time to Andrews Forest Headquarters and the World Wide Web (WWW) via wireless radios. The climate measurements and data management are staffed primarily through the LTER grant.

Hydrology: At the Andrews Forest, ten gaged watersheds have been used to study the long-term effects of forest harvest and management on water quality and quantity, through streamflow, sediment, stream chemistry, and vegetation since 1952. The gaged watersheds range in size from 10 – 6400 ha and are located across elevational gradients. Prior research in these watersheds has been very productive and provides a strong foundation of site-based information for current and future studies. Research topics have evolved from an early focus on water guality responses to silvicultural treatments to current innovative examinations of water, carbon, and nutrient fluxes in response to disturbances and vegetation succession. Stream gaging stations provide real time data to Andrews Forest Headquarters and the WWW via wireless radios. Stream stage height, stream temperature, and specific conductivity are measured continuously and stream chemistry is collected in proportion to streamflow at each gage. To facilitate extrapolation of snow monitoring data at climate stations to estimates of snow hydrology patterns across Lookout Creek watershed, a set of paired open-canopy and forest-understory snow stakes are distributed across elevation and topographic gradients. Data are openly available online and are used broadly by hydrology and ecology researchers, land managers and policy makers. The hydrology measurements and data management are staffed primarily by PNW and the costs of aquatic chemistry analyses are shared by LTER and PNW.

*Forest Dynamics, Disturbance, and Vegetation Plots.* Several long-term studies examine forest dynamics and disturbance processes. More than three-dozen one-hectare permanent vegetation plots within and around the Andrews Forest are regularly visited to survey forest changes in plant abundance, mortality, growth, and stores. These plots were established to provide typical examples of many major forest communities commonly found in Oregon's central western Cascade Mountains. Similar measurements are also undertaken in systematically placed 0.1 ha plots within eight of the gaged watershed within the Andrews Forest that provide insights into changes in water quantity and quality. In addition, the Andrews Forest LTER collaborates with PNW Research Sciences and the University of Washington, Washington State University, and University of Montana to maintain plot systems that represent many of the major forest types in the PNW (Acker et al. 1998). All these plot systems serve as resources for scientists of

many disciplines to understand forest dynamics and their underlying processes at multiple temporal and spatial scales (van Mantgem et al. 2009, Stephenson et al. 2014). These measurements and data management are supported through a combination of support from LTER, PNW, and other related research grants.

# Additional Research that leverages LTER Funding

The wide array of researchers involved in work at the Andrews Forest use a combination of their own resources in conjunction with data and infrastructure from the Andrews Forest Program. Andrews Forest LTER resources are extensively leveraged through these related research projects. In any given year, 50-60 research projects in addition to those funded by the LTER are active at the forest; below, we describe those that are long-term, cross-site or of particular interest to LTER7.

*Biogeochemistry*. A long-term soil experiment located at the Andrews Forest is the DIRT (Detrital Input and Removal Treatments) study. This research, which examines processes of soil organic formation, was established in 1997 as part of an international network of similar studies. The understanding of soil nutrient cycling and storage gained from this project helps inform nutrient budgets and productivity research conducted through the LTER program. The Andrews Forest participates in a second international program, the Nutrient Network, that examines the interacting effects of nutrients and herbivory in determining productivity of meadows and grasslands.

Andrews Forest researchers have been leading a cross-site LTER and Experimental Forest synthesis project to develop a stream chemistry database and to facilitate large-scale studies of trends in stream chemistry in relation to climate and land-use and implications for stream ecosystem function. This effort adds great value to ongoing stream chemistry measurements and readies the LTER Network for major advances across sites over the next several years.

*STREON.* The Andrews Forest will host the Stream Experimental Observatory Network (STREON) Northwest site, one of ten across the country, beginning in LTER7 (ca. 2016). In addition to monitoring of nutrient dynamics and ecological interactions within a control reach, the program will experimentally examine the effects of eutrophication and loss of large consumers on aquatic ecology and ecosystem function. This work will complement the larger scale observational and experimental studies of hydrologic connectivity, trophic interactions and nutrient budgets of headwater streams that are planned for LTER7.

*Ecosystem Management.* Through the Central Cascades Adaptive Management Partnership (CCAMP) the Andrews Forest continues its role as a regional and national leader in testing the application of ecosystem science to design of alternative resource management systems and to forest policy. A number of long-term ecosystem management experiments have been established through this partnership of federal land managers and Andrews Forest scientists.

Two long-term thinning experiments (Young Stand Thinning and Diversity; Uneven Aged Management) were established in the 1990s to evaluate the ecological, operational, social, and economic consequences of alternative methods for managing young forest plantations. Application of disturbance ecology to a landscape-scale strategy to accomplish the conservation and economic objectives of the Northwest Forest Plan is being tested through the Blue River Landscape Study. The approach adopted in this study is now the focus of proposed national legislation to regulate harvests of a portion of Bureau of Land Management lands in Oregon.

Restoration of meadow biodiversity and function in areas where conifer encroachment threatens the persistence of this ecosystem is examined through the Bunchgrass Ridge Restoration Project. While meadows account for less than 5% of the area in the Andrews Forest and surrounding Central Cascades, they are biodiversity hotspots and play a critical role in maintaining populations of species dependent on non-forest and early seral forest; many of the species have displayed dramatic population declines over the last decade as fire suppression, meadow encroachment and changes in federal forest management have changed the proportion and connectivity of open habitats no the federal landscape.

Baseline monitoring for an experimental study of riparian forest and stream restoration began in 2013, as did preparatory work for a demonstration of treatments to create early seral forest in 50-60-year-old timber plantations. This suite of experiments has played a key role in stimulating and informing adaptive management of federal lands, and will continue serve as a resource for public engagement and social science experiments planned in LTER7.

*Data Visualization*: Scientists (McKane, Bolte, and Thomas) conducting ecological research at the Andrews Forest are collaborating with computer scientists and social scientists on the NSF-funded VISTAS (Visualization of Terrestrial and Aquatic Systems) project. Together they are developing visual analytics software to visualize in an interactive, 3D environmental data at several spatial and temporal scales. VISTAS PIs hypothesize that spatially- and temporally-explicit visualization of ecosystem states, processes, and flows across topographically complex landscapes and under varying climatic conditions will enhance scientists' and other stakeholders' (e.g., resource managers and policy makers) capacity to comprehend relationships among ecological processes, ecosystem services and environmental conditions, and to pose testable hypotheses.

*Disturbance studies.* A longstanding emphasis on reconstructing fire and forest history (partially funded through LTER) has resulted in the accumulation of a tree-ring archive from thousands of trees spanning a history of 800 years. This resource will be used by several LTER7 investigations of climate and hydrologic connectivity influences on forest productivity, stress and disturbance.

*Site REU program.* The EcoInformatics Summer Institute (EISI) is an NSF-funded Site REU program that has provided interdisciplinary research training for students in ecology, mathematics and computer science since 2007. A number of student projects related to LTER have been conducted. Ongoing projects investigating plant-pollinator networks in meadows and the role of log jams in fish ecology are particularly relevant to new research planned in LTER7

Additional Phenology Research. Two research projects complement current and planned LTER research on phenology and trophic interactions by developing new sensors and analysis capabilities for monitoring plant phenology. An NSF-funded sensor development project is testing a budbreak sensor and the use of accelerometers to monitor plant phenology and biomass. USFS PNW researchers are using the STAR-FM blending algorithm for MODIS and LANDSAT images to track canopy phenology at large scales.

*Northern Spotted Owl Demography.* The first studies of spotted owl ecology and demography began at the Andrews Forest in the 1970s. The Andrews Forest is at the center of one of eight spotted owl demography study areas, in which spotted owl populations have been monitored in detail since 1980s. This research provides a long-term record of how climate variability, land-use and interspecific interactions (predator-prey dynamics and competition resulting form range expansion of congeneric barred owl) influence populations of an avian top predator in old-growth forests.

Arts and Humanities. Interdisciplinary inquiry at the Andrews Forest has expanded beyond biophysical and even social science to include the arts and humanities. Over the past decade writers and artists have begun a long-term study of the Andrews Forest as a place and a community through residencies. The Long-term Ecological Reflections program also brings writers, artists, philosophers, scientists and managers together to explore some of the critical questions of time, including climate change. A recent NSF synthesis grant will be tracking the arts and humanities programs that have appeared at over half of the LTER sites around the country. The Ecological Reflections program complements and will intersect with LTER7 research to increase the broader impacts of our investigation of governance and social connectivity, underscoring that science is but one of the necessary components for sound decisionmaking regarding conservation and sustainable development.

# 6.0 DATA MANAGEMENT PLAN

#### Introduction

The mission of Andrews Forest LTER Information Management is to ensure that all LTER research data will be archived and openly available for the future. The primary goals are to 1) preserve high-quality and well-documented data collections that are both secure and accessible, 2) serve the Andrews Forest and broader research community through the development and management of informational products and tools, and 3) provide leadership and participation in relevant committees and activities at both the site and LTER Network level.

### **Objectives**

- Assure preservation of high quality metadata and data products through the direction and maintenance of a long-term data repository that adheres to LTER standards and best practices and provides security through regular maintenance and backup procedures.
- Maintain and adhere to a Data Access Policy in compliance with LTER standards to assure that data and accompanying metadata are freely and publicly available electronically within two years of collection at both the local site and within the LTER Network Information System (NIS).
- Assure regular contributions of research data into the long-term data repository through strong integration of the IM Team with site science including 1) participation and regular reporting at site executive meetings and monthly meetings, 2) annual reviews of Information Management, and 3) regular interactions and trainings conducted with co-PIs and community members.
- Develop and maintain the Andrews Forest LTER web pages and associated user interfaces providing access to data and metadata, research publications, programs and projects, site and personnel information, education and outreach programs, community events, and other site information.
- Provide leadership to the LTER Network in the development of standards and best practices for the NIS and participation in community projects and systems that promote the discovery, use, and integration of LTER data, both within the network and throughout the broader research community.

# Information Management System

The Andrews Forest LTER Information Management Team (IM Team) has developed an information system (http://andrewsforest.oregonstate.edu/research/component.cfm?comp=infom&topnav=36) to support the collection, documentation, management, and archival of a rich and diverse collection of Andrews Forest LTER and other environmental data. The central component of the information system is the Forest Science Data Bank (FSDB), a long-term data repository initiated in 1983 (Stafford et al. 1984, 1988, Henshaw and Spycher 1998, Henshaw et al. 2002), which is supported by the Andrews Forest LTER in partnership with the US Forest Service Pacific Northwest Research Station (PNW) and the OSU College of Forestry (COF). The FSDB includes approximately 160 active LTER study databases including all "signature" data. Signature data refers to core Andrews Forest LTER databases including all key longterm and ongoing data collections (see Data Sets Table in Supplementary Documents). Ongoing longterm data sets such as meteorological station, stream gauging station, stream chemistry, fish population, permanent vegetation plot, and decomposition plot data are collectively managed by LTER PIs, staff and the IM Team. Workflow paths are established to assure data updates, guality control, and archival into the FSDB and the LTER NIS on a frequent basis. Data contributions from individual LTER PIs and graduate students require more specific planning and interaction between the PI and IM Team, and software tools are used to facilitate capture of these data. In addition to continuing updates of existing data, five new LTER study databases are added each year on average.

The FSDB features a highly-structured database that contains metadata content for all study databases including detailed entity (data table) and attribute (variable) descriptions. Metadata are established within a comprehensive SQL relational database that is tailored to accommodate all necessary elements within the Ecological Metadata Language (EML), the current LTER metadata standard. EML files are generated from a locally-developed, web-based computer program that maps elements from our relational metadata database into EML using style sheet transformation scripts. A similar program is used to map ESRI ArcGIS metadata from the federal FGDC spatial standard into EML descriptions of spatial entities. Recent

enhancements allow these programs to produce EML documents that adhere to LTER EML "best practice" recommendations and assure a standardized approach is followed for consistency with other LTER sites.

The LTER NIS consists of the LTER metadata catalog in the Metacat EML repository and PASTA, the recently developed central data archive for LTER. The Andrews Forest IM Team has deposited EML files for all on-line Andrews Forest LTER data into Metacat, and is actively depositing data with associated EML into PASTA. PASTA provides tools to evaluate all EML files to assure compliance with best practices and validates congruence between the metadata and data before uploading. The IM Team is using the requirement to upload data into PASTA as incentive to fine tune and improve metadata including attribute descriptions and study methods associated with each data set. This transition is over 50% complete and the remaining data sets are being archived into PASTA during 2014.

The IM team has focused on improving the efficiency needed to manage increasing volumes of data being collected by the LTER project. As the central metadata database contains all relevant study metadata, it conveniently serves as the driver for many generic applications that broadly apply to all data. For example, the EML-generating programs previously described assure that any changes to metadata content are instantly incorporated into new EML files. Additionally, FSDB data are stored in relational SQL database tables and a software application generates new text versions for public access when necessary. A data versioning system assures that all versions of both the EML metadata and described data are archived and that any new versions are immediately generated for public access. A web-based administrative interface allows any researcher associated with a study to enter and revise descriptive metadata for that data, relieving the information manager of this effort. A metadata-driven quality control system provides another example of an efficient software tool relying directly on the metadata database.

The metadata-driven quality control system consists of a set of procedures that provide generic data validation for any data set. A desktop control program uses relevant metadata to validate that the attributes for each table in a data set are properly described in the metadata. Problems are recorded in an error report and validation includes checks for illegal null values or duplicate records (entity integrity), checks against listed numeric ranges for extreme values and against enumerated domains for undefined codes (domain integrity), and special database rules that are pre-determined in discussion with the data set PI for individual data sets. The quality control system provides valuable data checks for researchers and students as well as helps prepare data for delivery into the LTER NIS central data archive (PASTA), which requires each data set pass a series of similar quality checks demanding exact congruence of the metadata with each data table.

Besides the efficiencies described by populating a single, separate database with all study metadata, the Andrews Forest IM Team also builds data structures that can be shared across multiple study sites and similar study data collections. For example, climate data from six benchmark meteorological stations are accessible through more than twenty tables organized by the type of measurement within one single database. These data table structures are also shared with other climate data sets to streamline processing and management. Similarly, data from several large, long-term vegetation growth and mortality studies are being reorganized into sharable structures. This is cost-effective and allows common programs for creation of field collection forms, data processing, and calculations of biomass and summary data for these collections. Efficiencies in management of climate and vegetation data are essential given their time-consuming nature and inherent complications in properly documenting and processing. Analogously, increasing volumes of streaming sensor data require standardized approaches in data management.

**CYBERINFRASTRUCTURE:** In the LTER6 proposal, we identified the need to increase cyberinfrastructure capacity as a future challenge at our site. We have made significant advancements in developing our "cyber forest," a comprehensive communication system for our sensor networks that stream data over the 6400 ha, high-relief (1200 m) landscape (Henshaw et al. 2008). Wireless communication capabilities within the forest are vastly improved with new towers and high-bandwidth radios. Increasingly, data are collected and transmitted using radio telemetry to stream high-temporal resolution data to the Andrews Forest Headquarters. Standard naming conventions across hydrometeorological data sets are employed on more than 60 data loggers to improve data management efficiency. The GCE Data Toolbox in Matlab has been adopted and now provides web access to provisional data with near real-time graphics of streaming data. A quality control (QC) system for streaming data is under development and will pre-

screen data and assign flags to qualify potential errors. Problem data will be more quickly identified and alerts posted as problems occur, assuring faster delivery of final data products for public access and improving user confidence in these data streams. Andrews Forest personnel are working with the broader community to develop best practices for managing streaming sensor data (Campbell et al. 2013).

Web page development has been an important activity for the site as it acts as an organizational framework for the display of research products and is a primary source of site information for both local and broader research community users. Andrews Forest LTER personnel maintain and update extensive web pages describing the Andrews Forest, ongoing LTER and collaborative research, personnel, site data sets and associated metadata, publication lists with links to scanned documents, education and outreach, and other current events and activities. All site web pages are written dynamically with web integration software taking advantage of metadata tables that describe content, page templates and navigation bars. A web site search engine is employed and various interfaces permit additional searching for data and publications using either simple search strings or established relations with researcher, place or theme keywords. Social media (Facebook, Twitter, RS feed) have been incorporated into the web presence. Google Analytics software has been added to the web pages to track visitor numbers, user access flow, and highly trafficked pages.

### Integration of Information Management with Site Science:

Information Management continues to be an important and unifying theme at the Andrews Forest LTER and the availability of long-term data provides incentive for researchers to conduct further research at the site. A representative from the IM Team serves as a regular member of the Andrews Forest LTER Executive Committee and participates in new proposal planning. The IM Team works with site leadership in establishing priority and inventory lists of all LTER data. Contributions of data are required when any LTER funding is involved and expected for all approved site research projects. Individual consultations with PIs and graduate students begin with study and database design and are common through the data collection, quality control processing, and archival of the data. Researchers understand the value of curating data sets in the long-term data repository, and the importance of early interaction of the IM Team with new research efforts has been identified over several funding cycles (Stafford 1993).

The IM Team facilitates the collection of general metadata and provides a web page describing the data submission process. IM training workshops for LTER graduate students and researchers are conducted annually as a means of assuring data contributions and providing IM education. Metadata writing "parties," where PIs are assembled together and collectively use software tools under Information Manager guidance, have proven to be effective in collecting and improving data set titles, abstracts, methods and other study metadata. Additionally, the IM Team is developing dynamic systems for capturing and assuring quality of streaming data from environmental sensors.

# Data Access Policy:

The Andrews Forest data access policy (*http://andrewsforest.oregonstate.edu/data/access.cfm?topnav=98*) is compliant with the LTER Network data policy (*http://www.lternet.edu/data/netpolicy.html*) and includes three sections: the release policy for data products, user registration requirements for accessing data, and the licensing agreement specifying conditions for data use.

Highlights include specification that data and information derived from publicly funded research in the Andrews Experimental Forest will be made available online within two years of collection. Andrews Forest LTER scientists make every effort to release data in a timely fashion and with attention to accurate and complete metadata. Databases will be available on-line through the Andrews Forest website and the LTER NIS. Some data will be restricted due to institutional or legal requirements of the owner, but these occurrences are exceptional and the access constraints are documented.

While the intention of the Andrews Forest LTER policy is to promote maximum availability for ecological data, resource constraints have led to establishing criteria for prioritizing data for release. Primary observations collected for core research activities directly supported by LTER funding receive the highest priority for data release. Data collected with partial LTER support or where the LTER program has added value to resulting data products will also receive high priority for release. Other types of data including

student thesis data, schoolyard LTER data, or non-LTER data that was acquired for LTER research may be ranked at a lower priority. Legacy data will be released as resources become available.

**DOWNLOADS:** A registration and tracking system has been employed since 2003 to document data downloads from the site web pages. While the mandatory requirement for one-time user registration is being relaxed to optional, the tracking of data table downloads will continue and has been very useful in identifying the data receiving the most use. Currently, 160 LTER databases are online representing 950 tables or spatial entities, and nearly half are long-term collections of at least 10 year duration.

Table IM\_1. Downloads of Andrews Forest LTER 2003-2012. Increasing numbers of data downloads are likely due to improved data access and greater demand for this data; the increase may also reflect increasing numbers of online data tables. IM Team downloads for routine checking and testing are excluded, and the number of online databases is approximated for each two-year period.

Research Area	Number of Downloads of LTER Data Tables					
	2003-2004	2005-2006	2007-2008	2009-2010	2011-2012	Total
Climate	450	820	1130	1503	1206	5109
Hydrology	349	620	775	951	1446	4141
Vegetation	315	465	262	655	527	2224
Carbon/Nutrients	210	295	280	278	417	1480
Biodiversity	217	220	224	347	302	1310
Soils	159	170	143	203	196	871
Disturbance	57	200	135	163	276	831
Stream-Forest	48	36	91	116	177	468
Total Downloads	1805	2825	3040	4215	4550	16,435
LTER Databases online	110	125	140	150	160	

# Information Management Resources

Information Management (IM) is an essential component of the Andrews Forest LTER program and benefits from institutional partnerships with the Oregon State University College of Forestry (COF) and the USFS Pacific Northwest Research Station (PNW). The LTER grant funds two full-time IM positions, including a data manager and a systems administrator. The Andrews Forest IM team benefits through long-term and continued support provided by the US Forest Service for two additional positions.

The current Andrews Forest LTER Information Management Team is composed of the following individuals: Don Henshaw (*IM Team Leader*, PNW, 1978-Present), Suzanne Remillard (*Database/Web Developer*, LTER, 2000-Present), Theresa Valentine (*GIS Specialist*, PNW, 1999-Present), Adam Kennedy (*System Administrator/Wireless Communications*, LTER, 2011-Present), Hans Luh (*Programmer*, LTER, .25 FTE 2011-Present). Henshaw and Valentine hold permanent PNW positions with a primary focus on Andrews Forest LTER activities. Remillard and Kennedy are OSU employees funded through the LTER grant. Remillard is dedicated to LTER database and web development at the university site, and Kennedy is responsible for Andrews Forest on-site system administration and communication networks including the Local Area Network (LAN), local web server, wireless LAN, and radio telemetry for wireless sensors. Luh has been funded part-time through LTER supplemental grants for specific application development, but support will continue into the future through LTER base funding. Two field technicians (one from PNW, one from LTER) serve IM roles in supporting data loggers and field computers used in routine data collection, describing methods and providing data.

The Andrews Forest LTER has agreements with COF for computer system administration, backup of production servers, and other information technology services including system administration support for LTER campus computer servers, production and development web servers (IIS and LINUX), production and development database servers (MS SQLServer), shared file server directories, and two tape backup servers. The COF description of network systems has additional information on services and backup policies (*http://helpdesk.forestry.oregonstate.edu/about-our-network*).

# LTER Network-Level Participation:

The Andrews Forest IM Team serves key roles at the LTER Network level with Henshaw (IM Executive Committee co-Chair, 2009-2012), Valentine (chair GIS subcommittee, 2003-2010, LTER Spatial Data and Analysis Committee, 2009-present), and Remillard (IM Executive Committee, 2008-2011, NIS Advisory Committee (NISAC), co-IM Chair of NISAC, 2012-Present). The IM Team also assures participation in network-wide administrative databases (PersonneIDB, All-site Bibliography, SiteDB) and were the lead developers in the ClimDB/HydroDB synthetic research database (Henshaw et al. 1997, 2006)

As LTER Network standards and best practices have been developed and incorporated into the LTER NIS, the Andrews Forest information management system has been modified to comply with accepted NIS standards. Metadata best practices for EML, the unit dictionary, webpage recommendations, and the network-developed IM review criteria have all shaped the evolution of the Andrews Forest system. The Andrews Forest IM Team, both currently and historically, have played strong leadership roles in the development of these standards (Michener et al. 1997, 1998, Baker et al. 2000, Brunt et al. 2005).

Milestones and deliverable products for LTER 7:				
Table IM_2. Ongoing annual work activities, the completion of two major ongoing projects and the				
development of new databases are planned. Milestones include intensive evaluation of progress, priority				

setting and specific data/web enhancements every third year.

Year of grant cycle	Milestone / Deliverable product
Annually	Update and archive of all ongoing LTER signature data and metadata; update study data and metadata for individual LTER researcher collections; post all LTER data on the site webpage and deposit into the LTER NIS
	Update personnel, publication databases, research activities, site events and other site information on the site webpage
	Conduct internal site review of data management activities and prioritize development of LTER data sets for depositing in the LTER NIS; conduct IM training on data submission procedures and policies for the LTER community
	Participate in the annual IM Committee meeting, related video teleconferences and committee activities; synchronize local with network databases
Year 1	Complete development of QC system for streaming sensor data to allow for 1) near real-time posting and access of telemetry data on the site webpage and 2) annual deposition into the LTER NIS. Post all LTER data from previous LTER Grant on site webpage and deposit into the LTER NIS.
Year 2	Complete reorganization of data structures and processing code for vegetation growth and mortality data to allow timely posting on the site webpage and deposition into the LTER NIS
Year 3	Identify and design metadata and data structures for new grant data collections, post Year 1 data on the site webpage and deposit into the LTER NIS; review priorities for information product delivery and make necessary updates and enhancements to the site webpage in preparation for mid-term review
Year 6	Assure update, archival, web posting and depositing into the LTER NIS for any LTER-funded data set collected within the grant cycle; preparations for renewal

# 7.0 PROJECT MANAGEMENT PLAN

**INSTITUTIONAL PARTNERSHIP**. The overall Andrews Forest Program is administered cooperatively by Oregon State University (OSU), the US Forest Service Pacific Northwest Research Station (PNW), and the Willamette National Forest (WNF) (Fig. 12). The Andrews Forest Program includes research and education activities funded by the Andrews Forest LTER, the USFS Pacific Northwest Research Station, and other grants that occur at the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest. A highly collaborative relationship exists between the three institutions. Individuals from each institution play critical roles in the program and each institution contributes importantly to research, education, and maintenance of the Andrews Forest Program. This partnership results in more students, technical staff, and information managers than would be possible with LTER funding alone.

**RESEARCH COMMUNITY**. The Andrews Forest LTER program brings together interdisciplinary groups of researchers from a variety of institutions and agencies. Our immediate community (see Senior Personnel biosketches) includes faculty and researchers from OSU, US Forest Service PNW, EPA Western Ecology Division, University of Oregon, University of Michigan, and University of Washington.

**MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY**. While the Andrews Forest LTER program is the highly visible focal point for a wealth of research and educational activities, the Andrews Forest is also a USFS Experimental Forest and a UNESCO Man and the Biosphere Reserve. In keeping with those varied designations, we consider and manage the Andrews Forest as a regional, national, and international research and educational resource. The open sharing of data from ongoing and long-term studies—funded by LTER and USFS PNW—provides a platform that attracts broad interest, encourages new studies, and results in the significant leveraging of research dollars in innovative ways.

**PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION**. As Lead PI, Michael P. Nelson is responsible for project administration, site representation in the LTER Science Council, and coordination of the Andrews Forest LTER Executive Committee (EC) (Fig. PMP\_1). The EC is composed of researchers from multiple disciplines, as well as from the partner institutions of OSU and PNW. The committee is chaired by the Lead PI (Nelson) and includes four signatory co-PIs (Johnson, Jones, Gosnell, and Betts). Also serving on the EC is the Andrews Forest Director (Schulze) and the lead of the Information Management Team (Henshaw). A researcher from the list of Senior Personnel serves on the EC as a rotating member, to allow newer scientists access to leadership experience and to provide new perspectives and expertise to the EC. The EC governs the Andrews Forest LTER program with input from the broader Andrews Forest science community. EC members are responsible for financial and research decisions, inter-site collaborations, and data management policies. The EC meets monthly or more frequently as needed.

Staffing for the Andrews Forest LTER program is described in the "Site Administration and Staffing" section of the *Facilities, Equipment, and Other Resources for the Andrews Forest LTER* section of this proposal. Both OSU and PNW partners have agreed to provide critical staffing resources.

#### FUNDING AND RESEARCH DECISIONS

*Funding Decisions*: Decisions about funding are made at multiple levels: the EC, and specifically the Signatory PIs, are responsible for final decisions; the broader group of EC and Senior Personnel provide input for major decisions. During years 1–4 of LTER6, we invested 20% of the LTER budget on long-term studies, 20% on information management, and 27% on integrative science activities particular to the current grant cycle (the remaining investments went toward graduate student support, program support, and covered indirect expenses). We anticipate a similar investment allocation in LTER7. In addition to funding long-term studies, a long-standing tradition of the Andrews Forest program is to invest core LTER strategically in activities, infrastructure, faculty, students, and products toward current LTER goals and objectives. Investment decisions are made through review of proposals submitted by the broader Andrews Forest research community and through discussions by the EC.

*Research Decisions*: The broader Andrews Forest research community, with coordination and guidance by the Andrews Forest LTER EC, creates research directions for the Andrews Forest LTER program. Proposals for new research at the site are submitted through an on-line system, are reviewed by the Forest Director and others in the Andrews Forest science community for compatibility with existing and prospective research, and are conducted under the Andrews Forest research guidelines. An annual meeting of all LTER PIs and senior personnel is convened to review progress on LTER research, to report on past and future spending, and to discuss research opportunities. This management style, based on transparency and distributed leadership, has served the Andrews Forest LTER well over its history, and is expected to continue to be productive in the future.

**ADVISORY GROUPS**. The Andrews Forest LTER has several Advisory Groups (Fig. PMP\_1). A local Partners Group facilitates communication among LTER PIs and Deans of OSU Colleges, the Station Director and Line Officers of PNW, and the Forest Supervisor and Science Liaison from the WNF. The EC meets with this group approximately once a year to discuss common goals, new directions, funding possibilities, and outreach efforts. The LTER External Advisory Committee pulls in national experts to provide broad input and guidance on research directions as well as financial, institutional, and tactical perspectives.

**COMMUNICATIONS.** Communication is facilitated through general Andrews Forest Program monthly meetings, regular EC meetings, meetings of disciplinary groups, tours and field visits for various visitors and groups, and annual large group events. Monthly meetings are open to all and cover business (e.g., site administration, data management, events planning, graduate student activities, and proposed research projects) and a science hour with an invited presentation and discussion by an Andrews Forest LTER, campus, or visiting scholar. Notes of monthly meetings are posted on the Andrews Forest webpage. We host annual events that provide colleagues a variety of accessible introductions to the Andrews Forest community. Our annual symposium is a full-day event on the OSU campus featuring oral presentations, a group lunch, and a poster session that highlights current Andrews Forest LTER research. Graduate students are especially encouraged to share their study plans or findings. An annual public field day, HJA Day, introduces researchers, students, partners, and visitors to the site, to one another, and to the current program of work. The field day draws between 120-140 people annually and features stations at the headquarters focused on large themes of our work and afternoon field trips where researchers create interactive activities that provide a sense of the their field work and findings. Our website (http://andrewsforest.oregonstate.edu) is an important means of communication to our research community and beyond. Our semi-annual Andrews Forest Newsletter reaches >900 subscribers.

**INTEGRATING NON-LTER SCIENTISTS INTO RESEARCH ACTIVITIES.** The long history of research at the Andrews Forest, and the NSF-funded LTER Network that links with researchers at other sites around the country and world, makes the Andrews Forest an attractive place to conduct research. We actively integrate non-LTER scientists into our program through collaborative projects and efforts that leverage the Andrews Forest and/or LTER resources. Because of the strong partnership between OSU and PNW, and because of OSU's proximity to EPA and USGS labs, we have close and productive collaborations with federal and university scientists. Non-LTER scientists are integrated into the planning and activities of the site through regular group meetings and events, and through shared resources.

**RECRUITMENT OF NEW SCIENTISTS TO THE PROJECT.** Recognizing that the success of our program requires a large, diverse, and collaborative group of participants, we actively encourage researchers at various career stages at OSU and other institutions and agencies to participate in the Andrews Forest LTER program, to initiate research that involves the Andrews Forest site, and to utilize Andrews Forest data. In response to our 2011 midterm review, we created, and shared with NSF, a mentoring plan that laid out a clear and comprehensive strategy for 1) recruiting and supporting new researchers to participate in the Andrews Forest LTER program and, 2) encouraging and mentoring early- and midcareer researchers to become future leaders of the Andrews Forest LTER. Since that time we have enthusiastically implemented that plan; including offering multiple opportunities and events that allow potential participants to learn about the program, making individual connections, providing seed money to start new projects, REU funding, sharing LTER technician time, GRA positions, and encouraging and assisting in the development of new proposals to expand funding to support a wider community of researchers. As we seek out and meet individually with new researchers and scholars, we highlight the long-term nature of studies that are useful in providing background or foundational information for new investigations and discuss the open availability of LTER data. Our events, field tours, and classes provide an introduction to research at the Andrews Forest and are successful outreach tools to local, regional, or distant researchers.

**EFFORTS TO INCREASE DIVERSITY AMONG SITE PARTICIPANTS**. We promote diversity at our LTER by being welcoming to all and through active recruitment and support of researchers, educators, faculty and students from underrepresented populations. We advertise graduate and REU positions broadly and

target sites that provide connections to minority and underrepresented groups. Our RET, Canopy Connections, and LTER schoolyard programs work closely with teachers from schools with diverse demographies. Female scientists fill key leadership positions at the Andrews Forest (e.g., in LTER7, 3 of the 5 signatory PIs are female). The training of diverse students as future scientists and professors is an important function of the Andrews Forest Program, providing a multicultural perspective to the LTER science community. We will continue to attract and retain diversity among site participants by strategic recruitment of new members and through research investments of LTER funds.

CONTINUITY OF LEADERSHIP AND SUCCESSION PLANNING. An LTER program must plan for changes while maintaining continuity. Our lead PI has traditionally served for a 6-9 year term as Lead and then continued as a signatory co-PI. In 2012 Michael P. Nelson took over as lead PI from Barbara Bond. Bond took over from Mark Harmon in 2006. Harmon had served as lead PI since 1999 (signatory co-PI or lead LTER3-6), when he took over from Fred Swanson. Swanson served as signatory co-PI or Lead during LTER2-5; he retired from PNW in 2012 and continues to be active in research and outreach with the program. Johnson and Jones are continuing as signatory co-PIs, having served in that capacity since LTER 5. Harmon and Tom Spies will be retiring in the next few years and have stepped down as signatory co-PIs, though both plan to stay closely involved as researchers. Forest ecologist Matthew Betts, who has been engaged in LTER research at the Andrews Forest since the beginning of LTER6, will be a new signatory co-PI. Betts' expertise is in landscape ecology, phenology, and pollinator networks. Our commitment to social science is reflected by the addition of Hannah Gosnell as a new signatory co-PI. Gosnell, who also worked on LTER6, brings expertise in environmental governance to our group. We are beginning to plan for the next lead PI to follow Nelson, by looking both inside and outside our current LTER group. Several promising young OSU faculty are being encouraged to become involved in leadership roles in LTER. We expect to have continued seamless transitions in leadership.



Figure PMP\_1. Organizational structure of the administration, leadership, and staffing of the Andrews Forest Program, showing LTER leadership and co-funding of staff. The College of Forestry (COF) at Oregon State University (OSU) and the Pacific Northwest Research Station (PNW) support personnel that fill collaborative roles throughout our program. Connecting lines denote oversight, advice, and other forms of cooperative effort, rather than supervision. Graduate student numbers are shown as the average number per year supported by LTER and LTER-related funding.

## **REFERENCES CITED**

- Abatzoglou, J. T., D. E. Rupp, and P. W. Mote. 2013. Seasonal climate variability and change in the Pacific Northwest of the United States. Journal of Climate 27:2125–2142. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-13-00218.1.
- Abdelnour, A. G. 2011. Assessing ecosystem response to natural and anthropogenic disturbances using an eco-hydrological model. Ph.D. Dissertation, Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA.
- Abdelnour, A., R. B. McKane, M. Stieglitz, F. Pan, and Y. Cheng. 2013. Effects of harvest on carbon and nitrogen dynamics in a Pacific Northwest forest catchment. Water Resources Research 49:1292– 1313. doi: 10.1029/2012WR012994.
- Abdelnour, A., M. Stieglitz, F. Pan, and R. McKane. 2011. Catchment hydrological responses to forest harvest amount and spatial pattern. Water Resources Research 47:W09521. doi: 10.1029/2010WR010165.
- Acker, S. A., W. A. McKee, M. E. Harmon, and J. F. Franklin. 1998. Long-term research on forest dynamics in the Pacific Northwest: a network of permanent forest plots. Pages 93–106 *in* F. Dallmeier and J. A. Comiskey, editors. Forest Biodiversity in North, Central and South America, and the Caribbean Research and Monitoring. The Parthenon Publishing Group Inc., New York.
- Adler, P. B., E. W. Seabloom, E. T. Borer, H. Hillebrand, Y. Hautier, A. Hector, W. S. Harpole, L. R. O'Halloran, J. B. Grace, T. M. Anderson, J. D. Bakker, L. A. Biederman, C. S. Brown, Y. M. Buckley, L. B. Calabrese, C.-J. Chu, E. E. Cleland, S. L. Collins, K. L. Cottingham, M. J. Crawley, E. I. Damschen, K. F. Davies, N. M. DeCrappeo, P. A. Fay, J. Firn, P. Frater, E. I. Gasarch, D. S. Gruner, N. Hagenah, J. H. R. Lambers, H. Humphries, V. L. Jin, A. D. Kay, K. P. Kirkman, J. A. Klein, J. M. H. Knops, K. J. L. Pierre, J. G. Lambrinos, W. Li, A. S. MacDougall, R. L. McCulley, B. A. Melbourne, C. E. Mitchell, J. L. Moore, J. W. Morgan, B. Mortensen, J. L. Orrock, S. M. Prober, D. A. Pyke, A. C. Risch, M. Schuetz, M. D. Smith, C. J. Stevens, L. L. Sullivan, G. Wang, P. D. Wragg, J. P. Wright, and L. H. Yang. 2011. Productivity is a poor predictor of plant species richness. Science 333:1750–1753. doi: 10.1126/science.1204498.
- Aligica, P. D. 2006. Institutional and stakeholder mapping: Frameworks for policy analysis and institutional change. Public Organization Review 6:79–90. doi: 10.1007/s11115-006-6833-0.
- Allen, C. D., A. K. Macalady, H. Chenchouni, D. Bachelet, N. McDowell, M. Vennetier, T. Kitzberger, A. Rigling, D. D. Breshears, E. H. (Ted) Hogg, P. Gonzalez, R. Fensham, Z. Zhang, J. Castro, N. Demidova, J.-H. Lim, G. Allard, S. W. Running, A. Semerci, and N. Cobb. 2010. A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. Forest Ecology and Management 259:660–684. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2009.09.001.
- Argerich, A., R. Haggerty, E. Martí, F. Sabater, and J. Zarnetske. 2011. Quantification of metabolically active transient storage (MATS) in two reaches with contrasting transient storage and ecosystem respiration. Journal of Geophysical Research 116. doi: 10.1029/2010JG001379.
- Argerich, A., S. L. Johnson, and L. R. Ashkenas. in review. Contribution of a small headwater stream to the carbon cycle. Special issue of Earth Surface Processes and Landforms.
- Argerich, A., S. L. Johnson, S. D. Sebestyen, C. C. Rhoades, E. Greathouse, J. D. Knoepp, M. B. Adams, G. E. Likens, J. L. Campbell, W. H. McDowell, F. N. Scatena, and G. G. Ice. 2013. Trends in stream nitrogen concentrations for forested reference catchments across the USA. Environmental Research Letters 8. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014039.
- Arismendi, I., S. L. Johnson, J. B. Dunham, and R. Haggerty. 2013a. Descriptors of natural thermal regimes in streams and their responsiveness to change in the Pacific Northwest of North America. Freshwater Biology 58:880–894. doi: 10.1111/fwb.12094.
- Arismendi, I., S. L. Johnson, J. B. Dunham, R. Haggerty, and D. Hockman-Wert. 2012. The paradox of cooling streams in a warming world: Regional climate trends do not parallel variable local trends

in stream temperature in the Pacific continental United States: Recent trends in stream temperatures. Geophysical Research Letters 39. doi: 10.1029/2012GL051448.

- Arismendi, I., M. Safeeq, S. L. Johnson, J. B. Dunham, and R. Haggerty. 2013b. Increasing synchrony of high temperature and low flow in western North American streams: double trouble for coldwater biota? Hydrobiologia 712:61–70. doi: 10.1007/s10750-012-1327-2.
- Ashcroft, M. B., L. A. Chisholm, and K. O. French. 2009. Climate change at the landscape scale: predicting fine-grained spatial heterogeneity in warming and potential refugia for vegetation. Global Change Biology 15:656–667. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01762.x.
- Ashcroft, M. B., and J. R. Gollan. 2013. Moisture, thermal inertia, and the spatial distributions of nearsurface soil and air temperatures: Understanding factors that promote microrefugia. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 176:77–89. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.03.008.
- Baker, J. P., D. W. Hulse, S. V. Gregory, D. White, J. Van Sickle, P. A. Berger, D. Dole, and N. H. Schumaker. 2004. Alternative futures for the Willamette River basin, Oregon. Ecological Applications 14:313–324. doi: 10.1890/02-5011.
- Baker, K. S., B. J. Benson, D. L. Henshaw, D. Blodgett, J. H. Porter, and S. G. Stafford. 2000. Evolution of a multisite network information system: The LTER information management paradigm. BioScience 50:963–978. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0963:EOAMNI]2.0.CO;2.
- Banks, J. L., J. Li, and A. T. Herlihy. 2007. Influence of clearcut logging, flow duration, and season on emergent aquatic insects in headwater streams of the Central Oregon Coast Range. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 26:620–632. doi: 10.1899/06-104.1.
- Barnard, H. R. 2009. Inter-relationships of vegetation, hydrology and micro-climate in a young, Douglas-fir forest. Ph.D. Dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Barnard, H. R., C. B. Graham, W. J. Van Verseveld, J. R. Brooks, B. J. Bond, and J. J. McDonnell. 2010. Mechanistic assessment of hillslope transpiration controls of diel subsurface flow: a steady-state irrigation approach. Ecohydrology 3:133–142. doi: 10.1002/eco.114.
- Barnett, T. P., D. W. Pierce, H. G. Hidalgo, C. Bonfils, B. D. Santer, T. Das, G. Bala, A. W. Wood, T. Nozawa, A. A. Mirin, D. R. Cayan, and M. D. Dettinger. 2008. Human-induced changes in the hydrology of the western United States. Science 319:1080–1083. doi: 10.1126/science.1152538.
- Bélisle, M. 2005. Measuring landscape connectivity: The challenge of behavioral landscape ecology. Ecology 86:1988–1995. doi: 10.1890/04-0923.
- Berger, A. M., and R. E. Gresswell. 2009. Factors influencing coastal cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii) seasonal survival rates: a spatially continuous approach within stream networks. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 66:613–632. doi: 10.1139/F09-029.
- Bernot, M. J., D. J. Sobota, R. O. Hall, P. J. Mulholland, W. K. Dodds, J. R. Webster, J. L. Tank, L. R. Ashkenas, L. W. Cooper, C. N. Dahm, S. V. Gregory, N. B. Grimm, S. K. Hamilton, S. L. Johnson, W. H. Mcdowell, J. L. Meyer, B. Peterson, G. C. Poole, H. M. Valett, C. Arango, J. J. Beaulieu, A. J. Burgin, C. Crenshaw, A. M. Helton, L. Johnson, J. Merriam, B. R. Niederlehner, J. M. O'brien, J. D. Potter, R. W. Sheibley, S. M. Thomas, and K. Wilson. 2010. Inter-regional comparison of land-use effects on stream metabolism. Freshwater Biology 55:1874–1890. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02422.x.
- Betts, M. G., J. C. Hagar, J. W. Rivers, J. D. Alexander, K. McGarigal, and B. C. McComb. 2010. Thresholds in forest bird occurrence as a function of the amount of early-seral broadleaf forest at landscape scales. Ecological Applications 20:2116–2130. doi: 10.1890/09-1305.1.
- Betts, M. G., N. L. Rodenhouse, T. Scott Sillett, P. J. Doran, and R. T. Holmes. 2008. Dynamic occupancy models reveal within-breeding season movement up a habitat quality gradient by a migratory songbird. Ecography 31:592–600. doi: 10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.05490.x.

- Betts, M. G., J. Verschuyl, J. Giovanini, T. Stokely, and A. J. Kroll. 2013. Initial experimental effects of intensive forest management on avian abundance. Forest Ecology and Management 310:1036– 1044. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2013.06.022.
- Beven, K. 2006. A manifesto for the equifinality thesis. Journal of Hydrology 320:18–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.07.007.
- Beven, K., and A. Binley. 1992. The future of distributed models: Model calibration and uncertainty prediction. Hydrological Processes 6:279–298. doi: 10.1002/hyp.3360060305.
- Beven, K., and J. Freer. 2001. Equifinality, data assimilation, and uncertainty estimation in mechanistic modelling of complex environmental systems using the GLUE methodology. Journal of Hydrology 249:11–29. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1694(01)00421-8.
- Bodin, Ö., B. Crona, and H. Ernstson. 2006. Social networks in natural resource management: What is there to learn from a structural perspective? Ecology and Society 11.
- Bodin, Ö., and C. Prell. 2011. Social Networks and Natural Resource Management: Uncovering the Social Fabric of Environmental Governance. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Bond, B. J., J. A. Jones, G. Moore, N. Phillips, D. Post, and J. J. McDonnell. 2002. The zone of vegetation influence on baseflow revealed by diel patterns of streamflow and vegetation water use in a headwater basin. Hydrological Processes 16:1671–1677. doi: 10.1002/hyp.5022.
- Bone, C., B. Johnson, M. Nielsen-Pincus, E. Sproles, and J. Bolte. 2013. A temporal variant-invariant validation approach for agent-based models of landscape dynamics. Transactions in GIS. doi: 10.1111/tgis.12016.
- Borer, E. T., E. W. Seabloom, D. S. Gruner, W. S. Harpole, H. Hillebrand, E. M. Lind, P. B. Adler, J. Alberti, T. M. Anderson, J. D. Bakker, L. Biederman, D. Blumenthal, C. S. Brown, L. A. Brudvig, Y. M. Buckley, M. Cadotte, C. Chu, E. E. Cleland, M. J. Crawley, P. Daleo, E. I. Damschen, K. F. Davies, N. M. DeCrappeo, G. Du, J. Firn, Y. Hautier, R. W. Heckman, A. Hector, J. HilleRisLambers, O. Iribarne, J. A. Klein, J. M. H. Knops, K. J. La Pierre, A. D. B. Leakey, W. Li, A. S. MacDougall, R. L. McCulley, B. A. Melbourne, C. E. Mitchell, J. L. Moore, B. Mortensen, L. R. O'Halloran, J. L. Orrock, J. Pascual, S. M. Prober, D. A. Pyke, A. C. Risch, M. Schuetz, M. D. Smith, C. J. Stevens, L. L. Sullivan, R. J. Williams, P. D. Wragg, J. P. Wright, and L. H. Yang. 2014. Herbivores and nutrients control grassland plant diversity via light limitation. Nature. doi: 10.1038/nature13144.
- Both, C., S. Bouwhuis, C. M. Lessells, and M. E. Visser. 2006. Climate change and population declines in a long-distance migratory bird. Nature 441:81–83. doi: 10.1038/nature04539.
- Briggs, F., X. Z. Fern, and J. Irvine. 2013a. Multi-label classifier chains for bird sound. Atlanta, GA.
- Briggs, F., X. Z. Fern, and R. Raich. 2012a. Rank-loss support instance machines for MIML instance annotation. Pages 534–542 Proceedings of the 18th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining. ACM, New York, NY, USA. doi: 10.1145/2339530.2339616.
- Briggs, F., X. Z. Fern, R. Raich, and Q. Lou. 2013b. Instance annotation for multi-instance multi-label learning. ACM Transactions on Knowledge Discovery from Data (TKDD) - Special Issue on ACM SIGKDD 7:14:1–14:30. doi: 10.1145/2500491.
- Briggs, F., Y. Huang, R. Raich, K. Eftaxias, Z. Lei, W. Cukierski, S. F. Hadley, A. Hadley, M. Betts, X. Z. Fern, J. Irvine, L. Neal, A. Thomas, G. Fodor, G. Tsoumakas, H. W. Ng, T. N. T. Nguyen, H. Huttunen, P. Ruusuvuori, T. Manninen, A. Diment, T. Virtanen, J. Marzat, J. Defretin, D. Callender, C. Hurlburt, K. Larrey, and M. Milakov. 2013c. The 9th annual MLSP competition: New methods for acoustic classification of multiple simultaneous bird species in a noisy environment. Pages 1–8 2013 IEEE International Workshop on Machine Learning for Signal Processing (MLSP). doi: 10.1109/MLSP.2013.6661934.

- Briggs, F., B. Lakshminarayanan, L. Neal, X. Z. Fern, R. Raich, S. J. K. Hadley, A. S. Hadley, and M. G. Betts. 2012b. Acoustic classification of multiple simultaneous bird species: A multi-instance multi-label approach. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 131:4640–4650. doi: 10.1121/1.4707424.
- Briggs, F., R. Raich, and X. Z. Fern. 2009. Audio classification of bird species: A statistical manifold approach. Pages 51–60 Ninth IEEE International Conference on Data Mining, 2009. ICDM '09. doi: 10.1109/ICDM.2009.65.
- Brooks, R. J., H. R. Barnard, R. Coulombe, and J. J. McDonnell. 2010. Ecohydrologic separation of water between trees and streams in a Mediterranean climate. Nature Geoscience 3:100–104. doi: 10.1038/ngeo722.
- Brunson, M. 1993. "Socially acceptable" forestry: what does it imply for ecosystem management? Western Journal of Applied Forestry 8:116–119.
- Brunt, J., P. McCartney, S. Gage, and D. Henshaw. 2005. LTER network data access policy revision: report and recommendations. LTER Network Office, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM.
- Busby, P. E., P. Adler, T. L. Warren, and F. J. Swanson. 2006. Fates of live trees retained in forest cutting units, western Cascade Range, Oregon. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36:2550–2560. doi: 10.1139/x06-140.
- Callahan, J. T. 1984. Long-term ecological research. BioScience 34:363–367. doi: 10.2307/1309727.
- Campbell, J. L., M. E. Harmon, and S. R. Mitchell. 2011. Can fuel-reduction treatments really increase forest carbon storage in the western US by reducing future fire emissions? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 10:83–90. doi: 10.1890/110057.
- Campbell, J. L., L. E. Rustad, J. H. Porter, J. R. Taylor, E. W. Dereszynski, J. B. Shanley, C. Gries, D. L. Henshaw, M. E. Martin, W. M. Sheldon, and E. R. Boose. 2013. Quantity is nothing without quality: Automated QA/QC for streaming environmental sensor data. BioScience 63:574–585. doi: 10.1525/bio.2013.63.7.10.
- Christensen, L., and N. Krogman. 2012. Social thresholds and their translation into social-ecological management practices. Ecology and Society 17:125–134.
- Cissel, J. H., F. J. Swanson, and P. J. Weisberg. 1999. Landscape management using historical fire regimes: Blue River, Oregon. Ecological Applications 9:1217–1231. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(1999)009[1217:LMUHFR]2.0.CO;2.
- Committee on Sustainability (CSLFG). 2013. Sustainability for the nation: Resource connection and governance linkages. The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C.
- Copi, I. M., C. Cohen, and K. D. McMahon. 2011. Introduction to Logic. 14th ed. Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Creed, I. F., G. Z. Sass, J. M. Buttle, and J. A. Jones. 2011. Hydrological principles for sustainable management of forest ecosystems. Hydrological Processes 25:2152–2160. doi: 10.1002/hyp.8056.
- Creed, I. F., A. T. Spargo, J. A. Jones, J. M. Buttle, M. B. Adams, F. D. Beall, E. Booth, J. Campbell, D. Clow, K. Elder, M. B. Green, N. B. Grimm, C. Miniat, P. Ramlal, A. Saha, S. Sebestyen, D. Spittlehouse, S. Sterling, M. W. Williams, R. Winkler, and H. Yao. in press. Changing forest water yields in response to climate warming: Results from long-term experimental watershed sites across North America. Global Change Biology.
- Crona, B., and K. Hubacek. 2010. The right connections: how do social networks lubricate the machinery of natural resource governance? Ecology and Society 15:18.

- Czarnomski, N. M., D. M. Dreher, K. U. Snyder, J. A. Jones, and F. J. Swanson. 2008. Dynamics of wood in stream networks of the western Cascades Range, Oregon. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 38:2236–2248.
- Dai, A. 2011. Drought under global warming: a review. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 2:45–65. doi: 10.1002/wcc.81.
- Daly, C., D. R. Conklin, and M. H. Unsworth. 2010. Local atmospheric decoupling in complex topography alters climate change impacts. International Journal of Climatology 30:1857–1864. doi: 10.1002/joc.2007.
- Daly, C., M. Halbleib, J. I. Smith, W. P. Gibson, M. K. Doggett, G. H. Taylor, J. Curtis, and P. P. Pasteris. 2008. Physiographically sensitive mapping of climatological temperature and precipitation across the conterminous United States. International Journal of Climatology 28:2031–2064. doi: 10.1002/joc.1688.
- Daly, C., M. P. Widrlechner, M. D. Halbleib, J. I. Smith, and W. P. Gibson. 2012. Development of a new USDA plant hardiness zone map for the United States. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology 51:242–264. doi: 10.1175/2010JAMC2536.1.
- Dettinger, M. 2014. Impacts in the third dimension. Nature Geoscience 7:166-67.
- Doak, D. F., J. A. Estes, B. S. Halpern, U. Jacob, D. R. Lindberg, J. Lovvorn, D. H. Monson, M. T. Tinker, T. M. Williams, J. T. Wootton, I. Carroll, M. Emmerson, F. Micheli, and M. Novak. 2008. Understanding and predicting ecological dynamics: Are major surprises inevitable. Ecology 89:952–961. doi: 10.1890/07-0965.1.
- Dobrowski, S. Z. 2011. A climatic basis for microrefugia: the influence of terrain on climate. Global Change Biology 17:1022–1035. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02263.x.
- Dodds, W. K., C. T. Robinson, E. E. Gaiser, G. J. A. Hansen, H. Powell, J. M. Smith, N. B. Morse, S. L. Johnson, S. V. Gregory, T. Bell, T. K. Kratz, and W. H. McDowell. 2012. Surprises and insights from long-term aquatic data sets and experiments. BioScience 62:709–721. doi: 10.1525/bio.2012.62.8.4.
- Dovčiak, M., and C. B. Halpern. 2010. Positive diversity-stability relationships in forest herb populations during four decades of community assembly. Ecology Letters 13:1300–1309. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01524.x.
- Driscoll, C. T., K. F. Lambert, F. Stuart Chapin, D. J. Nowak, T. A. Spies, F. J. Swanson, D. B. Kittredge, and C. M. Hart. 2012. Science and society: The role of long-term studies in environmental stewardship. BioScience 62:354–366. doi: 10.1525/bio.2012.62.4.7.
- Dugger, K. M., S. H. Ackers, R. M. Claremont, E. Hurkes, R. D. Leach, K. S. Skybak, and J. Winiarski. 2014. The demography of northern spotted owls (Strix Occidentalis caurina) on the Willamette National Forest, Oregon. Annual Report, Oregon Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit, Department of Fisheries and Wildlife, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Duncan, S. L. 1999. Openings in the forest: The Andrews story. Forest History Today Fall:20-28.
- Elith, J., J. R. Leathwick, and T. Hastie. 2008. A working guide to boosted regression trees. Journal of Animal Ecology 77:802–813. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01390.x.
- Faustini, J. M., and J. A. Jones. 2003. Influence of large woody debris on channel morphology and dynamics in steep, boulder-rich mountain streams, western Cascades, Oregon. Geomorphology 51:187–205. doi: 10.1016/S0169-555X(02)00336-7.
- Finn, D., and J. Monroe. 2013. Ecological connectivity for river conservation. *in* S. Sabater and A. Elosegi, editors. River Conservation: Challenges and Opportunities. Fundacion BBVA, Madrid, Spain.

- Firn, J., J. L. Moore, A. S. MacDougall, E. T. Borer, E. W. Seabloom, J. HilleRisLambers, W. S. Harpole, E. E. Cleland, C. S. Brown, J. M. H. Knops, S. M. Prober, D. A. Pyke, K. A. Farrell, J. D. Bakker, L. R. O'Halloran, P. B. Adler, S. L. Collins, C. M. D'Antonio, M. J. Crawley, E. M. Wolkovich, K. J. La Pierre, B. A. Melbourne, Y. Hautier, J. W. Morgan, A. D. B. Leakey, A. Kay, R. McCulley, K. F. Davies, C. J. Stevens, C.-J. Chu, K. D. Holl, J. A. Klein, P. A. Fay, N. Hagenah, K. P. Kirkman, and Y. M. Buckley. 2011. Abundance of introduced species at home predicts abundance away in herbaceous communities. Ecology Letters 14:274–281. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01584.x.
- Folke, C., T. Hahn, P. Olsson, and J. Norberg. 2005. Adaptive Governance of Social-Ecological Systems. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 30:441–473. doi: 10.1146/annurev.energy.30.050504.144511.
- Forsman, E. D., R. G. Anthony, K. M. Dugger, E. M. Glenn, A. B. Franklin, G. C. White, C. J. Schwarz, K. P. Burnham, D. R. Anderson, J. D. Nichols, J. E. Hines, J. B. Lint, R. J. Davis, S. H. Ackers, L. S. Andrews, B. L. Biswell, P. C. Carlson, L. V. Diller, S. A. Gremel, D. R. Herter, J. M. Higley, R. B. Horn, J. A. Reid, J. Rockweit, J. P. Schaberl, T. J. Snetsinger, and S. G. Sovern. 2011. Population Demography of Northern Spotted Owls: Published for the Cooper Ornithological Society. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA.
- Forsman, E. D., S. DeStefano, M. G. Raphael, and R. J. Gutierrez (Eds.). 1993. Demography of the Northern Spotted Owl. Studies in Avian Biology. Cooper Ornithological Society.
- Frady, C., S. Johnson, and J. Li. 2007. Stream macroinvertebrate community responses as legacies of forest harvest at the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest, Oregon. Forest Science 52:281–293.
- Franklin, J. F., and K. N. Johnson. 2012. A restoration framework for federal forests in the Pacific Northwest. Journal of Forestry 110:429–439. doi: 10.5849/jof.10-006.
- González-Pinzón, R., R. Haggerty, and M. Dentz. 2013. Scaling and predicting solute transport processes in streams. Water Resources Research 49:4071–4088. doi: 10.1002/wrcr.20280.
- Graham, C. B., and J. J. McDonnell. 2010. Hillslope threshold response to rainfall: (2) Development and use of a macroscale model. Journal of Hydrology 393:77–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.03.008.
- Graham, C. B., W. van Verseveld, H. R. Barnard, and J. J. McDonnell. 2010a. Estimating the deep seepage component of the hillslope and catchment water balance within a measurement uncertainty framework. Hydrological Processes 24:3631–3647. doi: 10.1002/hyp.7788.
- Graham, C. B., R. A. Woods, and J. J. McDonnell. 2010b. Hillslope threshold response to rainfall: (1) A field based forensic approach. Journal of Hydrology 393:65–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.12.015.
- Gray, A. N., and T. A. Spies. 1995. Water content measurement in forest soils and decayed wood using time domain reflectometry. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 25:376–385. doi: 10.1139/x95-042.
- Gray, A. N., T. A. Spies, and R. J. Pabst. 2012. Canopy gaps affect long-term patterns of tree growth and mortality in mature and old-growth forests in the Pacific Northwest. Forest Ecology and Management 281:111–120. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.06.035.
- Gregory, S., and L. Ashkenas. 1990. Riparian management guide: Willamette National Forest. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Willamette National Forest.
- Gregory, S., F. Swanson, W. Mckee, and K. Cummins. 1991. An ecosystem perspective of riparian zones. BioScience 41:540–551.
- Gregory, S. V. 1997. Riparian management in the 21st century. Pages 69–85 *in* K. A. Kohm and J. F. Franklin, editors. Creating a Forestry for the 21st Century: The Science Of Ecosytem Management. Island Press, Washington, DC; Covelo, CA.

- Gregory, S. V., K. L. Boyer, and A. M. Gurnell (Eds.). 2003. The ecology and management of wood in world rivers. American Fisheries Society Symposium. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.
- Griffiths, R. P., M. D. Madritch, and A. K. Swanson. 2009. The effects of topography on forest soil characteristics in the Oregon Cascade mountains (USA): Implications for the effects of climate change on soil properties. Forest Ecology and Management 257:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2008.08.010.
- Gunderson, L. H., and C. S. Holling. 2002. Panarchy: Understanding Transformations in Human and Natural Systems. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Guzy, M. R., C. L. Smith, J. P. Bolte, D. W. Hulse, and S. V. Gregory. 2008. Policy research using agentbased modeling to assess future impacts of urban expansion into farmlands and forests. Ecology and Society 13:37.
- Hadley, A. S., S. J. K. Frey, W. D. Robinson, W. J. Kress, and M. G. Betts. 2014. Tropical forest fragmentation limits pollination of a keystone understory herb. Ecology. doi: 10.1890/13-0929.1.
- Hall, R. O., Jr., J. L. Tank, D. J. Sobota, P. J. Mulholland, J. M. O'Brien, W. K. Dodds, J. R. Webster, H. M. Valett, G. C. Poole, B. J. Peterson, J. L. Meyer, W. H. McDowell, S. L. Johnson, S. K. Hamilton, N. B. Grimm, S. V. Gregory, C. N. Dahm, L. W. Cooper, L. R. Ashkenas, S. M. Thomas, R. W. Sheibley, J. D. Potter, B. R. Niederlehner, L. T. Johnson, A. M. Helton, C. M. Crenshaw, A. J. Burgin, M. J. Bernot, J. J. Beaulieu, and C. P. Arango. 2009. Nitrate removal in stream ecosystems measured by 15N addition experiments: total uptake. Limnology and Oceanography 54:653–665.
- Halpern, C. B., J. A. Antos, J. M. Rice, R. D. Haugo, and N. L. Lang. 2010. Tree invasion of a montane meadow complex: temporal trends, spatial patterns, and biotic interactions. Journal of Vegetation Science 21:717–732. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2010.01183.x.
- Halpern, C. B., and J. A. Lutz. 2013. Canopy closure exerts weak controls on understory dynamics: a 30year study of overstory–understory interactions. Ecological Monographs 83:221–237. doi: 10.1890/12-1696.1.
- Halpern, C. B., and T. A. Spies. 1995. Plant species diversity in natural and managed forests of the Pacific Northwest. Ecological Applications 5:913–934. doi: 10.2307/2269343.
- Hamlet, A. F. 2011. Assessing water resources adaptive capacity to climate change impacts in the Pacific Northwest region of North America. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 15:1427–1443. doi: 10.5194/hess-15-1427-2011.
- Harmon, M. E. 1992. Long-term experiments on log decomposition at the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest. General Technical Report PNW-GTR-280, USDA Forest Service.
- Harmon, M. E. 2009. Woody detritus mass and its contribution to carbon dynamics of old-growth forests: the temporal context. Pages 159–190 *in* C. Wirth, G. Gleixner, and M. Heimann, editors. Old-Growth Forests: Function, Fate and Value. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Harmon, M. E., J. K. Nadelhoffer, and J. M. Blair. 1999. Measuring decomposition, nutrient turnover, and stores in plant litter. Pages 202–240 in G. P. Robertson, C. S. Bledsoe, D. C. Coleman, and P. Sollins, editors. Standard Soil Methods for Long Term Ecological Research. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Harmon, M. E., J. Sexton, B. A. Caldwell, and S. E. Carpenter. 1994. Fungal sporocarp mediated losses of Ca, Fe, K, Mg, Mn, N, P, and Zn from conifer logs in the early stages of decomposition. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 24:1883–1893.
- Hartman, M. D., J. S. Baron, D. W. Clow, I. F. Creed, C. T. Driscoll, H. A. Ewing, B. D. Haines, J. Knoepp, K. Lajtha, D. S. Ojima, W. J. Parton, J. Renfro, R. B. Robinson, H. Van Miegroet, K. C. Weathers, and M. W. Williams. 2009. DayCent-chem simulations of ecological and biogeochemical

processes of eight mountain ecosystems in the United States. Scientific Investigations Report, Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA.

- Hatcher, K. L., and J. A. Jones. 2013. Climate and streamflow trends in the Columbia River basin: Evidence for ecological and engineering resilience to climate change. Atmosphere-Ocean 51:436–455. doi: 10.1080/07055900.2013.808167.
- Hautier, Y., E. W. Seabloom, E. T. Borer, P. B. Adler, W. S. Harpole, H. Hillebrand, E. M. Lind, A. S. MacDougall, C. J. Stevens, J. D. Bakker, Y. M. Buckley, C. Chu, S. L. Collins, P. Daleo, E. I. Damschen, K. F. Davies, P. A. Fay, J. Firn, D. S. Gruner, V. L. Jin, J. A. Klein, J. M. H. Knops, K. J. La Pierre, W. Li, R. L. McCulley, B. A. Melbourne, J. L. Moore, L. R. O'Halloran, S. M. Prober, A. C. Risch, M. Sankaran, M. Schuetz, and A. Hector. 2014. Eutrophication weakens stabilizing effects of diversity in natural grasslands. Nature. doi: 10.1038/nature13014.
- Hays, S. P. 1999. Conservation and the Gospel of Efficiency. University of Pittsburgh Press, Pittsburgh, PA.
- Hays, S. P. 2007. Wars in the Woods: The Rise of Ecological Forestry in America. University of Pittsburgh Press, Pittsburgh, PA.
- Henshaw, D. L., F. Bierlmaier, B. J. Bond, and K. B. O'Connell. 2008. Building a "cyber forest" in complex terrain at the Andrews Experimental Forest. Pages 62–68 *in* C. Gries and M. B. Jones, editors. Proceedings of the environmental information management conference 2008 (EIM 2008). Albuquerque, NM.
- Henshaw, D. L., W. M. Sheldon, S. M. Remillard, and K. Kotwica. 2006. ClimDB/hydroDB: a web harvester and data warehouse approach to building a cross-site climate and hydrology database. Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Hydroscience and Engineering. Michael Piasecki and College of Engineering, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA.
- Henshaw, D. L., and G. Spycher. 1998. Evolution of ecological metadata structures at the H. J. Andrews Experimental Forest Long-Term Ecological Research (LTER) site. Pages 445–449 in C. Aguirre-Bravo and C. R. Franco, editors. North American science symposium: toward a unified framework for inventorying and monitoring forest ecosystem resources. Proceedings RMRS-P-12. U. S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station, Guadalajara, Mexico.
- Henshaw, D. L., G. Spycher, and S. M. Remillard. 2002. Transition from a legacy databank to an integrated ecological information system. Pages 373–378 in N. Callaos, J. Porter, and N. Rishe, editors. The 6th world multiconference on systemics, cybernetics and informatics. International Institute of Informatics and Systemics, Orlando, FL.
- Henshaw, D. L., M. Stubbs, B. J. Benson, K. Baker, D. Blodgett, and J. H. Porter. 1997. Climate database project: a strategy for improving information access across research sites. Pages 123–127 *in* W. K. Michener, J. H. Porter, and S. G. Stafford, editors. Data and Information Management in the Ecological Sciences: A Resource Guide. LTER Network Office, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM.
- Highland, S. A. 2011. The historic and contemporary ecology of western Cascade meadows : archeology, vegetation, and macromoth ecology. Ph.D. Dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Highland, S. A., and J. A. Jones. in press. Extinction debt in naturally contracting mountain meadows in the Pacific Northwest, USA: varying responses of plants and feeding guilds of nocturnal moths. Biodiversity and Conservation.
- Highland, S. A., J. C. Miller, and J. A. Jones. 2013. Determinants of moth diversity and community in a temperate mountain landscape: vegetation, topography, and seasonality. Ecosphere 4:129. doi: 10.1890/ES12-00384.1.

- Huitema, D., E. Mostert, W. Egas, S. Moellenkamp, C. Pahl-Wostl, and R. Yalcin. 2009. Adaptive water governance: Assessing the institutional prescriptions of adaptive (co-)management from a governance perspective and defining a research agenda. Ecology & Society 14:1–19.
- ICSU. 2010. Earth System Science for Global Sustainability: the Grand Challenges. International Council for Science, Paris.
- IPCC. 2013. Summary for policymakers. *in* T. F. Socker, D. Qin, G. K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex, and P. M. Midgley, editors. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Jencso, K. G., B. L. McGlynn, M. N. Gooseff, S. M. Wondzell, K. E. Bencala, and L. A. Marshall. 2009. Hydrologic connectivity between landscapes and streams: Transferring reach- and plot-scale understanding to the catchment scale. Water Resources Research 45. doi: 10.1029/2008WR007225.
- Johnson, S. L. 2004. Factors influencing stream temperatures in small streams: substrate effects and a shading experiment. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61:913–923. doi: 10.1139/f04-040.
- Johnson, S. L., F. J. Swanson, G. E. Grant, and S. M. Wondzell. 2000. Riparian forest disturbances by a mountain flood the influence of floated wood. Hydrological Processes 14:3031–3050. doi: 10.1002/1099-1085(200011/12)14:16/17<3031::AID-HYP133>3.0.CO;2-6.
- Jones, J. A., G. L. Achterman, L. A. Augustine, I. F. Creed, P. F. Ffolliott, L. MacDonald, and B. C. Wemple. 2009. Hydrologic effects of a changing forested landscape—challenges for the hydrological sciences. Hydrological Processes 23:2699–2704. doi: 10.1002/hyp.7404.
- Jones, J. A., I. F. Creed, K. L. Hatcher, R. J. Warren, M. B. Adams, M. H. Benson, E. Boose, W. A. Brown, J. L. Campbell, A. Covich, D. W. Clow, C. N. Dahm, K. Elder, C. R. Ford, N. B. Grimm, D. L. Henshaw, K. L. Larson, E. S. Miles, K. M. Miles, S. D. Sebestyen, A. T. Spargo, A. B. Stone, J. M. Vose, and M. W. Williams. 2012. Ecosystem processes and human influences regulate streamflow response to climate change at long-term ecological research sites. BioScience 62:390–404. doi: 10.1525/bio.2012.62.4.10.
- Jones, J. A., and R. M. Perkins. 2010. Extreme flood sensitivity to snow and forest harvest, western Cascades, Oregon, United States. Water Resources Research 46. doi: 10.1029/2009WR008632.
- Jones, J. A., and D. A. Post. 2004. Seasonal and successional streamflow response to forest cutting and regrowth in the northwest and eastern United States. Water Resources Research 40. doi: 10.1029/2003WR002952.
- Kayler, Z. E., E. W. Sulzman, W. D. Rugh, A. C. Mix, and B. J. Bond. 2010. Characterizing the impact of diffusive and advective soil gas transport on the measurement and interpretation of the isotopic signal of soil respiration. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42:435–444. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.11.022.
- Kéry, M. 2011. Towards the modelling of true species distributions: Commentary. Journal of Biogeography 38:617–618. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2011.02487.x.
- Krankina, O. N., M. E. Harmon, F. Schnekenburger, and C. A. Sierra. 2012. Carbon balance on federal forest lands of western Oregon and Washington: The impact of the Northwest Forest Plan. Forest Ecology and Management 286:171–182. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2012.08.028.
- Krinner, G., N. Viovy, N. de Noblet-Ducoudré, J. Ogée, J. Polcher, P. Friedlingstein, P. Ciais, S. Sitch, and I. C. Prentice. 2005. A dynamic global vegetation model for studies of the coupled atmosphere-biosphere system. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 19. doi: 10.1029/2003GB002199.

- Lach, D., P. List, B. Steel, and B. Shindler. 2003. Advocacy and credibility of ecological scientists in resource decisionmaking: A regional study. BioScience 53:171–179. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0170:AACOES]2.0.CO;2.
- Lade, S. J., A. Tavoni, S. A. Levin, and M. Schlüter. 2013. Regime shifts in a social-ecological system. Theoretical Ecology 6:359–372. doi: 10.1007/s12080-013-0187-3.
- Lajtha, K., and J. Jones. 2013. Trends in cation, nitrogen, sulfate and hydrogen ion concentrations in precipitation in the United States and Europe from 1978 to 2010: a new look at an old problem. Biogeochemistry 116:303–334. doi: 10.1007/s10533-013-9860-2.
- Lemos, M. C., and A. Agrawal. 2006. Environmental governance. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 31:297–325. doi: 10.1146/annurev.energy.31.042605.135621.
- Lenoir, J., B. J. Graae, P. A. Aarrestad, I. G. Alsos, W. S. Armbruster, G. Austrheim, C. Bergendorff, H. J. B. Birks, K. A. Bråthen, J. Brunet, H. H. Bruun, C. J. Dahlberg, G. Decocq, M. Diekmann, M. Dynesius, R. Ejrnæs, J.-A. Grytnes, K. Hylander, K. Klanderud, M. Luoto, A. Milbau, M. Moora, B. Nygaard, A. Odland, V. T. Ravolainen, S. Reinhardt, S. M. Sandvik, F. H. Schei, J. D. M. Speed, L. U. Tveraabak, V. Vandvik, L. G. Velle, R. Virtanen, M. Zobel, and J.-C. Svenning. 2013. Local temperatures inferred from plant communities suggest strong spatial buffering of climate warming across Northern Europe. Global Change Biology 19:1470–1481. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12129.
- Li, J. L. 2013. Ellie's Log: Exploring The Forest Where the Great Tree Fell. Oregon State University Press, Corvallis, OR.
- Li, J. L., S. L. Johnson, and J. B. Sobota. 2011. Three responses to small changes in stream temperature by autumn-emerging aquatic insects. North American Benthological Society 30:474–484.
- Lind, E. M., E. Borer, E. Seabloom, P. Adler, J. D. Bakker, D. M. Blumenthal, M. Crawley, K. Davies, J. Firn, D. S. Gruner, W. Stanley Harpole, Y. Hautier, H. Hillebrand, J. Knops, B. Melbourne, B. Mortensen, A. C. Risch, M. Schuetz, C. Stevens, and P. D. Wragg. 2013. Life-history constraints in grassland plant species: a growth-defence trade-off is the norm. Ecology Letters 16:513–521. doi: 10.1111/ele.12078.
- Littell, J. S., D. L. Peterson, and M. Tjoelker. 2008. Douglas-fir growth in mountain ecosystems: Water limits tree growth from stand to region. Ecological Monographs 78:349–368. doi: 10.1890/07-0712.1.
- Long-Term Ecological Research Program. 2007. The Decadal Plan for LTER: Integrative Science for Society and the Environment: a Plan for Research, Education, and Cyberinfrastructure in the U.S. Long Term Ecological Research Network. U.S. Long Term Ecological Research Network.
- Luce, C. H., J. T. Abatzoglou, and Z. A. Holden. 2013. The missing mountain water: Slower westerlies decrease orographic enhancement in the Pacific Northwest USA. Science 342:1360–1364. doi: 10.1126/science.1242335.
- Lundquist, J. D., N. Pepin, and C. Rochford. 2008. Automated algorithm for mapping regions of cold-air pooling in complex terrain. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 113. doi: 10.1029/2008JD009879.
- Luoma, J. R. 2006. The Hidden Forest: the Biography of an Ecosystem. 1st edition. Oregon State University Press, Corvallis, OR.
- Lutz, J. A., and C. B. Halpern. 2006. Tree mortality during early forest development: A long-term study of rates, causes, and consequences. Ecological Monographs 76:257–275. doi: 10.1890/0012-9615(2006)076[0257:TMDEFD]2.0.CO;2.
- MacKenzie, D. I., J. D. Nichols, G. B. Lachman, S. Droege, J. Andrew Royle, and C. A. Langtimm. 2002. Estimating site occupancy rates when detection probabilities are less than one. Ecology 83:2248– 2255. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[2248:ESORWD]2.0.CO;2.

- Mallon, A. L. 2006. Public acceptance of disturbance-based forest management : a study of the attentive public in the Central Cascades Adaptive Management Area. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Manfredo, M. J., T. L. Teel, and K. L. Henry. 2009. Linking society and environment: A multilevel model of shifting wildlife value orientations in the western United States. Social Science Quarterly 90:407–427. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-6237.2009.00624.x.
- Van Mantgem, P. J., N. L. Stephenson, J. C. Byrne, L. D. Daniels, J. F. Franklin, P. Z. Fulé, M. E. Harmon, A. J. Larson, J. M. Smith, A. H. Taylor, and T. T. Veblen. 2009. Widespread increase of tree mortality rates in the western United States. Science 323:521–524. doi: 10.1126/science.1165000.
- Mazurkiewicz, A. B., D. G. Callery, and J. J. McDonnell. 2008. Assessing the controls of the snow energy balance and water available for runoff in a rain-on-snow environment. Journal of Hydrology 354:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2007.12.027.
- McGuire, K. J., J. J. McDonnell, M. Weiler, C. Kendall, B. L. McGlynn, J. M. Welker, and J. Seibert. 2005. The role of topography on catchment-scale water residence time. Water resources research 41. doi: 10.1029/2004WR003657.
- McGuire, K. J., M. Weiler, and J. J. McDonnell. 2007. Integrating tracer experiments with modeling to assess runoff processes and water transit times. Advances in Water Resources 30:824–837. doi: 10.1016/j.advwatres.2006.07.004.
- McKinney, A. M., P. J. CaraDonna, D. W. Inouye, B. Barr, C. D. Bertelsen, and N. M. Waser. 2012. Asynchronous changes in phenology of migrating Broad-tailed hummingbirds and their earlyseason nectar resources. Ecology 93:1987–1993. doi: 10.1890/12-0255.1.
- Meleason, M. A., S. V. Gregory, and J. P. Bolte. 2003. Implications of riparian management strategies on wood in streams of the Pacific Northwest. Ecological Applications 13:1212–1221. doi: 10.1890/02-5004.
- Michener, W. K., J. W. Brunt, J. J. Helly, T. B. Kirchner, and S. G. Stafford. 1997. Nongeospatial metadata for the ecological sciences. Ecological Applications 7:330–342. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(1997)007[0330:NMFTES]2.0.CO;2.
- Michener, W. K., J. Porter, and S. G. Stafford (Eds.). 1998. Data and information management in the ecological sciences: a resource guide. LTER Network Office, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM.
- Mielke, P. W. J., and K. J. Berry. 2001. Permutation Methods: A Distance Function Approach. Springer, New York, NY.
- Miller, G. R., J. M. Cable, A. K. McDonald, B. Bond, T. E. Franz, L. Wang, S. Gou, A. P. Tyler, C. B. Zou, and R. L. Scott. 2011. Understanding ecohydrological connectivity in savannas: a system dynamics modelling approach. Ecohydrology 5:200–220. doi: 10.1002/eco.245.
- Minteer, B. A., and J. P. Collins. 2005. Why we need an "ecological ethics". Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3:332–337. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0332:WWNAEE]2.0.CO;2.
- Mitchell, S. R., M. E. Harmon, and K. E. B. O'Connell. 2009. Forest fuel reduction alters fire severity and long-term carbon storage in three Pacific Northwest ecosystems. Ecological Applications 19:643– 655. doi: 10.1890/08-0501.1.
- Mitchell, S. R., M. E. Harmon, and K. E. B. O'Connell. 2012. Carbon debt and carbon sequestration parity in forest bioenergy production. GCB Bioenergy 4:818–827. doi: 10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01173.x.

- Moore, G. W., B. J. Bond, and J. A. Jones. 2011a. A comparison of annual transpiration and productivity in monoculture and mixed-species Douglas-fir and red alder stands. Forest Ecology and Management 262:2263–2270. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2011.08.018.
- Moore, G. W., B. J. Bond, J. A. Jones, N. Phillips, and F. C. Meinzer. 2004. Structural and compositional controls on transpiration in 40- and 450-year-old riparian forests in western Oregon, USA. Tree Physiology 24:481–491. doi: 10.1093/treephys/24.5.481.
- Moore, G. W., J. A. Jones, and B. J. Bond. 2011b. How soil moisture mediates the influence of transpiration on streamflow at hourly to interannual scales in a forested catchment. Hydrological Processes 25:3701–3710. doi: 10.1002/hyp.8095.
- Moore, K. M. 2010. Trends in streamflow from old growth forested watersheds in the western Cascades. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Moore, K. M. S., and S. V. Gregory. 1988. Response of young-of-the-year cutthroat trout to manipulation of habitat structure in a small stream. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 117:162– 170. doi: 10.1577/1548-8659(1988)117<0162:ROYOTY>2.3.CO;2.
- Mote, P. W. 2006. Climate-driven variability and trends in mountain snowpack in western North America. Journal of Climate 19:6209–6220. doi: 10.1175/JCLI3971.1.
- Mote, P. W., and E. P. Salathé Jr. 2010. Future climate in the Pacific Northwest. Climatic Change 102:29–50. doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9848-z.
- Mulholland, P. J., R. Hall, D. Sobota, W. Dodds, S. Findlay, N. Grimm, S. Hamilton, W. McDowell, J. O'Brien, J. Tank, L. Ashkenas, L. W. Cooper, C. Dahm, S. Gregory, S. Johnson, J. Meyer, B. Peterson, G. Poole, H. M. Valett, J. Webster, C. Arango, J. Beaulieu, M. Bernot, A. Burgin, C. Crenshaw, A. Helton, L. Johnson, B. Niederlehner, J. Potter, R. Sheibley, and S. Thomas. 2009. Nitrate removal in stream ecosystems measured by 15n addition experiments: 2. Denitrification. Limnology and Oceanography 54:666–680. doi: 10.4319/lo.2009.54.3.0666.
- National Research Council. 2008. Hydrologic Effects of a Changing Forest Landscape. Committee on Hydrologic Impacts of Forest Management, National Academies Press, Washington, D.C.
- National Research Council. 2010. Understanding the Changing Planet: Strategic Directions for the Geographical Sciences. National Academies Press, Washington, D.C.
- Neal, L., F. Briggs, R. Raich, and X. Z. Fern. 2011. Time-frequency segmentation of bird song in noisy acoustic environments. Pages 2012–2015 2011 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP). doi: 10.1109/ICASSP.2011.5946906.
- Nelson, M. P., and J. A. Vucetich. in press. Wolves and ravens, science and ethics: Traditional ecological knowledge meets long-term ecological research. *in* M. K. Nelson and D. Shilling, editors. Keepers of the Green World: Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Sustainability. Cambridge University Press.
- Nelson, M. P., and J. A. Vucetich. 2009. On advocacy by environmental scientists: What, whether, why, and how? Conservation Biology 23:1090–1101. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01250.x.
- Nelson, M. P., and J. A. Vucetich. 2012. Environmental ethics for wildlife management. Pages 223–37 in
  D. J. Decker, S. J. Riley, and W. F. Siemer, editors. Human Dimensions of Wildlife Management. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore.
- Nelson, M. P., J. A. Vucetich, and K. D. Moore. in press. So you say you love fish. *in* B. Taylor, A. Lynch, and N. Leonard, editors. The Future of Fisheries. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD.
- NGSS Lead States. 2013. Next Generation Science Standards: For States, By States. The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C.

- Nolin, A. W. 2012. Perspectives on climate change, mountain hydrology, and water resources in the Oregon Cascades, USA. Mountain Research and Development 32:S35–S46. doi: 10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-11-00038.S1.
- O'Halloran, L. R., E. T. Borer, E. W. Seabloom, A. S. MacDougall, E. E. Cleland, R. L. McCulley, S. Hobbie, W. S. Harpole, N. M. DeCrappeo, C. Chu, J. D. Bakker, K. F. Davies, G. Du, J. Firn, N. Hagenah, K. S. Hofmockel, J. M. H. Knops, W. Li, B. A. Melbourne, J. W. Morgan, J. L. Orrock, S. M. Prober, and C. J. Stevens. 2013. Regional contingencies in the relationship between aboveground biomass and litter in the world's grasslands. PLoS ONE 8. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054988.
- Olsen, C. S., A. L. Mallon, and B. A. Shindler. 2012. Public acceptance of disturbance-based forest management: Factors influencing support. ISRN Forestry 2012:1–10. doi: 10.5402/2012/594067.
- Parton, W., W. L. Silver, I. C. Burke, L. Grassens, M. E. Harmon, W. S. Currie, J. Y. King, E. C. Adair, L. A. Brandt, S. C. Hart, and B. Fasth. 2007. Global-scale similarities in nitrogen release patterns during long-term decomposition. Science 315:361–364. doi: 10.1126/science.1134853.
- Patton, M. Q. 2002. Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Penaluna, B. E. 2013. New insights on an old topic : understanding the effects of forest harvest on trout in the context of climate. Ph.D. Dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Pepin, N. C., C. Daly, and J. Lundquist. 2011. The influence of surface versus free-air decoupling on temperature trend patterns in the western United States. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 116. doi: 10.1029/2010JD014769.
- Perkins, R. M., and J. A. Jones. 2008. Climate variability, snow, and physiographic controls on storm hydrographs in small forested basins, western Cascades, Oregon. Hydrological Processes 22:4949–4964. doi: 10.1002/hyp.7117.
- Peters, D. P. C., A. E. Lugo, F. S. I. Chapin, S. T. A. Pickett, M. Duniway, A. V. Rocha, F. J. Swanson, C. Laney, and J. Jones. 2011. Cross-system comparisons elucidate disturbance complexities and generalities. Ecosphere 2:1–26.
- Peters, D. P., P. M. Groffman, K. J. Nadelhoffer, N. B. Grimm, S. L. Collins, W. K. Michener, and M. A. Huston. 2008. Living in an increasingly connected world: a framework for continental-scale environmental science. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6:229–237. doi: 10.1890/070098.
- Peterson, F. S. 2012. Post-harvest establishment influences ANPP, soil C and DOC export in complex mountainous terrain. Ph.D. Dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Peterson, G. D., C. R. Allen, and C. S. Holling. 1998. Ecological resilience, biodiversity, and scale. Ecosystems 1:6–18. doi: 10.1007/s100219900002.
- Pfeiffer, V. W. 2012. Influence of spatial and temporal factors on plants, pollinators and plant-pollinator interactions in montane meadows of the western Cascades Range. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Pham, T., J. Jones, R. Metoyer, F. Swanson, and R. Pabst. 2013. Interactive visual analysis promotes exploration of long-term ecological data. Ecosphere 4:112. doi: 10.1890/ES13-00121.1.
- Phillips, C. L., L. A. Kluber, J. P. Martin, B. A. Caldwell, and B. J. Bond. 2012. Contributions of ectomycorrhizal fungal mats to forest soil respiration. Biogeosciences 9:1635–1666. doi: 10.5194/bgd-9-1635-2012.
- Phillips, C. L., N. Nickerson, D. Risk, and B. J. Bond. 2011. Interpreting diel hysteresis between soil respiration and temperature. Global Change Biology 17:515–527. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02250.x.

- Phillips, C. L., N. Nickerson, D. Risk, Z. E. Kayler, C. Andersen, A. Mix, and B. J. Bond. 2010. Soil moisture effects on the carbon isotope composition of soil respiration. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 24:1271–1280. doi: 10.1002/rcm.4511.
- Powers, J. S., P. Sollins, M. E. Harmon, and J. A. Jones. 1999. Plant-pest interactions in time and space: A Douglas-fir bark beetle outbreak as a case study. Landscape Ecology 14:105–120. doi: 10.1023/A:1008017711917.
- Prandtl, L. 1952. Essentials of Fluid Dynamics. Blackie and Son, London.
- Pypker, T. G., H. R. Barnard, M. Hauck, E. W. Sulzman, M. H. Unsworth, A. C. Mix, A. M. Kennedy, and B. J. Bond. 2009. Can carbon isotopes be used to predict watershed-scale transpiration? Water Resources Research 45. doi: 10.1029/2008WR007050.
- Pypker, T. G., M. Hauck, E. W. Sulzman, M. H. Unsworth, A. C. Mix, Z. Kayler, D. Conklin, A. M. Kennedy, H. R. Barnard, C. Phillips, and B. J. Bond. 2008. Toward using δ13C of ecosystem respiration to monitor canopy physiology in complex terrain. Oecologia 158:399–410. doi: 10.1007/s00442-008-1154-3.
- Pypker, T. G., M. H. Unsworth, A. C. Mix, W. Rugh, T. Ocheltree, K. Alstad, and B. J. Bond. 2007. Using nocturnal cold air drainage flow to monitor ecosystem processes in complex terrain. Ecological Applications 17:702–714. doi: 10.1890/05-1906.
- Railsback, S. F., B. C. Harvey, S. K. Jackson, and R. H. Lamberson. 2009. InSTREAM: the individualbased stream trout research and environmental assessment model. General Technical Report PSW-GTR-218, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station Albany, CA.
- Ramsay, J., and B. W. Silverman. 2005. Functional Data Analysis. Springer New York, New York.
- Ribe, R. 1999. Regeneration harvests versus clearcuts: Public views of the acceptability and aesthetics of Northwest Forest Plan Harvests. Northwest Science 73 (special issue):102–117.
- Ribe, R. G. 2005. Aesthetic perceptions of green-tree retention harvests in vista views: The interaction of cut level, retention pattern and harvest shape. Landscape and Urban Planning 73:277–293. doi: 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2004.07.003.
- Ribe, R. G., and M. Y. Matteson. 2002. Views of old forestry and new among reference groups in the Pacific Northwest. Western Journal of Applied Forestry 17:173–182.
- Rice, J. 2009. Forest-meadow dynamics in the central western Oregon Cascades : topographic, biotic, and environmental change effects. Ph.D. Dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Rice, J. M., C. B. Halpern, J. A. Antos, and J. A. Jones. 2012. Spatio-temporal patterns of tree establishment are indicative of biotic interactions during early invasion of a montane meadow. Plant Ecology 213:555–568. doi: 10.1007/s11258-012-0021-9.
- Ripple, W. J., J. A. Estes, R. L. Beschta, C. C. Wilmers, E. G. Ritchie, M. Hebblewhite, J. Berger, B. Elmhagen, M. Letnic, M. P. Nelson, O. J. Schmitz, D. W. Smith, A. D. Wallach, and A. J. Wirsing. 2014. Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. Science 343. doi: 10.1126/science.1241484.
- Rogers, B. M., R. P. Neilson, R. Drapek, J. M. Lenihan, J. R. Wells, D. Bachelet, and B. E. Law. 2011. Impacts of climate change on fire regimes and carbon stocks of the U.S. Pacific Northwest. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 116. doi: 10.1029/2011JG001695.
- Romero, N., R. E. Gresswell, and J. L. Li. 2005. Changing patterns in coastal cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarki clarki) diet and prey in a gradient of deciduous canopies. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62:1797–1807. doi: 10.1139/f05-099.
- Roth, T. R. 2010. Headwater stream characterization : an energy and physical approach to stream temperature using distributed temperature sensing. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.

- Ryan, M. G., M. E. Harmon, R. A. Birdsey, C. P. Giardina, L. S. Heath, R. A. Houghton, R. B. Jackson, D. C. McKinley, J. F. Morrison, B. C. Murray, D. E. Pataki, and K. E. Skog. 2010. A synthesis of the science on forests and carbon for U.S. Forests. Ecological Society of America: Issues In Ecology 13:1–16.
- Schumann, U. 1990. Large-eddy simulation of the up-slope boundary layer. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 116:637–670. doi: 10.1002/qj.49711649307.
- Seibert, J., and J. J. McDonnell. 2010. Land-cover impacts on streamflow: a change-detection modelling approach that incorporates parameter uncertainty. Hydrological Sciences Journal 55:316–332. doi: 10.1080/02626661003683264.
- Seidl, R., W. Rammer, R. M. Scheller, and T. A. Spies. 2012a. An individual-based process model to simulate landscape-scale forest ecosystem dynamics. Ecological Modelling 231:87–100. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.02.015.
- Seidl, R., T. A. Spies, W. Rammer, E. A. Steel, R. J. Pabst, and K. Olsen. 2012b. Multi-scale drivers of spatial variation in old-growth forest carbon density disentangled with LiDAR and an individualbased landscape model. Ecosystems 15:1321–1335. doi: 10.1007/s10021-012-9587-2.
- Serafin, S., and D. Zardi. 2010. Daytime heat transfer processes related to slope flows and turbulent convection in an idealized mountain valley. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences 67:3739–3756. doi: 10.1175/2010JAS3428.1.
- Shafer, S. L., J. Atkins, B. A. Bancroft, P. J. Bartlein, J. J. Lawler, B. Smith, and C. B. Wilsey. 2012. Projected climate and vegetation changes and potential biotic effects for Fort Benning, Georgia; Fort Hood, Texas; and Fort Irwin, California. U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2011–5099, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, USA.
- Sherman, L. 2010. Light on leaves. Terra Magazine:http://oregonstate.edu/terra/2010/10/light–on– leaves/.
- Shindler, B., M. W. Brunson, and G. H. Stankey. 2002. Social acceptability of forest conditions and management practices: A problem analysis. General Technical Report PNW-GTR-537, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station Portland, OR.
- Shindler, B., and A. L. Mallon. 2011. Public acceptance of disturbance-based forest management: A study of the Blue river landscape strategy in the central Cascades adaptive management area. USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station Portland, OR.
- Shirley, S. M., Z. Yang, R. A. Hutchinson, J. D. Alexander, K. McGarigal, and M. G. Betts. 2013. Species distribution modelling for the people: unclassified landsat TM imagery predicts bird occurrence at fine resolutions. Diversity and Distributions 19:855–866. doi: 10.1111/ddi.12093.
- Sierra, C. A., H. W. Loescher, M. E. Harmon, A. D. Richardson, D. Y. Hollinger, and S. S. Perakis. 2009. Interannual variation of carbon fluxes from three contrasting evergreen forests: the role of forest dynamics and climate. Ecology 90:2711–2723. doi: 10.1890/08-0073.1.
- Smith, B., I. C. Prentice, and M. T. Sykes. 2001. Representation of vegetation dynamics in the modelling of terrestrial ecosystems: comparing two contrasting approaches within European climate space. Global Ecology and Biogeography 10:621–637. doi: 10.1046/j.1466-822X.2001.t01-1-00256.x.
- Smith, J. C. 2013. Particulate organic carbon mobilisation and export from temperate forested uplands. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, England, United Kingdom.
- Smoluk, A. 2011. Geographic distributions of prey of the northern spotted owl in the central western Cascades, Oregon, 1988-2009. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Snyder, K. U. 2000. Debris flows and flood disturbance in small, mountain watersheds. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.

- Sobota, D. J., S. L. Johnson, S. V. Gregory, and L. R. Ashkenas. 2012. A stable isotope tracer study of the influences of adjacent land use and riparian condition on fates of nitrate in streams. Ecosystems 15:1–17. doi: 10.1007/s10021-011-9489-8.
- Spies, T. A., and S. L. Duncan (Eds.). 2009. Old Growth in a New World: A Pacific Northwest Icon Reexamined. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Spies, T. A., T. W. Giesen, F. J. Swanson, J. F. Franklin, D. Lach, and K. N. Johnson. 2010. Climate change adaptation strategies for federal forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA: ecological, policy, and socio-economic perspectives. Landscape Ecology 25:1185–1199. doi: 10.1007/s10980-010-9483-0.
- Sproles, E. A., A. W. Nolin, K. Rittger, and T. H. Painter. 2013. Climate change impacts on maritime mountain snowpack in the Oregon Cascades. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 17:2581– 2597. doi: 10.5194/hess-17-2581-2013.
- Stafford, S. G. 1993. Data, data everywhere but not a byte to read: Managing monitoring information. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 26:125–141. doi: 10.1007/BF00547491.
- Stafford, S. G., P. B. Alaback, G. J. Koerper, and M. W. Klopsch. 1984. Creation of a forest science bank. Journal of Forestry 82:432–433.
- Stafford, S. G., G. Spycher, and M. W. Klopsch. 1988. Evolution of the forest science data bank. Journal of Forestry 86:50–51.
- Stake, R. E. 2010. Qualitative Research: Studying How Things Work. Guilford Press, New York, NY.
- Steel, B., P. List, D. Lach, and B. Shindler. 2004. The role of scientists in the environmental policy process: a case study from the American west. Environmental Science & Policy 7:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2003.10.004.
- Steel, B. S., D. Lach, and V. A. Satyal. 2006. Ideology and scientific credibility: environmental policy in the American Pacific Northwest. Public Understanding of Science 15:481–495. doi: 10.1177/0963662506059261.
- Steel, B. S., D. Lach, and R. Warner. 2009. Science and scientists in the U.S. environmental policy process. The International Journal of Science in Society 1:171–188.
- Stephenson, N. L., A. J. Das, R. Condit, S. E. Russo, P. J. Baker, N. G. Beckman, D. A. Coomes, E. R. Lines, W. K. Morris, N. Rüger, E. Álvarez, C. Blundo, S. Bunyavejchewin, G. Chuyong, S. J. Davies, Á. Duque, C. N. Ewango, O. Flores, J. F. Franklin, H. R. Grau, Z. Hao, M. E. Harmon, S. P. Hubbell, D. Kenfack, Y. Lin, J.-R. Makana, A. Malizia, L. R. Malizia, R. J. Pabst, N. Pongpattananurak, S.-H. Su, I.-F. Sun, S. Tan, D. Thomas, P. J. van Mantgem, X. Wang, S. K. Wiser, and M. A. Zavala. 2014. Rate of tree carbon accumulation increases continuously with tree size. Nature advance online publication. doi: 10.1038/nature12914.
- Stimie, C., E. Richters, H. Thompson, S. Perret, M. Matete, K. Abdallah, J. Kau, and E. Mulibana. 2001. Hydro-institutional mapping in the Steelpoort River Basin, South Africa. Working Paper, International Water Management Institute, South Africa.
- Swanson, F. J., S. Eubanks, M. B. Adams, J. C. Brissette, and C. DeMuth. 2010. Guide to effective research-management collaboration at long-term environmental research sites. General Technical Report PNW-GTR-821, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station Portland, OR.
- Swanson, F. J., S. L. Johnson, S. V. Gregory, and S. A. Acker. 1998. Flood disturbance in a forested mountain landscape: interactions of land use and floods. BioScience 48:681–689.
- Taylor, K. E., R. J. Stouffer, and G. A. Meehl. 2012. An overview of CMIP5 and the experiment design. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 93:485–498. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-11-00094.1.

- Taylor, P. D., L. Fahrig, K. Henein, and G. Merriam. 1993. Connectivity is a vital element of landscape structure. Oikos 68:571–573. doi: 10.2307/3544927.
- Tepley, A. J. 2010. Age structure, developmental pathways, and fire regime characterization of Douglasfir/western hemlock forests in the central western Cascades of Oregon. Ph.D. Dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Tepley, A. J., F. J. Swanson, and T. A. Spies. 2013. Fire-mediated pathways of stand development in Douglas-fir/western hemlock forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA. Ecology 94:1729–1743. doi: 10.1890/12-1506.1.
- Tepley, A. J., and E. A. Thomann. 2012. Analytical approximation of a stochastic, spatial simulation model of fire and forest landscape dynamics. Ecological Modelling 233:41–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.03.005.
- Thomas, C. K., J. G. Martin, M. Goeckede, M. B. Siqueira, T. Foken, B. E. Law, H. W. Loescher, and G. Katul. 2008. Estimating daytime subcanopy respiration from conditional sampling methods applied to multi-scalar high frequency turbulence time series. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 148:1210–1229. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2008.03.002.
- Thomas, C. K., J. G. Martin, B. E. Law, and K. Davis. 2013. Toward biologically meaningful net carbon exchange estimates for tall, dense canopies: Multi-level eddy covariance observations and canopy coupling regimes in a mature Douglas-fir forest in Oregon. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 173:14–27. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2013.01.001.
- Thomas, C. K., F. Peterson, and S. Carrigg. in review. Measuring ecosystem-scale net ecosystem exchange and evapotranspiration in a deeply incised airshed in mountainous terrain. Biogeosciences.
- Thomas, J. W., M. G. Raphael, R. G. Anthony, E. D. Forsman, A. D. Gunderson, R. S. Holthausen, B. G. Marcot, G. H. Reeves, J. R. Sedell, and D. M. Solis. 1993. Forest ecosystem management: an ecological, economic, and social assessment. Report of the Forest Ecosystem Management Assessment Team (FEMAT), U.S. Department of Agriculture; U.S. Department of the Interior, Portland, OR.
- Thompson, J. R., A. Wiek, F. J. Swanson, S. R. Carpenter, N. Fresco, T. Hollingsworth, T. A. Spies, and D. R. Foster. 2012. Scenario studies as a synthetic and integrative research activity for long-term ecological research. BioScience 62:367–376. doi: 10.1525/bio.2012.62.4.8.
- Tompkins, E. L., and W. N. Adger. 2004. Does adaptive managmenet of natural resources enhance resilience to climate change? Ecology and Society 9:10.
- United Nations. 2011. Mountain forests in a changing world: realizing values, addressing challenges. FAO with the support of the Swiss Agency.
- Van Verseveld, W. J., J. J. McDonnell, and K. Lajtha. 2009. The role of hillslope hydrology in controlling nutrient loss. Journal of Hydrology 367:177–187. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2008.11.002.
- Vucetich, J. A., and M. P. Nelson. 2007. What are 60 warblers worth? Killing in the name of conservation. Oikos 116:1267–1278. doi: 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2007.15536.x.
- Walker, B. H., S. R. Carpenter, J. Rockstrom, A.-S. Crépin, and G. D. Peterson. 2012. Drivers, "slow" variables, "fast" variables, shocks, and resilience. Ecology and Society 17:430–433. doi: 10.5751/ES-05063-170330.
- Walley, J. R. 2013. Valley circulation experiment: A classification of wind flow in the HJ Andrews Experimental Forest. M.S. Thesis, The Evergreen State College, Olympia, Washington.
- Walters, C. 1997. Challenges in adaptive management of riparian and coastal ecosystems. Conservation Ecology 1.

- Walters, C. J. 1998. Improving links between ecosystem scientists and managers. Pages 272–286 in M.
  L. Pace and P. M. Groffman, editors. Successes, Limitations, and Frontiers in Ecosystem Science. Springer, New York.
- Ward, J. V. 1989. The four-dimensional nature of lotic ecosystems. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 8:2–8. doi: 10.2307/1467397.
- Wemple, B. C., F. J. Swanson, and J. A. Jones. 2001. Forest roads and geomorphic process interactions, Cascade Range, Oregon. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 26:191–204. doi: 10.1002/1096-9837(200102)26:2<191::AID-ESP175>3.0.CO;2-U.
- Wenger, S. J., D. J. Isaak, C. H. Luce, H. M. Neville, K. D. Fausch, J. B. Dunham, D. C. Dauwalter, M. K. Young, M. M. Elsner, B. E. Rieman, A. F. Hamlet, and J. E. Williams. 2011. Flow regime, temperature, and biotic interactions drive differential declines of trout species under climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108:14175–14180. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103097108.
- Westerling, A. L., H. G. Hidalgo, D. R. Cayan, and T. W. Swetnam. 2006. Warming and earlier spring increase western U.S. forest wildfire activity. Science 313:940–943. doi: 10.1126/science.1128834.
- Wilkins, P. C. 2010. Applications of conditional topic models to species distribution prediction. M.S. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Wilson, B. M. 2013. Topographic heterogeneity and the spatial pattern of air temperature in a mountain landscape. M.S. Paper, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR.
- Wondzell, S. M., M. N. Gooseff, and B. L. McGlynn. 2007. Flow velocity and the hydrologic behavior of streams during baseflow. Geophysical Research Letters 34. doi: 10.1029/2007GL031256.
- Woolley, T. J., M. E. Harmon, and K. B. O'Connell. in review. Inter-annual variability and spatial coherence of net primary productivity across a western Oregon Cascades landscape. Forest Ecology and Management.
- Yarwood, S., E. Brewer, R. Yarwood, K. Lajtha, and D. Myrold. 2013. Soil microbe active community composition and capability of responding to litter addition after 12 years of no inputs. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79:1385–1392. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03181-12.
- Yu, J., W.-K. Wong, T. G. Dietterich, J. A. Jones, M. G. Betts, S. Frey, S. Shirley, J. Miller, and M. White. 2011. Multi-label classification for multi-species distribution modeling. The 28th International Conference on Machine Learning. Bellevue, WA.
- Zald, H. S. J., T. A. Spies, M. Huso, and D. Gatziolis. 2012. Climatic, landform, microtopographic, and overstory canopy controls of tree invasion in a subalpine meadow landscape, Oregon Cascades, USA. Landscape Ecology 27:1197–1212. doi: 10.1007/s10980-012-9774-8.
- Zhao, M., and S. W. Running. 2010. Drought-induced reduction in global terrestrial net primary production from 2000 through 2009. Science 329:940–943. doi: 10.1126/science.1192666.
- Zobel, D. B., A. McKee, G. M. Hawk, and C. T. Dyrness. 1976. Relationships of environment to composition, structure, and diversity of forest communities of the central western Cascades of Oregon. Ecological Monographs 46:135–156. doi: 10.2307/1942248.

### PERSONNEL

#### Signatory Pls

**MICHAEL P. NELSON**, Lead PI, Ruth H. Spaniol Chair of Renewable Resources, Professor of Environmental Ethics and Philosophy, Department of Forest Ecosystems and Society, College of Forestry, Oregon State University

**MATTHEW G. BETTS**, Associate Professor, Landscape Ecology, Department of Forest Ecosystems & Society, College of Forestry, Oregon State University

**HANNAH GOSNELL**, Associate Professor of Geography, College of Earth, Ocean and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University

**SHERRI L. JOHNSON**, Supervisory Research Ecologist and Team Leader, Forest Ecosystem and Processes Program, US Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Corvallis Forestry Sciences Lab

**JULIA A. JONES**, Professor, Geography, College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University

#### Senior Personnel

**ALBA ARGERICH**, Assistant Professor Senior Research, Department of Forest Engineering, Resources and Management, Oregon State University

**IVAN D ARISMENDI**, Assistant Professor (Senior Research), Department of Fisheries and Wildlife, Oregon State University

BARBARA J. BOND, Emeritus Professor of Forest Ecophysiology, Oregon State University

**JUDITH BAYARD CUSHING**, Member of the Faculty (Computer Science and Ecology Informatics), The Evergreen State College

CHRISTOPHER DALY, Professor and Director, PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University

**THOMAS G. DIETTERICH**, Distinguished Professor, School of Electrical Engineering & Computer Science, Oregon State University

**ALEXANDRA PAIGE FISCHER**, Assistant Professor, School of Natural Resources and Environment, University of Michigan; Courtesy Faculty, Forest Ecosystems and Society, Oregon State University

CHARLES GOODRICH, Director, Spring Creek Project, School of History, Philosophy, and Religion

STAN V. GREGORY, Emeritus Professor, Department of Fisheries & Wildlife, Oregon State University

**ANITA GUERRINI**, Horning Professor in the Humanities and Professor of History, Oregon State University

**ROY D HAGGERTY**, Hollis M. Dole Professor of Environmental Geology, College of Earth, Oceanic, and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University

**TROY HALL**, Professor and Department Head, Forest Ecosystems and Society, College of Forestry, Oregon State University

**CHARLES B. HALPERN**, Research Professor, School of Environmental and Forest Sciences, College of the Environment, University of Washington.

JACOB D. HAMBLIN, Associate Professor of History, Oregon State University

**MARK E. HARMON**, Richardson Chair and Professor in Forest Ecosystems and Society, College of Forestry, Oregon State University

**JEFF A. HATTEN**, Assistant Professor, Department of Forest Engineering, Resources & Management Oregon State University

**DONALD L HENSHAW**, Information Technology Specialist, US Forest Service Pacific Northwest Research Station, Corvallis Forestry Sciences Lab

**THOMAS HILKER**, Assistant Professor, Forest Engineering Resources and Management, Oregon State University

JUDITH L. LI, Emeritus Professor, Department of Fisheries & Wildlife, Oregon State University

**HEATHER E. LINTZ**, Oregon Climate Change Research Institute, College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Science, Oregon State University

**ROBERT B. MCKANE**, Research Ecologist, US Environmental Protection Agency

**ANDREW R. MOLDENKE**, Professor, Department of Botany and Plant Pathology, Oregon State University

**CASSANDRA MOSELEY**, Research Associate Professor & Director, Institute for a Sustainable Environment, University of Oregon

DAVID D. MYROLD, Professor, Department of Crop and Soil Science, Oregon State University

**KARI B. O'CONNELL**, Project Coordinator, Oregon State University, Oregon Natural Resources Education Program, Forestry & Natural Resources Extension

CHRISTINE S. OLSEN, Research Associate, Forest Ecosystems and Society, Oregon State University

**BROOKE E. PENALUNA**, Research Fish Biologist, US Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Corvallis Forestry Sciences Lab

**STEVEN S. PERAKIS**, Research Ecologist, US Geological Survey, Forest and Rangeland Ecosystem Science Center; Courtesy Faculty, Forest Ecosystems and Society, Oregon State University

**JULIE C. PETT-RIDGE**, Assistant Professor, Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Oregon State University

**MARK D. SCHULZE**, H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest Director, Assistant Professor (Senior Research), Forest Ecosystems and Society, College of Forestry, Oregon State University

**RUPERT SEIDL**, Institute of Silviculture, Department of Forest- and Soil Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU) Vienna, Austria

**DAVID C. SHAW**, Associate Professor, Extension Forest Health Specialist, Director, Swiss Needle Cast Cooperative, Dept. of Forest Engineering, Resources and Management, and Forestry and Natural Resources Extension, College of Forestry, Oregon State University

**THOMAS A. SPIES**, Research Forester, Forest Ecosystem and Processes Program, US Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Corvallis Forestry Sciences Lab

**CHRISTOPHER J. STILL**, Assistant Professor, Forest Ecosystems and Society, College of Forestry, Oregon State University
**FREDERICK J. SWANSON**, Research Geologist, Emeritus, Forest Ecosystem and Processes Program, US Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, and Senior Fellow, Spring Creek Project for Ideas, Nature, and the Written Word, School of History, Philosophy, and Religion, Oregon State University

CHRISTOPH K. THOMAS, Professor, Chair of Micrometeorology, University of Bayreuth, Germany

**DANA R. WARREN**, Assistant Professor, Senior Research, Department of Fisheries and Wildlife, Oregon State University

**BRAD WITHROW-ROBINSON**, Forestry and Natural Resources Extension Faculty, Oregon State University

**STEVEN M. WONDZELL**, Research Ecologist, USFS Pacific Northwest Research Station, Corvallis Forestry Sciences Lab

## SUPPLEMENTARY DOCUMENTATION: PUBLICATIONS FROM ANDREWS LTER6

Please see http://www.fsl.orst.edu/lter/pubs/biblio/master.cfm?topnav=161 for an online listing of all Andrews Forest publications by author, or select "Publication Search".

- Abdelnour, Alex. 2011. Assessing ecosystem response to natural and anthropogenic disturbances using an eco-hydrological model. Atlanta, GA: Georgia Institute of Technology. 217 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Abdelnour, Alex; Stieglitz, Marc; Pan, Feifei; McKane, Robert B. 2011. Catchment hydrological responses to forest harvest amount and spatial pattern. Water Resources Research 47: 18p.
- Abdelnour, Alex; McKane, Robert B.; Stieglitz, Marc; Pan, Feifei; Cheng, Yiwei. 2013. Effects of harvest on carbon and nitrogen dynamics in a Pacific Northwest forest catchment. Water Resources Research 49: 1-22.
- Adler, Peter B.; Seabloom, Eric W.; Borer, Elizabeth T.; Hillebrand, Helmut; Hautier, Yann; Hector, Andy; Harpole, Stanley; O'Halloran, Lydia R.; Grace, James B.; Anderson, Michael; Bakker, Jonathan D.; Biederman, Lori A.; Brown, Cynthia S.; Buckley, Yvonne M.; Calabrese, Laura B.; Chu, Cheng-Jin; Cleland, Elsa E.; Collins, Scott L.; Cottingham, Kathryn L.; Crawley, Michael J.; Damschen, Ellen I.; Davies, Kendi F.; DeCrappeo, Nicole M.; Fay, Philip A.; Firn, Jennifer; Frater, Paul; Gasarch, Eve I.; Gruner, Daniel S.; Hagenah, Nicole; HilleRisLambers, Janneke. 2011. Productivity is a poor predictor of plant species richness. Science 333: 1750-1753.
- Allen, Scott Thomas. 2012. Trickle-down Ecohydrology: Complexity of Rainfall Interception and Net Precipitation under Forest Canopies. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 174 p. M.S. thesis.
- Allen, Scott Thomas; Brooks, J. Renée; Keim, Richard F.; Bond, Barbara J; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2013. The role of pre-event canopy storage in throughfall and stemflow by using isotopic tracers. Ecohydrology. 11p.
- Argerich, Alba. 2010. Hydrological and geomorphological controls on stream nutrient retention. Barcelona, Spain: Universitat de Barcelona. 178 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Argerich, Alba; Haggerty, Roy; Martí, Eugènia; Sabater, F.; Zarnetske, Jay P. 2011. Quantification of metabolically active transient storage (MATS) in two reaches with contrasting transient storage and ecosystem respiration. Journal of Geophysical Research 116: 14p.
- Argerich, Alba; Johnson, Sherri L.; Sebestyen, Stephen D.; Rhoades, Charles C; Greathouse, Effie;
  Knoepp, Jennifer D.; Adams, Mary Beth; Likens, Gene E.; Campbell, John L.; McDowell, William
  H.; Scatena, Fred N.; Ice, George G. 2013. Trends in stream nitrogen concentrations for forested
  reference catchments across the USA. Envrionmental Research Letters 8: 8p.
- Arismendi, Ivan; Johnson, Sherri L.; Dunham, Jason B.; Haggerty, Roy. 2013. Descriptors of natural thermal regimes in streams and their responsiveness to change in the Pacific Northwest of North America. Freshwater Biology 58: 880-894.
- Arismendi, Ivan; Safeeq, Mohammad; Johnson, Sherri L.; Dunham, Jason B.; Haggerty, Roy. 2012. Increasing synchrony of high temperature and low flow in western North American streams: double trouble for coldwater biota? Hydrobiologia 712: 61-70.
- Arismendi, Ivan; Johnson, Sherri L.; Dunham, Jason B.; Haggerty, Roy; Hockman-Wert, David. 2012. The paradox of cooling streams in a warming world: Regional climate trends do not parallel variable local trends in stream temperature in the Pacific continental United States. Geophysical Research Letters 39: 7p.
- Austin, Amy T. 2009. Planning for connections in the long-term in Patagonia. New Phytologist 182: 299-302.
- Azuma, David; Monleon, V. J. 2011. Differences in forest area classification based on tree tally from variable- and fixed-radius plots. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 41: 211-214.

- Barnard, Holly R. 2009. Inter-relationships of vegetation, hydrology and micro-climate in a young, Douglas-fir forest. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 126 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Barnard, Holly R.; Graham, Christopher Brian; van Verseveld, Willem J.; Brooks, J. Renée; Bond, Barbara J; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2010. Mechanistic assessment of hillslope transpiration controls of diel subsurface flow: a steady-state irrigation approach. Ecohydrology 3: 133-142.
- Beaulieu, Jake J.; Tank, Jennifer L.; Hamilton, Stephen K.; Johnson, Sherri L. 2011. Nitrous oxide emission from denitrification in stream and river networks. Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences 108: 214-219.
- Benson, Barbara J.; Bond, Barbara J; Hamilton, Michael P.; Monson, R. K.; Han, Richard. 2010. Perspectives on next-generation technology for environmental sensor networks. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 8: 193-200.
- Berman, Elena S.F.; Gupta, Manish; Gabrielli, Chris; Garland, Tina. 2009. High-frequency fielddeployable isotope analyzer for hydrological applications. Water Resources Research 45.
- Bernot, Melody J.; Sobota, Daniel J.; Hall Jr., Robert O.; Mulholland, Patrick J.; Dodds, Walter K.; Webster, Jackson R.; Tank, Jennifer L.; Ashkenas, Linda R.; Cooper, Lee W.; Dahm, Clifford N.; Gregory, Stanley V.; Grimm, Nancy B.; Hamilton, Stephen K.; Johnson, Sherri L.; McDowell, William H.; Meyer, Judy L.; Peterson, B. V.; Poole, Geoffrey C.; Valett, H. Maurice; Arango, Clay P.; Beaulieu, Jake J.; Burgin, Amy J.; Crenshaw, Chelsea L.; Helton, Ashley M.; Johnson, Laura T.; Merriam, Jeff L.; Niederlehner, B. R.; O'Brien, Jonathan M.; Potter, Jody D.; Sheibley, Richard W. 2010. Inter-regional comparison of land-use effects on stream metabolism. Freshwater Biology 55: 1874-1890.
- Bolte, John P.; McKane, Robert B.; Phillips, Donald L.; Schumaker, Nathan H.; White, Denis; Brookes, Allen; Olszyk, David M. 2011. In Oregon, the EPA calculates nature's worth now and in the future. Solutions for a sustainable and desirable future. 2(6): 35-41.
- Brewer, Elizabeth Ann. 2010. Response of soil microbial communities and nitrogen cycling processes to changes in vegetation inputs. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 114 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Briggs, Forrest; Raich, Raviv; Fern, Xiaoli Z. 2009. Audio classification of bird species: a statistical manifold approach. Pages 51-60. Proceedings of the Ninth IEEE international conference on data mining.
- Briggs, Forrest; Fern, Xiaoli Z.; Raich, Raviv. 2012. Rank-Loss Support Instance Machines for MIML Instance Annotation. Pages 534-542. KDD '12 Proceedings of the 18th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining. New York, NY: Association for Computer Machinery.
- Briggs, Forrest; Fern, Xiaoli Z.; Raich, Raviv. 2013. Context-Aware MIML Instance Annotation. Pages 10. Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Data-Mining (ICDM 2013).
- Briggs, Forrest; Fern, Xiaoli Z.; Irvine, J. 2013. Multi-Label Classifier Chains for Bird Sound. Pages 6 in Glotin, HCCLYDPHXSJ, ed. Proceedings of the 30 th International Conference on Machine Learning.
- Briggs, Forrest; Fern, Xiaoli Z.; Raich, Raviv; Lou, Qi. 2013. Instance Annotation for Multi-Instance Multi-Label. ACM Transactions on Knowledge Discovery from Data 7: 30.
- Briggs, Forrest; Lakshminarayanan, Balaji; Neal, Lawrence; Fern, Xiaoli Z.; Raich, Raviv; Hadley, Sarah Frey; Hadley, Adam Scott; Betts, Matthew G. 2012. Acoustic classification of multiple simultaneous bird species: A multi-instance multi-label approach. Acoustical Society of America 131: 4640-4650.

- Briggs, Forrest; Huang, Yonghong; Raich, Raviv; Eftaxias, Konstantinos; Lei, Zhong; Cukierski, William; Hadley, Sarah Frey; Hadley, Adam Scott; Betts, Matthew G; Fern, Xiaoli Z.; Irvine, J.; Neal, Lawrence; Thomas, Anil; Fodor, Gabor; Tsoumakas, Grigorios; Ng, Hong Wei; Nguyen, Thi Ngoc Tho; Huttunen, Heikki; Ruusuvuori, Pekka; Manninen, Tapio; Diment, Aleksandr; Virtanen, Tuomas; Marzat, Julien; Defretin, Joseph; Callender, Dave; Hurlburt, Chris; Larrey, Ken; Milakov, Maxim. 2013. The 9th Annual MLSP Competition: New Methods for Acoustic Classification of Multiple Simultaneous Bird Species in a Noisy Environment. Pages 8 in Sanei, SSPNAHATSLJ, ed. Proceedings of the workshop on Machine Learning for Signal Processing (MLSP 2013).
- Brooks, J. Renée; Barnard, Holly R.; Coulombe, Rob; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2009. Ecohydrologic separation of water between trees and streams in a Mediterranean climate. Nature Geoscience 3: 100-103.
- Buma, Brian. 2013. Nutrient responses to ecosystem disturbances from annual to multi-millennial timescales. New Phytologist 201: 13-15.
- Buntin, S. B. 2010. Dirty words on Mount St. Helens. Terrain.org. Fall/Winter(26):
- Campbell, John R. 2010. Scope. Terrain.org. Fall/Winter 2010(26):
- Cardenas, M. Bayani; Wilson, John L.; Haggerty, Roy. 2008. Residence time of bedform-driven hyporheic exchange. Advances in Water Resources 31: 1382-1386.
- Carey, Sean K.; Tetzlaff, Doerthe; Seibert, Jan; Soulsby, Chris; Buttle, Jim M.; Laudon, Hjalmar; McDonnell, Jeffrey J.; McGuire, Kevin J.; Caissie, Daniel; Shanley, James B.; Kennedy, Mike; Devito, Kevin; Pomeroy, J. W. 2010. Inter-comparison of hydro-climatic regimes across northern catchments: snychronicity, resistance and resilience. Hydrological Processes 24: 3591-3602.
- Case, Madelon. 2012. Gopher disturbance and plant community dynamics in montane meadows. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University. 78 p. Senior Thesis.
- Case, Madelon; Halpern, Charles B.; Levin, Simon A. 2013. Contributions of gopher mound and casting disturbances to plant community structure in a Cascade Range meadow complex. Botany 91: 555-561.
- Chaer, G. M.; Myrold, David D.; Bottomley, Peter J. 2009. A soil quality index based on the equilibrium between soil organic matter and biochemical properties of undisturbed coniferous forest soils of the Pacific Northwest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41: 822-830.
- Chang, Heejun; Jones, Julia A. 2010. Climate change and freshwater resources in Oregon. Corvallis, OR: College of Oceanic and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University. Report no.
- Chapin III, F. S.; Carpenter, Steve R.; Kofinas, Gary P.; Folke, Carl; Abel, Nick; Clark, William C.; Olsson, Per; Smith, D. Mark Stafford; Walker, Brian; Young, Oran R.; Berkes, Fikret; Biggs, Reinette; Grove, J. Morgan; Naylor, Rosamond L.; Pinkerton, Evelyn; Steffen, Will; Swanson, Frederick J. 2009. Ecosystem stewardship: sustainability strategies for a rapidly changing planet. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25: 241-249.
- Choi, Sei-Woong; Miller, Jeffrey C. 2013. Species richness and abundance among macromoths: A comparison of taxonomic, temporal and spatial patterns in Oregon and South Korea. Entomological research 43: 312-321.
- Clark, Rachel; Halpern, Charles B.; Swanson, Frederick J. 2009. Restoring mountain meadows: using fire, vegetation, and fuel management in western Oregon. Boise, ID: Joint Fire Science Program, National Interagency Fire Center.
- Cohen, Warren B.; Yang, Zhiqiang; Kennedy, Robert E. 2010. Detecting trends in forest disturbance and recovery using yearly Landsat time series: 2. TimeSync -- tools for calibration and validation. Remote Sensing of Environment 114: 2911-2924.
- Coleman, David C. 2010. Big ecology: the emergence of ecosystem science. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

- Creed, Irena F.; Sass, Gabor Z.; Buttle, Jim M.; Jones, Julia A. 2011. Hydrological principles for sustainable management of forest ecosystems. Hydrological Processes.
- Crook, N.; Binley, Andrew M.; Knight, Robert William; Robinson, D. A.; Zarnetske, Jay P.; Haggerty, Roy. 2008. Electrical resistivity imaging of the architecture of substream sediments. Water Resources Research 44.
- Cushing, Judy Bayard; Kopytko, Natalie; Stevenson-Molnar, Nik; Zeman, Lee; Stafford, Susan G.; Bolte, John P.; Bond, Barbara J; Lach, Denise; McKane, Robert B. 2009. Enabling the dialogue-scientist, resource-manager, stakeholder: visual analytics as boundary objects. IEEE Intelligent Systems (AI, e-government, and politics 2.0) September/October: 75-79.
- Daly, Christopher; Widrlechner, M. P.; Halbleib, M. D.; Smith, Joseph I.; Gibson, W. P. 2012. Development of a new USDA plant hardiness zone map for the United States. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology 51: 242-264.
- Daly, Christopher; Conklin, David R.; Unsworth, Michael H. 2010. Local atmospheric decoupling in complex topography alters climate change impacts. International Journal of Climatology. 30: 1857-1864, doi:10.1002/joc.2007.
- Davis, Liane R.; Puettmann, Klaus J. 2009. Initial response of understory vegetation to three alternative thinning treatments. Journal of Sustainable Forestry 28: 904-034.
- Deming, Alison Hawthorne. 2011. Attending to the beautiful mess of the world. Pages 174-186 in Fleischner, TL, ed. The way of natural history. San Antonio, TX: Trinity University Press.
- Dereszynski, Ethan W. 2012. Probabilistic Models for Quality Control in Environmental Sensor Networks. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 152 p. Ph. D. dissertation.
- Dereszynski, Ethan W.; Dietterich, Thomas G. 2011. Spatiotemporal models for data-anomaly detection in dynamic environmental monitoring campaigns. ACM Transactions on Sensor Networks 8: 1-36.
- Dietterich, Thomas G. 2009. Machine learning in ecosystem informatics and sustainability. Pages 8-13. Proceedings of the twenty-first international joint conference on artificial intelligence (IJCAI09).
- Dietterich, Thomas G. 2009. Machine learning and ecosystem informatics: challenges and opportunities. Pages 1-5 in Zhou, Z-HWT, ed. Advances in machine learning--first Asian conference on machine learning, ACML 2009: Springer-Verlag.
- Dodd, Elizabeth. 2012. Isogloss: language and legacy on Mount St. Helens. The Georgia Review. 103-115.
- Dodds, Walter K.; Robinson, Christopher T.; Gaiser, Evelyn E.; Hansen, Gretchen J.A.; Powell, Heather; Smith, Joseph M.; Morse, Nathaniel B.; Johnson, Sherri L.; Gregory, Stanley V.; Bell, Tisza; Kratz, Timothy K.; McDowell, William H. 2012. Surprises and Insights from Long-Term Aquatic Data Sets and Experiments. BioScience 62: 709–721.
- Dovciak, Martin; Halpern, Charles B. 2010. Positive diversity-stability relationships in forest herb populations during four decades of community assembly. Ecology Letters 13: 1300-1309.
- Driscoll, C. T.; Lambert, K. F.; Chapin III, F. S.; Nowak, D.; Spies, Thomas A.; Swanson, Frederick J.; Kittredge Jr., D. B.; Hart, C. M. 2012. Science and society: the role of long-term studies in environmental stewardship. BioScience 62: 354-366.
- Duane, Maureen V.; Cohen, Warren B.; Campbell, John Lennon; Hudiburg, Tara; Turner, David P.; Weyermann, Dale L. 2010. Implications of alternative field-sampling designs on Landsat-based mapping of stand age and carbon stocks in Oregon forests. Forest Science 56: 405-416.
- Eisenberg, Cristina. 2010. The long view: old-growth rain forest food webs. Pages 109-142 in Eisenberg, C, ed. The wolf's tooth: keystone predators, trophic Cascades, and biodiversity. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Ellison, Aaron M. 2013. The Suffocating Embrace of Landscape and the Picturesque Conditioning of Ecology. Landscape Journal 32: 79-94.

- Firn, Jennifer; Moore, Joslin L.; MacDougall, Andrew S.; Borer, Elizabeth T.; Seabloom, Eric W.; HilleRisLambers, Janneke; Harpole, Stanley; Cleland, Elsa E.; Brown, Cynthia S.; Knops, Johannes M.H.; Prober, Suzanne M.; Pyke, David A.; Farrell, Kelly A.; Bakker, Jonathan D.; O'Halloran, Lydia R.; Adler, Peter B.; Collins, Scott L.; D'Antonio, Carla M.; Crawley, Michael J.; Wolkovich, Elizabeth M.; La Pierre, Kimberly J.; Melbourne, Brett A.; Hautier, Yann; Morgan, John W.; Leakey, Andrew D.B.; Kay, Adam D.; McCulley, Rebecca L.; Davies, Kendi F.; Stevens, Carly J.; Chu, Cheng-Jin. 2011. Abundance of introduced species at home predicts abundance away in herbaceous communities. Ecology Letters 14: 274-281.
- Forsman, Eric D.; Anthony, Robert G.; Dugger, Katie M.; Glenn, Elizabeth M.; Franklin, A. B.; White, G. C.; Schwartz, C. J.; Burnham, K. P.; Anderson, D. R.; Nichols, J. D.; Hines, J. E.; Lint, Joseph B.; Davis, Raymond J.; Ackers, Steven H.; Andrews, L. S.; Biswell, Brian L.; Carlson, P. C.; Diller, L. V.; Gremel, S.; Herter, D. R.; Higley, J. M.; Horn, R. B.; Reid, Janice A. .NULL.; Schaberl, James P.; Snetsinger, T. J.; Sovern, Stan G. 2011. Population demography of northern spotted owls. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Frentress, Jason J.B. 2010. Stream DOC, nitrate, chloride and SUVA response to land use during winter baseflow conditions in sub-basins of the Willamette River basin, OR. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 93 p. M.S. thesis.
- Furniss, Michael J.; Millar, C. I.; Peterson, David L.; Joyce, Linda A.; Neilson, Ronald P.; Halofsky, J. E.; Kerns, Becky K. 2009. Adapting to climate change: a short course for land managers. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Gabrielli, Chris. 2011. The Role of Bedrock Groundwater in Rainfall-Runoff Response at Hillslope and Catchment Scales. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 119 p. M.S. Thesis.
- Gabrielli, Chris; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2011. An inexpensive and portable drill rig for bedrock groundwater studies in headwater catchments. Hydrological Processes 26: 622-632.
- Gabrielli, Chris; McDonnell, Jeffrey J.; Jarvis, W. T. 2012. The role of bedrock groundwater in rainfallrunoff response at hillslope and catchment scales. Journal of Hydrology 450-451: 117-133.
- Giesen, Thomas W.; Perakis, Steven S.; Cromack Jr., Kermit. 2008. Four centuries of soil carbon and nitrogen change after stand-replacing fire in a forest landscape in the western Cascade Range of Oregon. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 38: 2455-2464.
- González-Pinzón, Ricardo. 2013. Integrating solute transport, metabolism and processing in stream ecosystems. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 144 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- González-Pinzón, Ricardo; Haggerty, Roy; Myrold, David D. 2012. Measuring aerobic respiration in stream ecosystems using the resazurin-resorufin system. Journal of Geophysical Research 117: 10.
- González-Pinzón, Ricardo; Haggerty, Roy; Dentz, Marco. 2013. Scaling and predicting solute transport processes in streams. Water Resources Research 49: 1-18.
- Goodrich, Charles. 2011. On the spot: along the disturbance gradient. Pages 35-37 in Campbell, S, ed. The face of the earth: natural landscapes, science, and culture, University of California Press.
- Gooseff, Michael N.; Wondzell, Steven M.; McGlynn, Brian L. 2008. On the relationships among temporal patterns of evapo-transpiration, stream flow and riparian water levels in headwater catchments during baseflow. Pages 842-851. Proceedings of 36th IAH Congress: Integrating groundwater science and human well-being.
- Graham, Christopher Brian. 2008. A macroscale measurement and modeling approach to improve understanding of the hydrology of steep, forested hillslopes. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 158 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Graham, Christopher Brian; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2010. Hillslope threshold response to rainfall: (2) development and use of a macroscale model. Journal of Hydrology 393: 77-93.

- Graham, Christopher Brian; Woods, Ross A.; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2010. Hillslope threshold response to rainfall: (1) a field based forensic approach. Journal of Hydrology 393: 65-76.
- Graham, Christopher Brian; Barnard, Holly R.; Kavanagh, Kathleen L.; McNamara, James P. 2012. Catchment scale controls the temporal connection of transpiration and diel fluctuations in streamflow. Hydrological Processes 26: 16.
- Gray, Andrew N.; Spies, Thomas A.; Pabst, Robert J. 2012. Canopy gaps affect long-term patterns of tree growth and mortality in mature and old-growth forests in the Pacific Northwest. Forest Ecology and Management 281: 111-120.
- Griffiths, Robert P.; Madritch, Michael D.; Swanson, Alan K. 2009. The effects of topography on forest soil characteristics in the Oregon Cascade Mountains (USA): implications for the effects of climate change on soil properties. Forest Ecology and Management 257: 1-7.
- Griffiths, Robert P.; Gray, Andrew N.; Spies, Thomas A. 2010. Soil properties in old-growth Douglas-fir forest gaps in the western Cascade Mountains of Oregon. Northwest Science 84: 33-45.
- Haggerty, Roy. 2013. Analytical solution and simplified analysis of coupled parent-daughter steady-state transport with multirate mass transfer. Water Resources Research 49: 635-639.
- Hahn-Taylor, Jessica Erica. 2012. Chop Wood, Carry Water. Prime Number. January-March 2012(17):
- Hale, Cody Vaniel. 2011. Beyond the Paired-Catchment Approach: Isotope Tracing to Illuminate Stocks, Flows, Transit Time, and Scaling. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 189 p. Doctor of Philosophy thesis.
- Hall Jr., Robert O.; Tank, Jennifer L.; Sobota, Daniel J.; Mulholland, Patrick J.; O'Brien, Jonathan M.; Dodds, Walter K.; Webster, Jackson R.; Valett, H. Maurice; Poole, Geoffrey C.; Peterson, Bruce J.; Meyer, Judy L.; McDowell, William H.; Johnson, Sherri L.; Hamilton, Stephen K.; Grimm, Nancy B.; Gregory, Stanley V.; Dahm, Clifford N.; Cooper, Lee W.; Ashkenas, Linda R.; Thomas, Suzanne M.; Sheibley, Richard W.; Potter, Jody D.; Niederlehner, B. R.; Johnson, Laura T.; Helton, Ashley M.; Crenshaw, Chelsea L.; Burgin, Amy J.; Bernot, Melody J.; Beaulieu, Jake J.; Arango, Clay P. 2009. Nitrate removal in stream ecosystems measured by 15N addition experiments: total uptake. Limnology and Oceanography 54: 653-665.
- Halpern, Charles B.; Lutz, James A. 2013. Canopy closure exerts weak controls on understory dynamics: A 30-year study of overstory-understory interactions. Ecological Monographs 82: 221-237.
- Halpern, Charles B.; Haugo, Ryan D.; Antos, Joseph A.; Kaas, S. S.; Kilanowski, A. L. 2012. Grassland restoration with and without fire: evidence from a tree-removal experiment. Ecological Applications 22: 425-441.
- Harmon, Mark E.; Silver, Whendee L.; Fasth, Becky; Chen, Hua; Burke, Ingrid C.; Parton, William J.; Hart, Stephen C.; Currie, William S.; LIDET. 2009. Long-term patterns of mass loss during the decomposition of leaf and fine root litter: an intersite comparison. Global Change Biology 15: 1320-1338.
- Hartman, M. D.; Baron, Jill S.; Clow, David W.; Creed, Irena F.; Driscoll, C. T.; Ewing, H. A.; Haines, B. D.; Knoepp, Jennifer D.; Lajtha, Kate; Ojima, D. S.; Parton, William J.; Renfro, J.; Robinson, R. B.; Van Miegroet, Helga; Weathers, Kathleen C.; Williams, Mark W. 2009. DayCent-Chem simulations of ecological and biogeochemical processes of eight mountain ecosystems in the United States. Reston, VA: U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey.
- Hatcher, Kendra L. 2011. Interacting effects of climate, forest dynamics, landforms, and river regulation on streamflow trends since 1950: examples from the Willamette Basin and forested headwater sites in the US. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 239 p. M.S. thesis.
- Hatcher, Kendra L.; Jones, Julia A. 2013. Climate and Streamflow Trends in the Columbia River Basin: Evidence for Ecological and Engineering Resilience to Climate Change. Atmosphere-Ocean: 1-20.

- Haugo, Ryan D. 2010. Causes and consequences of conifer invasion into Pacific Northwest grasslands. Seattle, WA: University of Washington. 187 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Haugo, Ryan D.; Halpern, Charles B. 2010. Tree age and tree species shape positive and negative interactions in a montane meadow. Botany 88: 488-499.
- Haugo, Ryan D.; Halpern, Charles B.; Bakker, Jonathan D. 2011. Landscape context and long-term tree influences shape the dynamics of forest-meadow ecotones in mountain ecosystems. Ecosphere 2: art91.
- Hayduk, Evan. 2012. Using LiDAR Data to Estimate Effective Leaf Area Index, Determine Biometrics and Visualize Canopy Structure in a Central Oregon Forest with Complex Terrain. Olympia, WA: The Evergreen State College. 149 p. M.S. Thesis.
- Healey, Sean P.; Cohen, Warren B.; Spies, Thomas A.; Moeur, Melinda; Pflugmacher, Dirk; Whitley, M. German; Lefsky, Michael A. 2008. The relative impact of harvest and fire upon landscape-level dynamics of older forests: lessons from the Northwest Forest Plan. Ecosystems 11: 1106-1119.
- Helton, Ashley M.; Poole, Geoffrey C.; Meyer, Judy L.; Wollheim, Wilfred M.; Peterson, Bruce J.; Mulholland, Patrick J.; Bernhardt, Emily S.; Stanford, Jack A.; Arango, Clay P.; Ashkenas, Linda R.; Cooper, Lee W.; Dodds, Walter K.; Gregory, Stanley V.; Hall Jr., Robert O.; Hamilton, Stephen K.; Johnson, Sherri L.; McDowell, William H.; Potter, Jody D.; Tank, Jennifer L.; Thomas, Suzanne M.; Valett, H. Maurice; Webster, Jackson R.; Zeglin, Lydia. 2011. Thinking outside the channel: modeling nitrogen cycling in networked river ecosystems. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9: 229-238.
- Hesse, Cedar. 2012. Characterization of Fungal and Bacterial Communities Associated with Mat-forming Ectomycorrhizal Fungi from Old-growth Stands in the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 166 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Highland, Steven. 2011. The historic and contemporary ecology of western Cascade Meadows: archeology, vegetation, and macromoth ecology. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 354 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Highland, Steven; Miller, Jeffrey C.; Jones, Julia A.; Labandeira, C. 2013. Determinants of moth diversity and community in a temperate mountain landscape: vegetation, topography, and seasonality. Ecosphere 4.
- Hirshfield, Jane. 2010. Wild Ginger. Orion. November/December.
- Hirshfield, Jane. 2011. For the Lichens. The Atlantic. April.
- Hodder, Janet. 2009. What are undergraduates doing at biological field stations and marine laboratories. BioScience 59: 666-672.
- Hoshaw, Robert M. 2009. The contribution of reflective writing to ecological awareness at the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest. Eugene, OR: University of Oregon. 94 p. M.S. thesis.
- Hutchinson, Rebecca A.; Liu, L.-P.; Dietterich, Thomas G. 2011. Incorporating boosted regression trees into ecological latent variable models. Pages 1982. Proceedings of the Twenty-Fifth AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence. San Francisco, CA: Association for the Advancement of Artificial Intelligence (AAAI) Press.
- Inman, Timothy B. 2011. Local perceptions of social-ecological change on the McKenzie: implications for resilience. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 156 p. M.P.P. essay.
- Jackson, Tracie R.; Haggerty, Roy; Apte, Sourabh V.; Coleman, Anthony; Drost, Kevin J. 2012. Defining and measuring the mean residence time of lateral surface transient storage zones in small streams. Water Resources Research 48: 20.

Johnson, William. 2012. Voice in the whirlwind. The Georgia Review. 89-103.

- Johnson, K. Norman; Swanson, Frederick J. 2009. Historical context of old-growth forests in the Pacific Northwest--policy, practices, and competing worldviews. Pages 12-28 in Spies, TADSL, ed. Old growth in a new world: a Pacific Northwest icon reexamined. Washington, DC: Covelo, CA: Island Press.
- Johnson, Jeffrey C.; Christian, Robert R.; Brunt, James W.; Hickman, Caleb R.; Waide, Robert B. 2010. Evolution of collaboration within the US Long Term Ecological Research Network. BioScience 60: 931-940.
- Johnston, James; Bailey, John D.; Bond, Barbara J; Duncan, Sally L.; Hulse, David W.; Reeves, Gordon H.; Steel, Brent S.; Swanson, Frederick J.; Institute for Natural Resources. 2008. Nonequilibrium ecosystem dynamics: management implications for Oregon. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University.
- Jones, Julia A. 2011. Hydrologic responses to climate change: considering geographic context and alternative hypotheses. Hydrological Processes.
- Jones, Julia A.; Perkins, Reed M. 2010. Extreme flood sensitivity to snow and forest harvest, western Cascades, Oregon, United States. Water Resources Research 46.
- Jones, Julia A.; Achterman, Gail L.; Augustine, L. A.; Creed, Irena F.; Ffolliott, Peter F.; MacDonald, Lee H.; Wemple, Beverley C. 2009. Hydrologic effects of a changing forested landscape--challenges for the hydrological sciences. Hydrological Processes 23: 2699-2704.
- Jones, Julia A.; Creed, Irena F.; Hatcher, Kendra L.; Warren, Robert J.; Adams, Mary Beth; Benson, Melinda H.; Boose, Emery R.; Brown, Warren A.; Campbell, John L.; Covich, Alan; Clow, David W.; Dahm, Clifford N.; Elder, Kelly; Ford, Chelcy R.; Grimm, Nancy B.; Henshaw, Donald L.; Larson, Kelli L.; Miles, Evan S.; Miles, Kathleen M.; Sebestyen, Stephen D.; Spargo, Adam T.; Stone, Asa B.; Vose, James M.; Williams, Mark W. 2012. Ecosystem processes and human influences regulate streamflow response to climate change at Long-Term Ecological Research sites. BioScience 62: 390-404.
- Kane, E. S.; Betts, E. F.; Burgin, Amy J.; Clilverd, H. M.; Crenshaw, Chelsea L.; Fellman, J. B.; Myers-Smith, I. H.; O'Donnell, J. A.; Sobota, Daniel J.; van Verseveld, Willem J.; Jones, Jeremy B. 2008.
   Precipitation control over inorganic nitrogen import--export budgets across watersheds: a synthesis of long-term ecological research. Ecohydrology 1: 105-117.
- Kayler, Zachary E. 2008. The methodology, implementation and analysis of the isotopic composition of soil respired CO2 in forest ecological research. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 145 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Kayler, Zachary E.; Sulzman, Elizabeth W.; Rugh, William D.; Mix, Alan C.; Bond, Barbara J. 2010. Characterizing the impact of diffusive and advective soil gas transport on the measurement and interpretation of the isotopic signal of soil respiration. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42: 435-444.
- Kayler, Zachary E.; Sulzman, Elizabeth W.; Marshall, John D.; Mix, Alan C.; Rugh, William D.; Bond, Barbara J. 2008. A laboratory comparison of two methods used to estimate the isotopic composition of soil d13CO2 efflux at steady state. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 22: 2533-2538.
- Kayler, Zachary E.; Ganio, Lisa M.; Hauck, Mark J.; Pypker, Thomas G.; Sulzman, Elizabeth W.; Mix, Alan C.; Bond, Barbara J. 2009. Bias and uncertainty of d13CO2 isotopic mixing models. Oecologia.
- Keane, Robert E.; Hessburg, P. F.; Landres, Peter B.; Swanson, Frederick J. 2009. The use of historical range and variability (HRV) in landscape management. Forest Ecology and Management 258: 1025-1037.
- Keiluweit, Marco; Bougoure, Jeremy J.; Zeglin, Lydia; Myrold, David D.; Weber, Peter K.; Pett-Ridge, Jennifer; Kleber, Markus; Nico, Peter S. 2012. Nano-scale investigation of the association of microbial nitrogen residues with iron (hydr)oxides in a forest soil O-horizon. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 95: 213-226.

- Kennedy, Robert E.; Yang, Zhiqiang; Cohen, Warren B. 2010. Detecting trends in forest disturbance and recovery using yearly Landsat time series: 1. LandTrendr -- temporal segmentation algorithms. Remote Sensing of Environment 114: 2897-2910.
- Kimmerer, Robin W. 2011. Witness to the rain. Pages 187-195 in Fleischner, TL, ed. The way of natural history. San Antonio, TX: Trinity University Press.
- Kluber, Laurel Anne. 2010. Microbial and biochemical dynamics of ectomycorrhizal mat and non-mat forest soils. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 98 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Kluber, Laurel Anne; Smith, Jane E.; Myrold, David D. 2011. Distinctive fungal and bacterial communities are associated with mats formed by ectomycorrhizal fungi. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 43: 1042-1050.
- Kluber, Laurel Anne; Tinnesand, Kathryn M.; Caldwell, Bruce A.; Dunham, Susie M.; Yarwood, Rockie R.; Bottomley, Peter J.; Myrold, David D. 2010. Ectomycorrhizal mats alter forest soil biogeochemistry. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42: 1607-1613.
- Kremer, N. J.; Halpern, Charles B.; Antos, Joseph A. In Press. Conifer reinvasion of montane meadows following experimental tree removal and prescribed burning. Forest Ecology and Management.
- Lajtha, Kate; Baveye, Philippe C. 2010. How should we deal with the growing peer-review problem? Biogeochemistry 101: 1-3.
- Lajtha, Kate; Jones, Julia A. 2010. Comment on 'Kane et al. 2008. Precipitation control over inorganic nitrogen import-export budgets across watersheds: a synthesis of long-term ecological research. Ecohydrology 1(2): 105–117'. Ecohydrology 3: 368-369.
- Lajtha, Kate; Jones, Julia A. 2013. Trends in cation, nitrogen, sulfate and hydrogen ion concentrations in precipitation in the United States and Europe from 1978 to 2010: a new look at an old problem. Biogeochemistry: 32.
- Laudon, Hjalmar; Buttle, Jim M.; Carey, Sean K.; McDonnell, Jeffrey J.; McGuire, Kevin J.; Seibert, Jan; Shanley, Jamie; Soulsby, Chris; Tetzlaff, Doerthe. 2012. Cross-regional prediction of long-term trajectory of stream water DOC response to climate change. Geophysical Research Letters 39: 6.
- Li, Judith L. 2013. Ellie's Log: Her Notes About the Forest Where the Great Tree Fell. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University Press.
- Li, Judith L.; Herlihy, Alan; Gerth, William J.; Kaufmann, Philip; Gregory, Stanley V.; Urquhart, Scott; Larsen, David P. 2001. Variability in stream macroinvertebrates at multiple spatial scales. Freshwater Biology 46: 87-97.
- Lin, Chau-Chin; Rahman, Abdul bin Kassim; Vanderbilt, Kristin L.; Henshaw, Donald L.; Melendez-Colom, Eda C.; Porter, John H.; Niiyama, Kaoru; Yagihashi, Tsutomu; Sek Aun, Tan; Lu, Sheng-Shan; Hsiao, Chi-Wen; Chang, Li-Wan; Jeng, Meei-Ru. 2011. An ecoinformatics application for forest dynamics plot data management and sharing. Taiwan Journal of Forest Science 26: 357-369.
- Lind, Eric M.; Borer, Elizabeth T.; Seabloom, Eric W.; Adler, Peter B.; Bakker, Jonathan D.; Blumenthal, Dana M.; Crawley, Mick; Davies, Kendi F.; Firn, Jennifer; Gruner, Daniel S.; Harpole, Stanley; Hautier, Yann; Hillebrand, Helmut; Knops, Johannes M.H.; Melbourne, Brett A.; Mortensen, Brent; Risch, Anita C.; Schuetz, Martin; Stevens, Carly J.; Wragg, Peter D. 2013. Life-history constraints in grassland plant species: a growth-defence trade-off is the norm. Ecology Letters 16: 513-521.
- Lindh, Briana C. 2008. Flowering of understory herbs following thinning in the western Cascades, Oregon. Forest Ecology and Management 256: 929-936.
- Liu, Weiguo; Song, Conghe; Schroeder, Todd A.; Cohen, Warren B. 2008. Predicting forest successional stages using multitemporal Landsat imagery with forest inventory and analysis data. International Journal of Remote Sensing 29: 3855-3872.

- Lookingbill, Todd R.; Rocca, Monique E.; Urban, Dean L. 2011. Focused assessment of scale-dependent vegetation pattern. Pages 111-138 in Drew, CAWYFHF, ed. Predictive species and habitat modeling in landscape ecology: concepts and applications, Springer.
- Lowman, Margaret D.; Schowalter, Timothy D.; Franklin, Jerry F. 2012. Methods in Forest Canopy Research. New Jersey: UC Press.
- Manning, Tom; Hagar, Joan C.; McComb, Brenda C. 2011. Thinning of young Douglas-fir forests decreases density of northern flying squirrels in the Oregon Cascades. Forest Ecology and Management 264: 115-124.
- Manore, Carrie A. 2011. Non-spatial and spatial models for multi-host pathogen spread in competing species: applications to barley yellow dwarf virus and rinderpest. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 189 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Manzoni, Stefano; Jackson, Robert B.; Trofymow, John A.; Porporato, Amilcare. 2008. The global stoichiometry of litter nitrogen mineralization. Science 321: 684-686.
- McCormick, Frank H.; Contreras, Glen C.; Johnson, Sherri L. 2010. Effects of nonindigenous invasive species on water quality and quantity. Pages 111-120 in Dix, MEBK, ed. A dynamic invasive species research vision: opportunities and priorities 2009-29, vol. Gen. Tech. Rep. WO-79. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Research and Development.
- McDonnell, Jeffrey J.; McGuire, Kevin J.; Aggarwal, P. K.; Beven, Keith J.; Biondi, D.; Destouni, G.; Dunn, Sarah M.; James, A.; Kirchner, J.; Kraft, P.; Lyon, Stephanie; Maloszewski, P.; Newman, B.; Pfister, L.; Rinaldo, A.; Rodhe, Allan; Sayama, Takahiro; Seibert, Jan; Solomon, K.; Soulsby, Chris; Stewart, Mike; Tetzlaff, Doerthe; Tobin, C.; Toch, P.; Weiler, Markus; Western, A.; Wörman, A.; Wrede, S. 2010. How old is streamwater? Open questions in catchment transit time conceptualization, modelling and analysis. Hydrological Processes 24: 1745-1754.
- McGarvey, Daniel J.; Johnston, John M. 2011. A simple method to predict regional fish abundance: an example in the Mckenzie River Basin, Oregon. Fisheries 36: 534-546.
- McGuire, Kevin J.; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2010. Hydrological connectivity of hillslopes and streams: characteristic time scales and nonlinearities. Water Resources Research 46.
- Michel, Alexa K.; Winter, Susanne. 2009. Tree microhabitat structures as indicators of biodiversity in Douglas-fir forests of different stand ages and management histories in the Pacific Northwest, U.S.A. Forest Ecology and Management 257: 1453-1464.
- Michener, William K.; Bildstein, Keith L.; McKee, W. Arthur; Parmenter, Robert R.; Hargrove, W. W.; McClearn, Deedra; Stromberg, Mark. 2009. Biological field stations: research legacies and sites for serendipity. BioScience 59: 300-310.
- Miles, Kathleen M. 2010. Trends in streamflow from old growth forested watersheds in the western Cascades. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 220 p. M.S. research paper.
- Miller, Jeffrey C. 2009. International collaboration on biodiversity research: a practical, conceptual, and empirical perspective. Naresuan Phayao Journal 2: 1-12.
- Miller, Jeffrey C. 2010. Insects and relatives In: Hixon, Mark A.; Gregory, Stanley V.; Robinson, W. Douglas: Oregon's fish and wildlife in a changing climate. Corvallis, OR: Oregon Climate Change Research Institute, College of Oceanic and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University.
- Mitchell, Stephen Richard; Harmon, Mark E.; O'Connell, Kari B. 2009. Forest fuel reduction alters fire severity and long-term carbon storage in three Pacific Northwest ecosystems. Ecological Applications 19: 643-655.
- Mitchell, Stephen Richard; Harmon, Mark E.; O'Connell, Kari B. 2012. Carbon debt and carbon sequestration parity in forest bioenergy production. GCB Bioenergy 4: 818-827.
- Mitchell, Stephen Richard; Harmon, Mark E.; O'Connell, Kari B.; Beven, Keith J.; Freer, Jim E.; Moreno, Adam; Schnekenburg, Frank. 2009. The Effects of Forest Fuel Reduction on Fire Severity and Long-term Carbon Storage. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 176 p. Ph.D. Dissertation.

- Moore, Kathleen Dean. 2010. Re-imagine the place of humans in the natural world. Terrain.org. Fall/Winter(26):
- Moore, Sean M. 2010. The effects of community composition, landscape structure, and climate on hostpathogen interactions. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 228 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Moore, Georgianne W.; Jones, Julia A.; Bond, Barbara J. 2011. How soil moisture mediates the influence of transpiration on streamflow at hourly to interannual scales in a forested catchment. Hydrological Processes.25(24): 3701-3710.
- Moore, Sean M.; Manore, Carrie A.; Bokil, Vrushali A.; Borer, Elizabeth T.; Hosseini, P. R. 2011. Spatiotemporal model of barley and cereal yellow dwarf virus transmission dynamics with seasonality and plant competition. Bulletin of Mathematical Biology.73(11): 2707-2730.
- Mulholland, Patrick J.; Hall Jr., Robert O.; Sobota, Daniel J.; Dodds, Walter K.; Findlay, Stuart G.; Grimm, Nancy B.; Hamilton, Stephen K.; McDowell, William H.; O'Brien, Jonathan M.; Tank, Jennifer L.; Ashkenas, Linda R.; Cooper, Lee W.; Dahm, Clifford N.; Gregory, Stanley V.; Johnson, Sherri L.; Meyer, Judy L.; Peterson, Bruce J.; Poole, Geoffrey C.; Valett, H. Maurice; Webster, Jackson R.; Arango, Clay P.; Beaulieu, Jake J.; Bernot, Melody J.; Burgin, Amy J.; Crenshaw, Chelsea L.; Helton, Ashley M.; Johnson, Laura T.; Niederlehner, B. R.; Potter, Jody D.; Sheibley, Richard W. 2009. Nitrate removal in stream ecosystems measured by 15N addition experiments: denitrification. Limnology and Oceanography 54: 666-680.
- Nash, J. Madeleine. 2010. Computer model slices and dices mountain climates. High Country News. p. 19.
- National Research Council. 2008. Hydrologic effects of a changing forest landscape--report brief. Washington, DC: The National Academy of Sciences.
- Neal, Lawrence; Briggs, Forrest; Raich, Raviv; Fern, Xiaoli Z. 2011. Time-frequency segmentation of bird song in noisy acoustic environments. Pages 2012-2015. Proceedings of the 2011 International conference on acoustics, speech and signal processing. Czech Republic.
- Nisbet, Matthew C.; Hixon, Mark A.; Moore, Kathleen Dean; Nelson, Michael P. 2010. Four cultures: new synergies for engaging society on climate change. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 8: 329-331.
- Nolin, Anne W. 2012. Perspectives on climate change, mountain hydrology, and water resources in the Oregon Cascades, USA. Mountain Research and Development 32: S35-S46.
- O'Halloran, Lydia R.; Borer, Elizabeth T.; Seabloom, Eric W.; MacDougall, Andrew S.; Cleland, Elsa E.; McCulley, Rebecca L.; Hobbie, Sarah; Harpole, Stanley; DeCrappeo, Nicole M.; Chu, Cheng-Jin; Bakker, Jonathan D.; Davies, Kendi F.; Du, Guozhen; Firn, Jennifer; Hagenah, Nicole; Hofmockel, Kirsten S.; Knops, Johannes M.H.; Li, Wei; Melbourne, Brett A.; Morgan, John W.; Orrock, John L.; Prober, Suzanne M.; Stevens, Carly J. 2013. Regional Contingencies in the Relationship between Aboveground Biomass and Litter in the World's Grasslands. PLOS ONE 8: 1-9, e54988.
- Olsen, Christine S.; Mallon, Angela L.; Shindler, Bruce A. 2012. Public Acceptance of Disturbance-Based Forest Management: Factors Influencing Support. International Scholarly Research Network (ISRN Forestry): 10.
- Oregon Climate Change Research Institute. 2010. Oregon climate assessment report. Corvallis, OR: College of Oceanic and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University.
- Pan, Feifei; Stieglitz, Marc; McKane, Robert B. 2012. An algorithm for treating flat areas and depressions in digital elevation models using linear interpolation. Water Resources Research 48: 13 p.
- Parks, Noreen; Wondzell, Steven M.; Jencso, Kelsey; Payn, Rob. 2009. Exploring connections between landscapes and streams. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Pennisi, Elizabeth. 2009. Western U.S. forests suffer death by degrees. Science 323: 447.

- Pepin, N. C.; Daly, Christopher; Lundquist, J. 2011. The influence of surface versus free-air decoupling on temperature trend patterns in the western United States. Journal of Geophysical Research 116.
- Peters, Debra P. C.; Lugo, Ariel E.; Chapin III, F. S.; Tepley, Alan J.; Swanson, Frederick J. 2011. Disturbance regimes and ecological responses across sites in Yao, J, ed. Long-term trends in ecological systems: A basis for understanding responses to global change. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service.
- Peters, Debra P. C.; Lugo, Ariel E.; Chapin III, F. S.; Tepley, Alan J.; Swanson, Frederick J. 2013. Disturbances Regimes and Ecological Responses Across Sites. Long-Term Trends in Ecological Systems: A Basis for Understanding Responses to Global Change. Washington, DC: United States Department of Agriculture.
- Peters, Debra P. C.; Lugo, Ariel E.; Chapin III, F. S.; Pickett, Steward A.; Duniway, Michael; Rocha, Adrian V.; Swanson, Frederick J.; Laney, Christine; Jones, Julia A. 2011. Cross-system comparisons elucidate disturbance complexities and generalities. Ecosphere 2: art81.
- Peters, Debra P. C.; Laney, Christine; Lugo, Ariel E.; Collins, Scott L.; Driscoll, C. T.; Groffman, Peter M.; Grove, J. Morgan; Knapp, Alan; Kratz, Timothy K.; Ohman, Mark D.; Waide, Robert B.; Yao, Jin. 2013. Long-Term Trends in Ecological Systems: A Basis for Understanding Responses to Global Change. Washington, DC: United States Department of Agriculture.
- Peterson, Brenda. 2012. Restoring Our Nature: Kids in the Wild. Huffpost Green. June 14, 2012.
- Peterson, Fox. 2012. Post-harvest establishment influences ANPP, soil C and DOC export in complex mountainous terrain. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 258 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Peterson, Fox; Lajtha, Kate. 2013. Linking aboveground net primary productivity to soil carbon and dissolved organic carbon in complex terrain. Journal of Geophysical research: biogeosciences 118: 1225-1236.
- Pfeiffer, Vera Wilder. 2012. Influence of Spatial and Temporal Factors on Plants, Pollinators and Plantpollinator Interactions in Montane Meadows of the Western Cascades Range. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 287 p. M.S. thesis.
- Pflugmacher, Dirk; Cohen, Warren B.; Kennedy, Robert E.; Lefsky, Michael A. 2008. Regional applicability of forest height and aboveground biomass models for the Geoscience Laser Altimeter System. Forest Science 54: 647-657.
- Pham, Tuan N.; Jones, Julia A.; Metoyer, Ronald; Swanson, Frederick J.; Pabst, Robert J. 2013. Interactive visual analysis promotes exploration of long-term ecological data. Ecosphere 4: 22.
- Pham, Tuan N.; Highland, Steven; Metoyer, Ronald; Henshaw, Donald L.; Miller, Jeffrey C.; Jones, Julia A. 2011. Interactive visualization of spatial and temporal patterns of diversity and abundance in ecological data. Pages 104-110 in Jones, MBGC, ed. Proceedings of the environmental information management conference (EIM 2011): University of California.
- Phillips, Claire. 2009. Distinguishing biological and physical controls on soil respiration. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 137 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Phillips, Claire; Nickerson, Nick; Risk, David; Bond, Barbara J. 2011. Interpreting diel hysteresis between soil respiration and temperature. Global Change Biology 17: 515-527.
- Phillips, Claire; Kluber, Laurel Anne; Martin, J. P.; Caldwell, Bruce A.; Bond, Barbara J. 2012. Contributions of ectomycorrhizal fungal mats to forest soil respiration. Biogeosciences 9: 2099-2110.
- Phillips, Claire; Nickerson, Nick; Risk, David; Kayler, Zachary E.; Andersen, Christian P.; Mix, Alan C.; Bond, Barbara J. 2010. Soil moisture effects on the carbon isotope composition of soil respiration. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 24: 1271-1280.

- Pypker, Thomas G.; Barnard, Holly R.; Hauck, Mark J.; Sulzman, Elizabeth W.; Unsworth, Michael H.; Mix, Alan C.; Kennedy, Adam M; Bond, Barbara J. 2009. Can carbon isotopes be used to predict watershed-scale transpiration? Water Resources Research 45.
- Rasmussen, Janet Kaye. 2009. Reactive polyphenols and dissolved nutrients in a nitrogen-limited headwater catchment, western Cascades, Oregon, USA. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 92 p. M.S. thesis.
- Rice, Janine M. 2009. Forest-meadow dynamics in the central western Oregon Cascades: topographic, biotic, and environmental change effects. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 221 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Rice, Janine M.; Halpern, Charles B.; Antos, Joseph A.; Jones, Julia A. 2012. Spatio-temporal patterns of tree establishment are indicative of biotic interactions during early invasion of a montane meadow. Plant Ecology 213: 555-568.
- Robertson, G. Philip; Collins, Scott L.; Foster, David R.; Brokaw, Nicholas; Ducklow, Hugh W.; Gragson, Ted L.; Gries, Corinna; Hamilton, Stephen K.; McGuire, A. D.; Moore, J.; Stanley, Emily H.; Waide, Robert B.; Williams, Mark W. 2012. Long-term ecological research in a human-dominated world. BioScience 62: 342-353.
- Rogers, Pattiann. 2008. Wayfare. New York, NY: Penquin Group.
- Roth, Travis R. 2010. Headwater stream characterization: an energy and physical approach to stream temperature using distributed temperature sensing. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 85 p. M.S. thesis.
- Ryan, M. G.; Harmon, Mark E.; Birdsey, R. A.; Giardina, Christian P.; Heath, L.; Houghton, R. A.; Jackson, Robert B.; McKinley, Duncan C.; Morrison, James F.; Murray, Brian C.; Pataki, Diane E.; Skog, Kenneth E. 2010. A synthesis of the science on forests and carbon for U.S. forests. Issues in Ecology Spring: 1-16.
- San Gil, Inigo; Baker, Karen S.; Campbell, John L.; Denny, Ellen G.; Vanderbilt, Kristin L.; Riordan, Brian; Koskela, Rebecca; Downing, Jason; Grabner, Sabine; Melendez-Colom, Eda C.; Walsh, Jonathan M.; Kortz, Mason; Conners, James; Yarmey, Lynn; Kaplan, Nicole; Boose, Emery R.; Powell, Linda; Gries, Corinna; Schroeder, Robin; Ackerman, Todd; Ramsey, Ken; Benson, Barbara J.; Chipman, Jonathan; Laundre, James; Garritt, Hap; Henshaw, Donald L.; Collins, Barrie; Gardner, Christopher; Bohm, Sven; O'Brien, Margaret. 2009. The long-term ecological research community metadata standardisation project: a progress report. International Journal of Metadata, Semantics and Ontologies 4: 141-153.
- Sanders, Scott Russell. 2009. Mind in the forest: an intimate encounter with really old trees. Orion. November/December: 48-53.
- Sanders, Scott Russell. 2011. Mind in the forest. Pages 196-212 in Fleischner, TL, ed. The way of natural history. San Antonio, TX: Trinity University Press.
- Sayama, Takahiro; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2009. A new time-space accounting scheme to predict stream water residence time and hydrograph source components at the watershed scale. Water Resources Research 45.
- Sayre, Gordan. 2013. The Oxymoron of American Pastoralism. Arizona Quarterly: A Journal of American Literature, Culture, and Theory. 69(4): 1-23.
- Schroeder, Todd A.; Gray, Andrew N.; Harmon, Mark E.; Wallin, David O.; Cohen, Warren B. 2008. Estimating live forest carbon dynamics with a Landsat-based curve-fitting approach. Journal of Applied Remote Sensing 2.
- Seibert, Jan; McDonnell, Jeffrey J. 2010. Land-cover impacts on streamflow: a change-detection modelling approach that incorporates parameter uncertainty. Hydrological Sciences Journal. 55(3): 316-332.

- Seidl, Rupert; Spies, Thomas A.; Rammer, Werner; Steel, E. Ashley; Pabst, Robert J.; Olsen, Keith A. 2012. Multi-scale Drivers of Spatial Variation in Old-Growth Forest Carbon Density Disentangled with Lidar and an Individual-Based Landscape Model. Ecosystems 15: 1321-1335.
- Seidl, Rupert; Rammer, Werner; Scheller, Robert M.; Spies, Thomas A. 2012. An individual-based process model to simulate landscape-scale forest ecosystem dynamics. Ecological Modelling. 231: 87-100.
- Selker, John S. 2008. Taking the temperature of ecological systems with fiber optics. Eos, Transactions, American Geophysical Union 89: 187-188.
- Sexton, Jay M.; Harmon, Mark E. 2009. Water dynamics in conifer logs in early stages of decay in the Pacific Northwest, U.S.A. Northwest Science 83: 131-139.
- Sharik, Terry L.; Adair, William; Baker, Fred A.; Battaglia, Michael; Comfort, Emily J.; D'Amato, Anthony W.; Delong, Craig; DeRose, R. Justin; Ducey, Mark J.; Harmon, Mark E.; Levy, Louise; Logan, Jesse A.; O'Brien, Joseph; Palik, Brian J.; Roberts, Scott D.; Rogers, Paul C.; Shinnerman, Douglas J.; Spies, Thomas A.; Taylor, Sarah L.; Woodall, Christopher W.; Youngblood, Andrew. 2010. Emerging themes in the ecology and management of North American forests. International Journal of Forestry Research. 11 pages. Article ID 964260
- Sherman, Lee. 2009. Wired watershed: fiberoptics bring new precision to ecosystem sensing. Terra. 4(1): 18-20.
- Sherwonit, Bill. 2009. Reflections on thrush songs, newt tracks and old-growth stands of trees. Interdisciplinary Studies in Literature and Environment [ISLE] 16: 823-835.
- Shindler, Bruce A.; Mallon, Angela L. 2009. Public acceptance of disturbance-based forest management: a study of the Blue River Landscape Strategy in the Central Cascades adaptive management area. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Sierra, Carlos Alberto. 2009. Environmental variability and system heterogeneity in terrestrial biogeochemical models. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 178 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Sierra, Carlos Alberto; Harmon, Mark E.; Thomann, Enrique A; Perakis, Steven S.; Loescher, H. W. 2011. Amplification and dampening of soil respiration by changes in temperature variability. Biogeosciences 8: 951-961.
- Sierra, Carlos Alberto; Loescher, H. W.; Harmon, Mark E.; Richardson, A. D.; Hollinger, D. Y.; Perakis, Steven S. 2009. Interannual variation of carbon fluxes from three contrasting evergreen forests: the role of forest dynamics and climate. Ecology 90: 2711-2723.
- Skyrm, Kimberly M. 2009. SMILE: Elementary outdoor science adventure (EOSA). Corvallis, OR: Smile, Oregon State University.
- Smith, Joanne Caroline. 2013. Particulate organic carbon mobilisation and export from temperate forested uplands. Cambridge, England, United Kingdom.: University of Cambridge. 248 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Smoluk, Alexis. 2011. Geographic distributions of prey of the northern spotted owl in the central western Cascades, Oregon, 1988-2009. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 74 p. M.S. thesis.
- Sobota, Daniel J.; Johnson, Sherri L.; Gregory, Stanley V.; Ashkenas, Linda R. 2012. A stable isotope tracer study of the influences of adjacent land use and riparian condition on fates of nitrate in streams. Ecosystems 15: 1-17.
- Spies, Thomas A.; Giesen, Thomas W.; Swanson, Frederick J.; Franklin, Jerry F.; Lach, Denise; Johnson, K. Norman. 2010. Climate change adaptation strategies for federal forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA: ecological, policy, and socio-economic perspectives. Landscape Ecology 25: 1185-1199.
- Sproles, Eric. 2012. Climate change impacts on mountain snowpack presented in a knowledge to action framework. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 192 p. Ph.D. dissertation.

- Stauth, David. 2012. Singing in the rain: Technology improves monitoring of bird sounds. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. p. 1.
- Steel, Brent S.; Lach, Denise; Warner, Rebecca. 2009. Science and scientists in the U.S. environmental policy process. The International Journal of Science in Society 1: 171-188.
- Stephenson, Nathan L.; Das, A. J.; Morris, William G.; Franklin, Jerry F.; Hao, Zhanqing; Harmon, Mark E.; Pabst, Robert J.; van Mantgem, Phillip J.; Wang, Xinli. 2014. Rate of tree carbon accumulation increases continuously with tree size. Nature 2014/01/15/online: 1476-4687.
- Stewart, Kenneth W. 2010. The larva of Paracapnia disala (Jewett) (Plecoptera:Capniidae). Illiesia 6: 11-15.
- Stokstad, Erik. 2011. Open-source ecology takes root across the world. Science 334: 308-309.
- Swanson, Frederick J. 2011. On the spot: approaching Chaiten volcano. Pages 45-48 in Campbell, S, ed. The face of the earth: natural landscapes, science, and culture, University of California Press.
- Swanson, Frederick J.; Eubanks, Steve; Adams, Mary Beth; Brissette, John C.; DeMuth, Carol. 2010. Guide to effective research-management collaboration at long-term environmental research sites. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-821. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. 12 p.
- Swanson, Frederick J.; Goodrich, Charles; Moore, Kathleen Dean. 2008. Bridging boundaries: scientists, creative writers, and the long view of the forest. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6: 449-504.
- Swanson, Mark E.; Franklin, Jerry F.; Beschta, Robert L.; Crisafulli, Charles M.; DellaSala, Dominick A.; Hutto, Richard L.; Lindenmayer, David B.; Swanson, Frederick J. 2010. The forgotten stage of forest succession: early-successional ecosystems on forest sites. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 9: 117-125
- Takaoka, Sadao. 2008. Developing ESD (Education for Sustainable Development) from a local perspective: a case study of forest management in the Pacific Northwest region of USA. Chiri 53: 97-104.
- Tepley, Alan J. 2010. Age structure, developmental pathways, and fire regime characterization of Douglas-fir/western hemlock forests in the central western Cascades of Oregon. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 278 p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Tepley, Alan J.; Thomann, Enrique A. 2012. Analytical approximation of a stochastic, spatial simulation model of fire and forest landscape dynamics. Ecological Modelling 233: 41-51.
- Tepley, Alan J.; Swanson, Frederick J.; Spies, Thomas A. 2013. Fire-mediated pathways of stand development in Douglas-fir/western hemlock forests of the Pacific Northwest, USA. Ecology 94: 1729-1743.
- Thompson, Jonathan R.; Wiek, Arnim; Swanson, Frederick J.; Carpenter, Steve R.; Fresco, Nancy; Hollingsworth, Teresa; Spies, Thomas A.; Foster, David R. 2012. Scenario studies as a synthetic and integrative research activity for Long-Term Ecological Research. BioScience 62: 367-376.
- U.S. Long Term Ecological Research Network. 2008. Integrative science for society and environment: a strategic research initiative [Brochure]. Albuquerque, NM: U.S. Long-Term Ecological Research Network Office.
- Valentine, Theresa J. 2011. H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest [Map]. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- van Huysen, Tiffany Lee. 2009. Nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics during decomposition of multiple litter types in temperate coniferous forests. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 160 p. Ph.D. dissertation.

- van Huysen, Tiffany Lee; Harmon, Mark E.; Perakis, Steven S.; Chen, Hua. 2013. Decomposition and nitrogen dynamics of 15N-labeled leaf, root, and twig litter in temperate coniferous forests. Oecologia 173: 1563-1573.
- van Mantgem, Phillip J.; Stephenson, Nathan L.; Byrne, John C.; Daniels, Lori D.; Franklin, Jerry F.; Fulé, P. Z.; Harmon, Mark E.; Larson, Andrew J.; Smith, Jeremy M.; Taylor, Alan H.; Veblen, Thomas T. 2009. Widespread increase of tree mortality rates in the western United States. Science 323: 521-524.
- Voltz, Thomas J. 2011. Riparian hydraulic gradient and water table dynamics in two steep headwater streams. University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University. 150 p. M.S. thesis.
- Voltz, Thomas J.; Gooseff, Michael N.; Ward, Adam S.; Singha, Kamini; Fitzgerald, Michael; Wagener, T. 2013. Riparian hydraulic gradient and stream-groundwater exchange dynamics in steep headwater valleys. Journal of Geophysical research: Earth Surface 118: 953-969.
- Walsh, Megan K.; Pearl, Christopher A.; Whitlock, Cathy L.; Bartlein, Patrick J.; Worona, Marc A. 2010. An 11 000-year-long record of fire and vegetation history at Beaver Lake, Oregon, central Willamette Valley. Quaternary Science Reviews 29: 1093-1106.
- Ward, Adam S. 2011. Characterizing solute transport in coupled stream-hyporheic systems using electrical resistivity imaging. University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University. p. Ph.D. dissertation.
- Ward, Adam S.; Fitzgerald, Michael; Gooseff, Michael N.; Binley, Andrew M.; Singha, Kamini. 2012.
  Hydrologic and geomorphic controls on hyporheic exchange during base flow recession in a headwater mountain stream. Water Resources Research 48: 20 p.
- Warren, Dana Richard; Keeton, William S.; Bechtold, Heather A.; Rosi-Marshall, Emma J. 2013. Comparing streambed light availability and canopy cover in streams with old-growth versus earlymature riparian forests in western Oregon. Aquatic Sciences: 12.
- Westhoff, Martinjn C.; Zehe, E. 2013. Maximum entropy production: can it be used to constrain conceptual hydrological models? Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 17: 3141-3157.
- Wilkins, Paul C. 2010. Applications of Conditional Topic Models to Species Distribution Prediction. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University. 20 p. M.S. thesis.
- Willig, Michael R. 2011. Biodiversity and productivity. Science. 333: 1709-1710.
- Wilson, Duncan S.; Anderson, Paul D.; Puettmann, Klaus J. 2009. Evaluating the consistency of understorey vegetation response to forest thinning through synthetic analysis of operational-scale experiments. Forestry 82: 583-596.
- Wondzell, Steven M. 2011. The role of the hyporheic zone across stream networks. Hydrological Processes.
- Wondzell, Steven M.; Gooseff, Michael N.; McGlynn, Brian L. 2009. An analysis of alternative conceptual models relating hyporheic exchange flow to diel fluctuations in discharge during baseflow recession. Hydrological Processes. 25(22): 3525-3532.
- Wondzell, Steven M.; LaNier, Justin M; Haggerty, Roy. 2009. Evaluation of alternative groundwater flow models for simulating hyporheic exchange in a small mountain stream. Journal of Hydrology 364: 142-151.
- Yarwood, Stephanie A.; Bottomley, Peter J.; Myrold, David D. 2008. Community composition of ammoniaoxidizing bacteria and archaea in soils under stands of red alder and Douglas fir in Oregon. Environmental Microbiology 10: 2956-2965.
- Yarwood, Stephanie A.; Bottomley, Peter J.; Myrold, David D. 2010. Soil microbial communities associated with Douglas-fir and red alder stands at high- and low-productivity forest sites in Oregon, USA. Microbial Ecology 60: 606-617.

- Yarwood, Stephanie A.; Brewer, Elizabeth Ann; Yarwood, Rockie R.; Lajtha, Kate; Myrold, David D. 2013. Soil Microbe Active Community Composition and Capability of Responding to Litter Addition after 12 Years of No Inputs. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79: 1385-1392.
- Yu, Jun; Wong, Weng-Keen; Dietterich, Thomas G.; Jones, Julia A.; Betts, Matthew G; Hadley, Sarah Frey; Shirley, Susan; Miller, Jeffrey C.; White, Matt. 2011. Multi-label classification for multispecies distribution modeling. Proceedings of the 28th international conference on machine learning: International Machine Learning Society.
- Zald, Harold J.; Spies, Thomas A.; Huso, Manuela P.; Gatziolis, Demetrios. 2012. Climatic, landform, microtopographic, and overstory canopy controls of tree invasion in a subalpine meadow landscape, Oregon Cascades, USA. Landscape Ecology 27: 1197-1212.
- Zeglin, Lydia; Kluber, Laurel Anne; Myrold, David D. 2012. The importance of amino sugar turnover to C and N cycling in organic horizons of old-growth Douglas-fir forest soils colonized by ectomycorrhizal mats. Biogeochemistry 112: 679-693.

## SUPPLEMENTARY DOCUMENTS: DATA SETS TABLE

Andrews LTER databases in LTER NIS (Metacat and or Pasta) as of Feb 2014. Signature or core databases are of greatest importance to the site and shown in **bold**. \* indicates new datasets planned to online in 2014.

CLIMATE	CODE
Meteorological data from benchmark stations at the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1957 to present	MS001
Air and soil temperature data from the Reference Stand network at the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1971 to present	MS005
Snow depth and snow water equivalent measurements along a road course in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1978 to present	MS007
Air temperature, cold air drainage - mobile transect studies, 2002 to 2012	MS036
Airshed tower data in Watershed 1 in the Andrews Experimental Forest from streaming data, 2005-2010	MV001
Ecohydrology and Ecophysiology intensively measured plots in Watershed 1, Andrews Experimental Forest, 2005-2011	TW006
Sap flow measurements to estimate overstory water use in Watersheds 1 and 2, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1999-2002	TW003
Micrometeorlogical data in Watershed 1 Tower, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1 minute intervals from 1 Hz streaming data, 2012 to present *	MV004
Throughfall and Isotopic Ratios on WS1 at the Andrews Experimental Forest, 2010-2011 *	MV003
Spatial data	
Mean monthly maximum and minimum air temperature spatial grids (1971- 2000), Andrews Experimental Forest	MS029
Radiation spatial grids, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1995-2000	MS033
Meterological station locations, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994 - 2011	MS026
Average monthly and annual precipitation spatial grids (1980-1989), Andrews Experimental Forest	MS027
Average monthly and annual temperature spatial grids (1980-1990), Andrews Experimental Forest	MS028

HYDROLOGY	
Stream discharge in gaged watersheds at the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1949 to present	HF004
Bedload data from sediment basin surveys in small gauged watersheds in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1957 to present	HS004
Stream and air temperature data from stream gages and stream confluences in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1950 to present	HT004
Stream and air temperature at phenology sites in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 2009	HT006
A Study of Hyporheic Characteristics Along a Longitudinal Profile of Lookout Creek, Oregon, 2003	HF020
Nutrient and microbial characteristics of mountain stream fine benthic organic matter in the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest, 1995 to 1996	HS005
The effects of debris flows on stream fine benthic organic matter (FBOM), characteristics, 1996	HS006
Periodic stream temperature data (1957-1983) in the Andrews Experimental Forest	HT001
Stream and air temperature data from stream network in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1997-2001	HT002
Peak flow responses to clear-cutting in small and large basins, western Cascades, Oregon, 1933 to 1991	HF007
Stream stage and water table elevation in hyporheic and ground water from McRae Ck well network, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1989-1993	HF010
Stream tracer experiments to assess channel and hyporheic residence times of streams in the Andrews Experimental Forest in 2001 & 2002	HF011
Longitudinal profiles and geomorphic descriptions of twelve randomly selected stream reaches in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 2000-2001	HF012
Spatial data	
Stream network (1976 survey), Andrews Experimental Forest	HF013
Experimental watershed boundaries and gaging station locations, Andrews Experimental Forest, 2011	HF014
Hydrologic response units (base units for PRMS streamflow model), Andrews Experimental Forest, 1993	HF015
Flow accumulation grid,10 meter DEM, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1998	HF016

NUTRIENTS AND DETRITAL DYNAMICS	
Stream chemistry concentrations and fluxes using proportional sampling in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1968 to present	CF002
Precipitation and dry deposition chemistry concentrations and fluxes, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1969 to present	CP002
Long-term log decay experiments at the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1985 to 2185	TD014
Comparison of terrestrial versus aquatic decomposition rates of logs at the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1985 to 2050	TD017
Dimensions, cover, volumes, mass and nutrient stores of Coarse Woody Debris (bark and wood from logs, snags, and stumps) from forests plots in the western United States and Mexico, 1977 to 2005	TD012
Nitrogen fixation and respiration potential of conifer logs at Andrews Experimental Forest, 1987 to 2006	TD018
Fine wood decay studies at the H.J. Andrews and other Forests across the world, 1989 to 2006	TD021
LTER Intersite Fine Litter Decomposition Experiment (LIDET), 1990 to 2002	TD023
Fine woody detritus volume and mass in small watersheds at Andrews Experimental Forest, 2002 to 2003	TD024
Mass of forest floor litter from cores in reference stands and inventory plots in the Pacific Northwest, 1992 to 2003	TD028
Fine woody debris inventory data from reference stands and inventory plots in the Pacific Northwest, 1992 to 2000	TD030
Decomposition of Fine Woody Roots: a Time Series Approach, 1995 to 2006	TD031
A chronosequence of woody root decomposition in the Pacific Northwest, 1995- 97	TD032
Coarse woody debris volume and mass from line transect inventory from reference stands and inventory plots of the Pacific Northwest, 1997 to 2005	TD035
Nutrient Concentrations of Vegetation in Small Watersheds at H. J. Andrews Experimental Forest, 2005 to 2006	TN025
Soil solution chemistry in Detrital Input and Removal Treatments (DIRT) from the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1999-2011	TN021
Stream, hyporheic, and ground water chemistry of McRae Creek in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1989 to 1992	CF004

NUTRIENT AND DETRITRAL DYNAMICS (cont)	
Storm nutrient dynamics at Andrews Experimental Forest stream gages, 2001-2003	CF006
Stream nutrient sampling during winter baseflow conditions in the Andrews Forest and Willamette River Basin, February 2009	CF008
Conversion factors to predict the volume of the tree bole that is converted to forest products in the Pacific Northwest (1993)	FS111
Origin of large woody debris in streams in the western Cascades of Oregon and Washington and the Oregon Coast Range, 1981	TD010
Respiration patterns of logs in the Pacific Northwest, 1986-1996	TD020
Coarse woody debris density and nutrient data across western USA, 1982-2001	TD022
Log leachates from the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1986-1992	TD025
Moisture content of logs from the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1985-1988	TD026
Radial thickness of structural-anatomical components of woody plant parts, 1985-2005	TD027
Comparision of native litter species occurring at the Andrews Experimental Forest to LIDET standard species, 1993-2003	TD029
Fall directions and breakage of trees along streams in the Pacific Northwest, 2000-2002	TD042
Litterfall rates in Reference Stand within the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1977 to 1985	TL001
A study of selected ecosystem parameters potentially sensitive to air pollutants in the Olympic Peninsula, 1984-1987	TL003
Soil descriptions and data for soil profiles in the Andrews Experimental Forest, selected reference stands, Research Natural Areas, and National Parks, 1962 & 1996	SP001
Soil Moisture and vegetation cover patterns after logging and burning an old-growth Douglas-fir forest in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1960-1983	SP002
Seasonal relationships between soil respiration and water-extractable carbon as influenced by soil temperature and moisture in forest soils of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1992-1993	SP004
Synoptic soil respiration of permanent forest sites in the Andrews Experimental Forest (1993 REU Study)	SP005

NUTRIENT AND DETRITAL DYNAMICS (cont)	
Chemical and microbiological properties of soils in the Andrews Experimental Forest (1994 REU Study)	SP006
Disturbance effects on soil processes in the Andrews Experimental Forest (1995 Stand Age Study)	SP007
Effect of thinning pole stands on soil processes in southern Oregon, central Coast Range, and central western Cascades of Oregon (1994-1995 BLM Study)	SP008
Role of vegetation and coarse wood debris on soil processes and mycorrhizal mat distribution patterns at the Hi-15, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994-1995	SP009
Respiration in soils collected from the REU synoptic sample grid in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994-1995	SP010
The relationship between early succession rates and soil properties in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1999	SP012
Seasonal soil respiration using permanent gas chambers in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994-1996	SP014
Influence of coniferous tree invasion on forest meadow soil properties on Bunch Grass Ridge and Deer Creek near the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1998	SP016
Influence of tree-fall gaps on soil characteristics in gaps of varying sizes in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1995	SP017
Influence of microclimate gradients on soil characteristics within tree-fall gaps in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1997	SP018
Influence of tree-fall gaps on soil characteristics in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1999	SP019
Effects of topography on soil characteristics in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1998	SP020
Chemical and biochemical characteristics of soils along transects in stands with different vegetation and successional characteristics in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1996	SP021
Association of ectomycorrhizal mats with Pacific yew and other understory trees at the Andrews Experimental Forest and the southern and western Cascades, Oregon, 1992-1994	SP022
Soil respiration associated with ectomycorrhizal mats in an old-growth stand along lower Lookout Creek, HJ Andrews Experimental Forest (2008-2009)	SP033

NUTRIENTS AND DETRITAL DYNAMICS (cont)	
Spatial Data	
Soil survey (1964, revised in 1994), Andrews Experimental Forest, 1991-1996	SP026
Willamette National Forest soil resource inventory (SRI 1992) clipped to the Andrews Experimental Forest	SP027
Fungal mat transect mapping, High 15 in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994- 1995	SP029
Mycorrhizal map sampling data in different age class plots of Douglas-fir forests, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1992-2005	SP030
BIOTA AND DIVERSITY	
Aquatic Vertebrate Population Study in Mack Creek, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1987 to present	AS006
Plant succession and biomass dynamics following logging and burning in Watersheds 1 and 3, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1962 to Present	TP073
Post-logging community structure and biomass accumulation in Watershed 10, Andrews Experimental Forest , 1974 to present	TP041
Ecosystem dynamics in a mature (Hagan block) and old-growth (Watershed 2) forest, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1981 to present	TP091
Plant biomass dynamics following logging, burning, and thinning in Watersheds 6 and 7, Andrews Experimental Forest, 2002 to present	TP114
Plant biomass dynamics in old-growth Watersheds 8 and 9, Andrews Experimental Forest, 2003 to present	TP115
Long-term growth, mortality and regeneration of trees in permanent vegetation plots in the Pacific Northwest, 1910 to present	TV010
Bird Arrival and Activity Phenology at the Andrews Experimental Forest *	SA024
Terrestrial Insect Activity Phenology with trap collections at HJ Andrews	SA025
Aquatic Insect Emergence Phenology at HJ Andrews Experimental Forest	SA027
Vegetative Phenology observations at the Andrews Experimental Forest	TV075
Invertebrates of the Andrews Experimental Forest: An annotated list of insects and other arthropods, 1971 to 2002	SA001
Spatial and temporal distribution and abundance of moths in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994 to 2008	SA015

BIOTA AND DIVERSITY (cont)	
Spatial and temporal distribution and abundance of butterflies in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994-1996	SA016
Forest metrics derived from the 2008 Lidar point clouds, includes canopy closure, percentile height, and stem mapping for the Andrews Experimental Forest *	TV081
Species interactions during succession in the western Cascade Range of Oregon, 1990 to present	TP103
Ecology and restoration of montane meadows at Bunchgrass Ridge near the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1999-2009	TP112
Post-fire succession study, Torrey Charlton RNA, 1997 to present	TV045
Ground-dwelling vertebrates, birds, habitat data on the Willamette National Forest, Oregon (Young Stand Thinning and Diversity Study), 1991-2012	WE008
Plant Pollinator data at HJ Andrews Experimental Forest *	SA026
Lichen abundance and biodiversity along a chronosequence from young managed stands to ancient forest, 1993	SA011
Mycorrhizal belowground fungi species list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1992 to 1994	SA014
Aquatic insect sampling in Lookout Creek at the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest, 2001	SA017
Epiphytic macrolichens in relation to forest management and topography in a western Oregon watershed, 1997-1999	SA021
Headwater Stream Macroinvertebrates of the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest, Oregon, 2003-2004	SA022
Dynamics of montane and subalpine meadows in the Three Sisters Wilderness Area and Biosphere Reserve, 1981-1993	TP064
Pacific Northwest Plant Biomass Component Equation Library	TP072
Population dynamics of young forest stands as affected by density and nutrient regime in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1981-1997	TP088
Annual tree productivity in permanent plots within the H.J. Andrews Experimental Forest, 2000-2004	TP120
Overstory biometrics from Watershed 1 at the Andrews Experimental Forest, derived from TP072 and TP073, 1980-2008	TP121

BIOTA AND DIVERSITY (cont)	
Comparison of arthropod densities on young-growth and old-growth foliage in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1986	TS015
Dendrometer studies for stand volume and height measurements of trees of the western US, 1976 to 1993	TV009
Ecosystem responses to the creation of tree-fall gaps in the western Cascades of Oregon and Washington (Experimental Gap Study)	TV025
Decay in standing trees of the Pacific Northwest, 1982-1992	TV030
Streamside mosses at the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994	TV036
Forest structure and biomass in early successional harvest units of the Andrews Experimental Forest (ESSA), 1999 to present	TV052
Monitoring small mammal and amphibian abundances on the Willamette National Forest, Oregon (Long-Term Ecosystem Productivity experiment), 1995-1999	WE026
Vertebrate-habitat relationships: Logistic regression models predict probability of occurrence of bird and small mammal species in western Oregon, 1998-1999	WE027
Species Lists	
Vascular plant list on the Andrews Experimental Forest and nearby Research Natural Areas, 1958 to 1979	SA002
Bird species list for the Andrews Experimental Forest and Upper McKenzie River Basin, 1975 to 1995	SA003
Amphibian and reptile list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1975 to 1995	SA004
Mammal species list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1971 to 1976	SA005
Fish and Amphibians species list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1975-1995	SA006
Benthic algal species list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1991/1992	SA007
Moss species list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1991	SA008
Riparian bryophyte list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1994/1995	SA009
Epiphyte species list of Watershed 10, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1970-1972	SA010
Macroinvertebrate species list of the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1992	SA012
Aquatic Invertebrate species list of Lookout Creek in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1988	SA013

BIOTA AND DIVERSITY (cont)	
Spatial Data	
Aboveground Live Biomass (2008), Andrews Experimental Forest	TV080
Vegetation history classification for Watersheds 1, 2, and 3, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1959-1990	TP119
Vegetation classification, Andrews Experimental Forest and vicinity (1988,1993,1996,1997,2002)	TV061
Plant community typing (2009 update), Andrews Experimental Forest	TV062
DISTURBANCE	
Age structure, developmental pathways, and fire regime characterization of Douglas-fir/western hemlock forests in the central western Cascades of Oregon *	DF028
Stream cross-section profiles in the Andrews Experimental Forest and Hagan Block RNA 1978 to present	GS002
Archival records of fire history, 1910-1977, central western Cascades, Oregon	DF001
Fire history database of the western United States, 1994	DF005
Dendrochronology study of fire history, Andrews Experimental Forest and central western Cascades, Oregon, 1482-1952	DF007
Dendrochronology study of fire history, Blue River watershed, Oregon, 1475 to 1996	DF014
Road-related erosion from the February 1996 flood in the Lookout Creek and Blue River watersheds, Oregon	GE008
Dynamics of large wood in streams: Tagged log inventory, Mack Creek, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1985 to 2008	GS006
Coarse woody debris, amount and distribution of in Lookout Creek, Andrews Experimental Forest 1991	GS016
Landslide chronosequence: Tree, site and vegetation factors in the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1981	GV002

DISTURBANCE (cont)	
Spatial data	
Landslide inventory (1953-1996), Andrews Experimental Forest and Blue River Basin	GE012
Spot fire locations (1991), Andrews Experimental Forest	DF018
Fire history reconstruction (1482 - 1952), Andrews Experimental Forest and vicinity	DF019
Fire history dendrochronology study, super old growth data, central western Cascades, Oregon, 2002	DF020
Potential rapidly moving landslide hazards in Western Oregon, clipped to Andrews Experimental Forest, 1999 to 2002	DF026
Upper Blue River geology clipped to the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1991	GE009
Mass movement assessment: cascade hazards ratings, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1992	GE010
LANDUSE	
Spatial data	
LiDAR data (August 2008) for the Andrews Experimental Forest and Willamette National Forest study areas	GI010
Road construction history (1952 - 1990), Andrews Experimental Forest	DH001
Historic salvage sale locations (1954 - 1974), Andrews Experimental Forest	DH002
30 meter digital elevation model (DEM) clipped to the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1996	GI002
10 meter digital elevation model (DEM) clipped to the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1998 **Spatial Dataset**	GI003
Adminstrative boundary, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1997 survey, 2009 update	GI006
Transportation network system including trails, road construction history, and gates for the Andrews Experimental Forest, 1952-2011	GI007
Land use designations, Andrews Experimental Forest, 1998-2011	GI008